

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2022

Community College Faculty Perceptions of Online Student Engagement

Teri R. Cruzan Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations

Part of the Educational Administration and Supervision Commons, and the Instructional Media Design Commons

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

Walden University

College of Education

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Teri Cruzan

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee Dr. Nancy Walters, Committee Chairperson, Education Faculty Dr. Carole Pearce, Committee Member, Education Faculty Dr. Maureen Ellis, University Reviewer, Education Faculty

> Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

> > Walden University 2022

Abstract

Community College Faculty Perceptions of Online Student Engagement

by

Teri Cruzan

MS, Walden University, 2013

BA, Western Washington University, 1994

Project Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Education

Walden University

August 2022

Abstract

Low student engagement and high attrition rates in online classes were observed at community colleges in a Western U.S. state. The purpose of this qualitative study was to explore online faculty members' perceptions of student engagement and how they described their teaching practices and experiences. The study was grounded in the community of inquiry, a collaborative and constructivist model, which posits that social, cognitive, and teaching presences are critical to engagement and online learning. Data were collected from 10 online faculty members who provided responses to an online qualitative survey. Data analysis involved coding by hand in several stages to identify emerging themes. Findings revealed that faculty members valued and promoted student engagement. However, the faculty did not foster learning communities or provide specific information about teaching strategies. Although faculty members' home institutions offered support, they did not offer a formal training program or online faculty development program. This study included a position paper supporting the implementation of an online faculty development program that would contribute to positive social change through higher levels of engagement among faculty and students, improved learning outcomes, and higher completion rates in online classes.

Community College Faculty Perceptions of Online Student Engagement

by

Teri Cruzan

MS, Walden University, 2013

BA, Western Washington University, 1994

Project Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Education

Walden University

August 2022

Dedication

This work is dedicated to David Ellis, the father of my children who was a longtime supporter of my educational pursuits. We built a unique family, after our marriage was dissolved, and remained close as co-parents and dear friends. David provided emotional and practical support to my children and me for many years, which helped make college possible despite tremendous obstacles. David passed away in August 2015 after a sudden and brief illness, and his last counsel to me was to continue my studies and not allow his death or anything to prevent me from completing my doctoral studies.

Acknowledgments

I would like to thank my Walden University committee members, Dr. Carole Pearce, Dr. Maureen Ellis, and former committee member, Dr. Leda Santos. I would also like to extend my gratitude to Dr. Nancy Walters who served as my chair and provided me with excellent academic advice and support for many years during this journey.

I would like to acknowledge several of my professors and mentors who supported and challenged me over many years with their direction, feedback, questions, advice, and brilliant teaching and scholarship. I am indebted to many professors but would especially like to thank Dr. Myles Robinson of Grays Harbor Community College, the late Dr. Thomas C. R. Horn, Dr. James Louckey at Western Washington University, and Dr. Elizabeth Mancke at the University of New Brunswick.

I want to thank family members Richard Averre, Nathan Cruzan, Morgan Ellis, and Michael Carr for their many years of love and support during my quest to further my education. They understood and supported my need to be a lifelong learner. I must also thank my dearest friend and adopted sister, Katherine Dalen, for friendship, kinship, and love. I feel so grateful for the many hours we spent talking and listening to one another, almost daily over the past 25 years.

List of Tables	iv
List of Figures	v
Section 1: The Problem	1
The Local Problem	1
Rationale	4
Definition of Terms	6
Significance of the Study	8
Research Questions	10
Review of the Literature	11
Conceptual Framework	11
Online Discussions and Learning Communities	15
Online Faculty	
Engagement, Integration, and Persistence	
Community Colleges and Online Learning	
Implications	31
Summary	32
Section 2: The Methodology	34
Research Design and Approach	34
Participants	36
Data Collection	40
Ethical Considerations and Limitations	42
Data Analysis Results	45

Table of Contents

Data, Themes, and Research Questions	
Discrepant Cases	
Classroom Rules, Course Planning, and Learning Communities	
Summary	
Section 3: The Project	
Rationale	
Review of the Literature	
Online Faculty Development Models	
Learning Communities and Communities of Practice	
Technology and Competency in Faculty Development	
Scholarship and Professional Growth in Faculty Development	
Project Description	
Professional Development and Scholarship	
Toward a CoP and Model Faculty Development Program	
Recommendations for Faculty Development Self-Paced Course Design	
Subjects and Courses	
Framework for Faculty Professional Development	
Interactions	105
Motivation and Rewards	105
Reflections	
Potential Problems	
Program Resources and Time Line Implementation	110
Project Evaluation Plan	112

Project Implications113
Conclusion116
Section 4: Reflections and Conclusions118
Project Strengths and Limitations118
Recommendations for Alternative Approaches119
Scholarship, Project Development and Evaluation, and Leadership and
Change
Scholarship122
Project Development and Evaluation125
Leadership and Change126
Reflective Analysis
Reflection on Importance of the Work128
Implications, Applications, and Directions for Future Research129
Conclusion
References
Appendix: The Project

List of Tables

able 1. Themes, Actions, and Activities Identified Within the Community of Inquiry	
Framework	50
Table 2. Overview of Comprehensive Online Teaching Training	94
Table 3. Strategies for Implementing a CoP Faculty Development Program	98
Table 4. Community of Inquiry Framework for Course Design	104
Table 5. Faculty Demographics	132

List of Figures

Figure 1. Community of Inquiry Framework (Garrison & Vaughn, 2008) 12
Figure 2. Technology Acceptance Model (Wingo et al., 2017)
Figure 3. Model for Engagement (Angelino & Natvig, 2009)
Figure 4. Community of Inquiry Framework (Garrison et al., 2000)
Figure 5. Conceptualization of TCAPK Framework (Brinkely-Etzkorn, 2018) 70
Figure 6. Trifecta of Student Engagement Framework (Leslie, 2018)
Figure 7. Professional Badge System for Online Training (Borup & Evmenova, 2019)106
Figure 8. Translation of Professional Development Framework Into Online Teaching
Training

Section 1: The Problem

The Local Problem

The problems investigated in this study were low student engagement and high attrition rates in online classes at community colleges in a Western U.S. state. Student engagement, course completion rates, and grade point averages for online students have improved over the past decade since 2012 (Allen & Seaman, 2013), but these rates are still very low compared to rates for students in traditional classes. Community colleges enroll more online students than other higher education institutions enroll in the United States, and access to higher education has increased because of open door admissions policies (Traver et al., 2013). According to the elearning director at the primary site (referred to as Western Washington Community College [WWCC]), low engagement is a problem reflected in student satisfaction surveys, instructor feedback, and high dropout rates (Xu & Smith Jaggars, 2011). For example, the 2015–2016 course completion rates for math were only 75%, and only 60% of those students earned satisfactory grades (Washington State Board for Community and Technical Colleges, 2016).

Over 20 years of research about online learning supported the problem and wider phenomenon of low engagement in online colleges (Nguyen, 2011). Researchers have argued that low student engagement is associated with poor learning outcomes, low student satisfaction rates, high dropout rates, and lower graduation rates (Harper & Quaye, 2009; Hobson & Puruhito; 2018, McClenney et al.; 2016, Quaye & Harper, 2014), and low student engagement can negatively impact a student's academic standing or access to federal financial aid (Caldalora, 2014). High dropout rates and low graduation rates may lead to increased tuition costs and could have implications for a college's access to federal funding programs that are tied to college completion rates (Humphreys, 2012). Given the growing number of online programs in general and community colleges (Allen & Seaman, 2017), there is a need for research focused on community college online faculty and their perceptions of and experiences with student engagement. Allen and Seaman (2017) reported the number of online students continues to increase annually. Over 6.7 million students were taking at least one online course, and the percentage of online students was at a record high of 32% of all student enrollments. Even though there has been tremendous growth of online education, many academic leaders, faculty members, employers, and the general public are unconvinced about the quality or value of online classes (Protopsaltis & Baum, 2019). Leading researchers noted that a gap in practice exists between instructors' perceptions and practices in online instruction and various roles instructors assume in teaching an online class (Chang et al., 2014). This gap in practice was a problem at community colleges in the state and at the primary site (Xu & Smith Jaggars; 2011; Xu & Jaggars, 2014). Moreover, there was limited published data or research on faculty perceptions, experiences, and classroom activities that promote engagement for online programs at the community colleges in this study.

This study was well underway prior to the global pandemic of 2020, and COVID-19 was not intended as a part of the discussion or study of online education during any type of emergency. However, my study was delayed during 2020, and a few references were included after the crisis. Those more recent studies made reference to the ways college instructors adapted to teaching online courses during the global emergency (Bolisani et al., 2020). During the beginning and throughout the peak of the global crisis, many colleges and schools around the world were shuttered and educational courses were moved online to protect the public health (Adedoyin & Soykan, 2020). I referenced the global pandemic and its effect in my study because it was too important to education, and the global crisis underscored the potential value of online education (see Bolisani et al., 2020). Bolisani et al. (2020) added that online student engagement, student satisfaction, and higher learning outcomes have become more important since the global pandemic. Programs that support faculty members teaching online are a necessity and an investment that could save education in a future emergency and improve the educational experience for online students in every context, including the primary study site.

Campus leaders at the primary research site were concerned about low engagement and high dropout rates in the online program. The leaders reviewed students' surveys and instructors' feedback responses about engagement. The leaders also administered quantitative surveys to students to examine engagement in their elearning program. Leaders made no plans to survey or collect data from online faculty. The Office of Institutional Research on the campus of the research site formed a committee to examine student engagement, which was affiliated with The National Survey of Student Engagement (NSSE) and the Center for Community College Student Engagement. These educational organizations were dedicated to understanding and improving student engagement by supporting research, providing survey instruments, and publishing national survey results from universities and colleges throughout the United States and Canada. These studies were designed to generate useful data; however, many studies that focused on individual students provided limited information. Engagement is a socially negotiated construct; therefore, the idea of engagement differed from one context, individual, or classroom to another. Many studies on engagement were conceptualized narrowly and did not include the perspectives of all participants (Jonasson, 2012). Learning about faculty perceptions of engagement and giving voice to their experiences in the online classroom may extend conceptualization and understanding of student engagement.

Rationale

Community colleges have a long history of providing distance education and as innovators using the most current technology. Community colleges also have an open door admissions policy and serve nontraditional and underrepresented student populations (Travers, 2016). After widespread public access to the internet and the development of learning platforms and content management systems, community colleges have been expanding to offer distance learning through online programs to more students than ever before (Allen & Seaman, 2017). It is imperative for the primary site and for all community colleges to offer quality online programs that promote student engagement for the success of distance education in general and elearning.

Online degree programs at the primary site and community colleges in the state reported graduation rates lower than 31% (Program Director, personal communication, November, 2016). Older studies on the state community colleges found that students were less likely to complete online courses, and withdrawal rates were estimated at 10% to 15% higher than students who enrolled in face-to-face classes (Xu & Jaggars, 2011). More recent reports have indicated the attrition rate for online students may be as high as 50% higher than the attrition rate for on-campus students (Hobson & Puruhito, 2018). Most studies indicated that distance education is growing just under one half of all undergraduates are taking only online courses and one half of these students are enrolled in public intuitions (Allen & Seaman, 2011, 2013, 2016, 2017). The concern about low student engagement and low course completion in online classes can be found in some of the earliest literature about online learning (Harasim, 1990; Harrington, 1999).

Student engagement in the online classroom continues to be a prominent subject of discourse. Numerous conferences, research studies, and national institutes have been dedicated to the problem of engaging online students, improving learning outcomes, and reducing attrition rates (Fear & Erikson-Brown, 2014; NSSE, 2017). There has been a confluence of new technologies, learning platforms, and social networks emerging as new teaching strategies, conceptual frameworks, and new learning theories have emerged. Wingo et al. (2017) argued that academic leaders could achieve success implementing online classes and programs if they had a greater understanding of faculty perceptions and experiences with online teaching. Research about faculty perceptions regarding student engagement could lead to programs that improve engagement and student retention rates and contribute to educational research.

Definition of Terms

Asynchronous online discussions (AOD): Online classroom discussions to which each student contributes from their own place and at different times within the scope and deadline that may be provided in the activity or course syllabus (Hrastinski, 2008).

Community College Survey of Student Engagement (CCSSE): A survey instrument used to gather and publish information about community college quality, performance, and student engagement. The survey instrument and published surveys are disseminated to institutions and policymakers to assist in their efforts to improve student engagement, learning, and retention in community colleges (CCSSE, 2016).

Community of inquiry (CoI): A framework grounded on social constructivist theory that posits social, teaching, and cognitive presences are necessary to create a community of learners in asynchronous learning communities (Garrison & Vaughn, 2018). Each of these three presences can be broken down further into stages, phases, elements, categories, and are indicators of higher order and collaborative learning in asynchronous networks (Garrison & Vaughn, 2008).

Community of practice (CoP): Learning theories and educational communities that are formed, formally or informally, to engage in and share their learning and resources to improve their community, practice, or domain (Wenger, 2000).

Constructivism: A learning theory that posits students learn by constructing knowledge, making meaning, reflecting, and conducting self-analysis as part of the learning process (Brown, 2014).

elearning: A newer dynamic within educational systems that is involves the merging of multiple disciplines such as computer science, communication technology, and pedagogy to deliver distance education online through technology (Sangra et al., 2012).

Faculty development program (FDP): A formal program of courses, education, training, and faculty interactions in which a community or learners or faculty engage. FDP is intended to train and support online faculty members in higher education in an asynchronous online format, using the learning management system (LMS) of the college. The program is administered by the college, and faculty members participate online as one of the requirements of their job descriptions. The ongoing discussions, courses, and resources are accessible to all online faculty and staff members (Carvalho-Filhoer, & Tio, 2019).

High impact practices (HIP): Teaching and learning practices that are known to benefit diverse students, improve engagement, and increase retention rates. Some examples of HIPs in online context are first-year seminars and experiences with small groups, learning communities, collaborative assignments, diversity education, writing intensive courses, and capstone projects (Kuh, 2008).

Low student engagement: A problem when students are engaged minimally with online course content and have limited interactions with their instructors or their peers (Purajomandlangrudi et al., 2016).

National Survey of Student Engagement (NSSE): A survey instrument used to collect data on student learning, personal development, and other engagement indicators that are benchmarks for collegiate success (NSSE, 2017).

Significance of the Study

Rapid advances in technology and the growth of online programs have led to increased educational access and unprecedented enrollment. The rapid growth in online learning programs and the increasing number of students necessitate ongoing research, flexibility, change, faculty training, and continual improvements to deliver high-quality courses and degree programs (Moore & Kearsley, 2011; Stone et al., 2016). Researchers examined student engagement and online learning from a myriad of approaches such as instructional strategies, teaching methodologies, institutional programs, departmental policies, and student and faculty experiences (Heinrich et al., 2016; Stone et al., 2016). Data gathered and published by the NSSE supported the importance of student engagement as a key factor in successful online learning (NSSE, 2017).

NSSE (2012) provided several examples of how institutions have made use of NSSE data. The University of Texas began circulating a newsletter with their most recent student engagement survey findings and reminded the faculty and campus community that student engagement increases success. The university launched an initiative to promote HIP, such as creating assessment rubrics based on survey findings, curriculum mapping templates, and strategic planning to improve levels of student engagement (NSSE, 2012). Ramapo College used NSSE survey data to identify key points of student engagement, and then created a 4-year model with goals of academic, social, personal, and campus engagement (NSSE, 2012).

Program managers in the primary research site had not explored how faculty members respond to low student engagement, and they had not gathered data on instructional strategies or classroom activities that instructors use to improve student engagement. The current qualitative study was unique because it focused on perceptions and experiences of online instructors at community colleges. The instructors' responses added to the understanding and to the growing body of literature about low student engagement in online classrooms and online discussions (see Bollinger & Martin, 2018). The insight gained from this research could enrich the online teaching experience and foster a CoP. A CoP model could support faculty by reducing isolation and sharing teaching resources (Golden, 2016). Tinto (1998) argued that there was a need to create broader intellectual learning communities for faculty members and students, and that sharing of teaching experiences and resources could result in a revitalization and rediscovery of the benefits of engagement with others.

Findings from the current study may guide campus initiatives and professional development programs for faculty members. Findings could lead to higher levels of student engagement, improved learning outcomes, and higher completion rates in online classes. The improved faculty teaching programs and improved student outcomes could be beneficial to faculty, students, and the primary site and other online community college programs. The primary study site could gain information helpful to ongoing assessment and improvement process (see Lorenzetti, 2005). The program managers of

the college could also make progress toward compliance with college completion agendas by implementing programs, educational practices, and policies to increase in the number of students who complete courses and graduate (see Humphreys, 2012). These types of improvements are aligned with the mission statement of the community college and the commitment of educators to provide high-quality distance education with educational courses and programs available to underrepresented and nontraditional students.

Research Questions

The following research questions (RQs) guided this qualitative study and were adapted from the Faculty Survey of Student Engagement (FSSE, 2017). The FSSE (2017) measures faculty and instructional staff members' experiences and expectations with student engagement and focuses on several aspects critical to student engagement. The FSSE focuses on the type and frequency of student interactions with faculty, how often faculty encourage students to collaborate, and how often faculty use effective teaching strategies. The qualitative research questions were used to guide the study on faculty members' perceptions and experiences with student engagement as well as classroom activities and strategies faculty use to foster student engagement.

RQ1: What are the instructional strategies that faculty members use to promote engagement in online discussions?

RQ2: How do faculty members identify or describe classroom activities and strategies they use to foster student engagement in online courses?

Review of the Literature

An extensive review of the literature was conducted online using Walden University Library databases and to a lesser extent Google Scholar. During my searches, I used combinations of search terms related to online education, student engagement and faculty development. Terms included related concepts such as online discussions, low student engagement, faculty members' perceptions, constructivism, and learning community. I also reviewed bibliographic references in some of the most relevant and current research articles, scholarly journals, and seminal texts. I found other articles and papers published online at institutes and research centers dedicated to advancing best practices in online education, student engagement, and the CoP and CoI model. I narrowed my search to include literature on community colleges, teaching and online learning, community college faculty, and professional development programs. I also searched for recently published doctoral studies through ProQuest and Walden University databases, with a focus on online learning and student engagement. The literature review was extensive because this project was in progress over several years' time. I included newer literature and the older sources that I consulted in the early stages of this research.

Conceptual Framework

This study was grounded by the CoI conceptual framework that applied to engagement, faculty perceptions, and classroom activities that support online learning (see Figure 1). The CoI framework is collaborative and constructivist and is a process that fosters deep learning through the social, cognitive, and teaching presences (Garrison et al., 2000; Garrison & Vaughn, 2008).

Figure 1



Community of Inquiry Framework (Garrison & Vaughn, 2008)

A sense of community, fostering student engagement, and social support from instructors are considered necessary to have a positive effect on learner engagement, enthusiasm, and a learner's belief in their ability to be successful. The self-efficacy of learners becomes evident when a sense of community, engagement, and instructor support are established strongly in the classroom (Vayre & Vonthron, 2016). Students and instructors must be engaged and involved in community building; colleges should provide tools and technologies available to create a space for students and instructors to interact (Vayre & Vonthron, 2016). Yuan and Kim (2014) also presented the CoI model and proposed four essential guidelines to establish a community with an environment that supports learning and reduces isolation with increased interactions, including (a) a learning community should be established at the beginning of a course and that sense of community must be maintained throughout the term; (b) students and instructors must all be engaged and involved in community building; (c) the instructor should use all technologies available to create a space for students and instructors to interact; and (d) instructors must stimulate online discussion and encourage task-based prompts, social interactions, and activities that require collaboration.

Online instructors should use strategies to help build a sense of community and facilitate learning by creating an engaging classroom environment with a variety of assessments to ensure the best possible learning outcomes for all online students. The online environment should provide a myriad of opportunities to deliver and assess education; however, assessment practices are often limited and can be a barrier to participation that is problematic in group activities (Gillett-Swan, 2017). Gillett-Swan (2017) argued that collaborative learning and group activities will reduce isolation and contribute to engagement. Moreover, instructors can more closely observe their groups and offer assistance or support. Instructors who also share reflective experiences of assessment in local higher education community have the potential to enhance student learning (Gillett-Swan, 2017).

Denizer and Sadi (2021) used the CoI model to examine the relationships of 714 online students to learn about teaching, social, and cognitive presences, and the demographics and characteristics of students, such as age, occupation, college readiness, and student satisfaction. The amount of student presence was moderate, and there was no variation based on demographics; however, teaching and social presence had a high effect on cognitive presence and a high impact on student satisfaction. Although the courses examined in the study met the criteria for forming a CoI, the students' grades and their moderate levels of presence indicated that the courses could be improved. A basic threaded online discussion board with one-size-fits-all prompts is no longer sufficient to promote optional leaning and high student satisfaction rates. Online courses should be more engaging and dynamic, with social and learning activities that foster deeper learning and critical thinking (Denizer & Sadi, 2021).

Capra's (2014), using the CoI framework, found that many traditional online teaching strategies and learning activities did not help improve student engagement, learning outcomes, or retention. Results of interviews indicated that the students did not find a meaningful connection to the courses; however, that disconnect was not due to a lack of presences in the CoI model. The students reported that they considered online discussion boards and PowerPoint presentations as busy work. Students admitted to doing only the minimum required, and many students stated they were not interested in the posts of other students. Capra advocated using the CoI model, problem-based learning, and authentic assessments to improve engagement and to measure student satisfaction with actual student learning instead of course outcomes.

In another use of the CoI model, teaching and cognitive presences did not have any significant impact on engagement, grades, or student satisfaction, and it was argued that online discussion may not be necessary and perhaps should not be mandatory in every online course (Cho & Tobias, 2016). Peacock and Cowan (2016) proposed an enhanced CoI model that linked the intersection of presences and their relationships to one another and the potential to positively impact online teaching and improve online students' learning experiences. Peacock and Cowan further argued that there is an overlap of the social, cognitive, and teaching presences and that the impact of these presences has not been fully explored.

Online Discussions and Learning Communities

In a quantitative study of over 400 university students, Riaz et al. (2021) examined classroom engagement and online teaching in web-based learning environments. The results of the surveys were that student engagement was a key component of learning and had the most effect on the learning cycle, which included everything from instructional planning, fulfillment, innovations, self-coordinated learning, and determination to university scholarly achievement. Riaz et al. argued that the role of the teacher is to foster student engagement. Engagement is a key factor to online learning, and it encompasses student conduct factors such as support and enthusiasm. Students were motivated to learn when they had faculty who brought high engagement to their online classrooms and fostered conduct factors such as interest and enthusiasm.

Humber (2021) used a constructivist approach and interviewed online students to learn about their perceptions of engagement. The central questions of the study addressed (a) how online students defined engagement, (b) what activities students considered engaging, and (c) the kinds of challenges that prevented students from remaining engaged in their online courses. Most students mentioned discussion boards as the best way to be engaged in their class; however, students also stated they would not participate in discussions if they were not required. Not many students enjoyed the discussion boards and stated they preferred regular writing assignments that allowed them to do their work independently. Most students were motivated to be engaged with their courses, they wanted to earn good grades, and they believed their studies prepared them for future employment. The challenges and barriers to engagement were based on frustrations such as an instructor who was not present, a disorganized classroom home page that did not make it easy to find sources, and insufficient announcements or reminders. Although this study focused on student perceptions of engagement, their perceptions drew attention to the importance of a well-designed classroom, instructor presence, and frequent updates and announcements that students might hear in a regular classroom at the end of a session. Finally, students' unfavorable opinions about online discussions were a sign that instructors should foster other forms of engagement in their classrooms and not rely so heavily on discussions.

Meyer (2014) noted that there was a shift in research about online engagement that moved from theoretical-based research to practice-based research. Meyer identified online instructors' engagement strategies based on student readiness to learn online and noted that "characteristics of instruction contribute to failures of engagement" (p. 85). Della et al. (2014) found that authentic discussion prompts and frequent but less formal instructor interactions had a positive outcome that could be attributed to higher student engagement. Putnam et al. (2011) noted that facilitative discussion prompts led students toward higher order thinking and led to increased levels of participation, collaboration, and cognitive engagement.

Studies have shown that although discussions may be necessary, discussions alone are not enough for high learning outcomes, and course designers should examine

the similarities between face-to-face learning and online learning instead of focusing on the differences (Fear & Erikson-Brown, 2014). Dixon (2014) described the three E's of online learning and that experience, engagement, and evaluation were necessary for students to become engaged learners. The type and quality of classroom prompts can lead students to a higher taxonomy of learning and increased levels or engagement, collaboration, and learning. Mokoena (2013) examined factors that encouraged or discouraged engagement and found that increased social presence of the instructor was vital to enhanced learning in online discussions. Instructors can set high standards with their proactive presence and promote motivation and engagement. In an ethnographic study of online teachers, Bolldén (2016) examined social, emotional, and cognitive presences, as well as teacher embodiment to engage learners. With the absence of a physical classroom, online instructors were present or embodied differently in the online classroom; their name, avatar, posts, replies, sources, and content were examples of embodiment that could sustain a teaching presence. A comprehensive study on what drives student interaction and engagement in online courses indicated that student interaction and engagement were the most important aspects of the online classroom (Purajomandlangrudi et al., 2016).

Online discussion posts may offer a better learning experience if they are less formal and more authentic and if students are not required to make posts that are more like an academic paper. A more recent mixed-methods study of online engagement in general education courses found that online discussions were helpful with engagement and learning when discussion posts were natural and contained examples of personal experiences and reflections (Aderibigbe, 2020). Conversely, student engagement, and learning outcomes were less favorable when students were required to make repetitive posts, posts that were not reflective of authentic experiences or posts that were academic.

Instructor-student interactions have been shown to have a positive effect on online learning and final course grades and are one of the strongest predictors of student success (Butz & Substinky, 2017). Weems-Landigham and Paternite (2021) recommended asynchronous online discussions between instructors and students at three critical points during the term. The discussions would be between the instructor and student only; the three points are the start of term, mid-term check-in, and at the end of course. These personal online discussions also provide information and insight to instructors so they can assess their students' needs, refer them to resources, support their learning, and improve their teaching effectiveness. The instructor-to-student discussions are a departure from the traditional weekly student-to student discussion posts; they affirm instructor presence and provide a way for student engagement with their instructor and material and may help improve student learning. Charbonneau-Gowdy (2017) questioned the fixed research and numbers-driven data and challenged researchers to delve deeper to uncover knowledge that is essential to the understanding of elearning. Charbonneau-Gowdy called for additional qualitative research with critical reflective approaches and research models that examine the sociocultural contexts of learning with technology to gain a deeper understanding of student learning.

Assessment tools and rubrics are used to measure online learning domains in areas such as participation, engagement, reasoning, and evidence of critical thinking that

18

develop from engagement and participation in discussion (L. Williams & Lahman, 2011). Santosa (2015) used flow theory to examine tutorial length of pages in an online classroom and its relation to student engagement to consider the challenges and skills associated with a student's tendency to be comfortable and interested in an online tutorial. The frequency of discussions and engagement in an online classroom may have a far greater impact on engagement than the type of discussion topics. If students are logging in to check discussion responses, their logging in might be enough engagement to increase interest and learning.

Cohen and Donaldson (2021) examined the low success rates and low retention rates of online learners in the Australian university system. Cohen and Donaldson explored a pilot program of online course material that was redesigned to optimize the learning environment and use the LMS to increase instructor presence and fostering learning. Following numerous course designs and interventions that were intended to improve online classrooms, learning outcomes, and pass fails, as well as completion rates, Cohen and Donalson looked at feedback from student surveys submitted at the end of courses. Although students gave positive feedback on the course designs, the students' pass rates and retention rates remained very low. Cohen and Donaldson noted that online students were compromised because of an unusually high percentage of nontraditional and high-risk students. Cohen and Donaldson identified high-risk students and noted that they shared common characteristics such as low high school achievement, firstgeneration college students, maturity, or work or family responsibilities. Many nontraditional students had other barriers and difficulties to overcome, such as financial issues, learning difficulties, challenges with technology, disabilities, mental health issues, feelings of isolation, and lack of motivation. Considering these challenges, online education courses should be designed very differently from the counterpart oncampus courses. Cohen and Donalson (2021) recommend encouraging the formation of learning communities and fostering interaction between students. These authors advocated for a strong teacher presence, flexible, adaptive learning, and innovative resources.

Protopsaltis and Baum (2019) discussed high costs, low success rates, and poor outcomes of online education and its inferior reputation among many academic leaders and employers. Protopsaltis and Baum (2019) noted that the costs of online education were very high, and student achievement results in online education classes were below expectation for low income or underprepared students. Protopsaltis and Baum (2019) argued that it would be disastrous to weaken federal requirements, cut costs, or reduce funding for online education. Research into online education indicated that supporting investments could improve over years, and that funding programs to improve student engagement and learning could benefit students (Allen & Seaman, 2014; Webb et al., 2021). Online learning could reach its potential and operate at its best when it is accessible to all students and encompasses frequent engagement between faculty and students; online education might be one of the only choice available to underserved students, according to Protopsaltis and Baum (2019).

Online Faculty

LaPointe et al. (2015) examined faculty experiences with online teaching and found that instructors felt a lack of support or belonging. Although their colleges offered quality technical support to online faculty, the faculty reported they desired stronger collegiality and a sense of community (LaPointe et al, 2015). Many colleges had lowfaculty satisfaction rates with respect to online faculty development programs. Faculty development programs should be developed after assessing faculty needs, and assessments should include information obtained directly from online faculty (LaPointe et al., 2015). Another scholar recommended online learning and online communities of practice as ideally suited for faculty development programs. Faculties in online communities would be able to reduce faculty isolation, and reduce time or space barriers to faculty participation in programs (Cook & Streindert, 2013).

Williams et al. (2017) surveyed faculty members and found that online instructors were desirous of engagement from administrators. The instructors wanted additional feedback and direct communication, and they wanted to provide input on their own professional development programs. Communication was the strongest theme in the study. Instructors favored training and mentoring programs for online faculty. Ongoing quality training could be available to help educational leaders to improve online instruction, which could then motivate and engage students (Williams et al., 2017).

Faculty perceptions of online teaching were explored at a mid-sized liberal arts university in a mixed methods study that included qualitative survey responses from 79 subjects. Above 50% of the faculty respondents related that although they knew online learning was attractive to students, they were not enthusiastic about teaching online. Over half the faculty members indicated that a conflict existed between online learning their teaching values. These instructors wanted heavier regulations, stronger faculty support, better infrastructure, and improved technology resources (Shreaves et al., 2020). Faculty members evaluated online course quality and student engagement from inferior to very poor in comparison to online learning to in-class learning. Faculty members were also discouraged by what they perceived to be a heavier workload in online classes and an increased amount of time required to teach online.

An assumption was that many faculty members who were resistant to online teaching and change could have had underlying fears. They may have feared they would begin to dislike teaching if they had to teach online instead of teach in a classroom in which they could see the impact of their instruction (Shreaves et al., 2020). However, quantitative analysis showed higher percentages of faculty members were open to gaining new skills to teach online; 86% were interested in exploring new ways of teaching, were motivated to learn new skills, and were very interested in campus-wide professional development approaches to support online teaching (Shreaves et al., 2020).

The technology acceptance framework model was used to survey faculty members to get an understanding of their perceptions and to gather data about their online teaching experiences (Figure 2). The model of technology acceptance was used to explore a very wide range of variables, including faculty members' technical experiences, perceptions about their status as online instructors, resistance, manageable class sizes, and perceived barriers to teaching and student success (Wingo et al., 2017). Researchers noted there was a gap between the views of administrators and faculty members regarding the value of online education. Faculty members expressed concern about the learning outcomes and success of students. Faculty members were also concerned about how online teaching would affect their status or tenure, and they expressed a need for ongoing training, mentoring, and support (Wingo et al., 2017). Although this study did not focus solely on student engagement, the study was an example of how faculty members' perceptions and experiences can provide useful data to improve online teaching and learning.

Figure 2





Engagement, Integration, and Persistence

Angelino and Natvig (2009) created a conceptual model of engagement for college instructors and administrators when designing online courses (Figure 3). The model for engagement (Figure 3) illustrates opportunities for engagement such as active participation, interactions, and collaboration between faculty, with students, and with members of the community (Angelino & Natvig, 2009). This model of engagement is

based on Tinto's model of student retention whereas a student's academic and social

integration are critical for engagement and persistence.

Figure 3

Model for Engagement (Angelino & Natvig, 2009)



Davidson and Wilson (2013/2014) argued that Tinto's (1998) framework is useful for analyzing traditional student populations often found in traditional residential 4-year colleges. The model is limited in its provisions for understanding of retention among nontraditional students, racial and ethnic minorities, and distance, online, and community college students.
Travers (2016) discussed the problem of student retention in online programs at community colleges and noted the observations of Tinto (1976), who argued that a student's decision to remain in college could be influenced by instructors, peers, administration, external factors, personal challenges, and barriers. Although Tinto was writing decades before online colleges existed and was addressing traditional students in face-to-face classrooms, researchers have used Tinto's model and extended his ideas to support students in distance education and online education. Travers (2016) stated that the barriers many online students face in their life are often the reasons why online learning is more desirable to them. He challenged the current state of discourse about online students' success, based upon course completion rates or degree attainment. Travers (2016) argued that the community college open-door policy means not gauging student success on negative attributes, but rather gauging student success on the opportunities that online learning can provide to increasing numbers of nontraditional students (Travers, 2016). Tinto's framework remains a viable model to consider in examining student engagement and persistence rates. Any supposed limitations can be mediated by assuring concepts of the model are well-defined and applied to nontraditional students and online learning. The concepts of academic and social integration could aid in the discovery of more ways to connect online students to their virtual college to increase engagement and improve course completion rates.

Wang and BrckaLorenz (2018) used data from the NSSE and the FSSE to explore faculty-student interactions, collaborative learning, and student engagement from both the faculty and student perspectives. They found faculty members that were engaged highly with international students and all students. Minority faculty members or faculty members of color engaged in higher student-faculty interactions than their white colleagues (Wang & BrckaLorenz, 2018). The researchers suggested that it was possible that ethnic minority faculty were highly active and engaging with their international students because minority faculty members were already highly active in engaging with all students. These authors also stated that if students had positive interactions with faculty, they were more likely to feel respected and valued.

Wang and BrckaLorenz (2018) recommended encouraging faculty members to engage with international students, departments, and institutions, which would support student engagement on all three levels, including individual, departmental, and institutional wide. Wang and BrckaLorenz urged program directors at universities to allocate enough resources for this support, and encouraged the formation of faculty learning communities, collaborative learning, and peer evaluations. Although the researchers do not use the word faculty development program, they recommended programs and activities based on COP and activities that are components of a Faculty Development Plan.

Parker et al. (2021) reviewed literature related to humanizing the online learning experience and screened 83 studies about post-secondary online educational practice, and summarized findings. They argued that educators can use technology to humanize the online educational process and to personalize their classrooms by creating presence, which can be an asset to learning environments. When instructors are humanized, they facilitate engagement, motivate their students, help their students shape their identity, and create online learning communities that encourage social interaction, collaboration, and student-centered classrooms. When students perceive the humanity of their instructors, the humanized classroom could be perceived as caring, and this feeling of caring can lead students to become highly involved and engaged. Increased student engagement can contribute to student growth and academic success as well as higher student retention. The researchers further stated the importance of reducing the awareness of the virtual aspect of an online classroom, is to eliminate technology as a factor that separates their students. Instead, instructors should use technology as an extension of themselves as they build a strong social presence to help their students to perceive human interactions and human activities in their virtual learning environments (Parker et al., 2021).

Australian students' perceptions of online engagement were examined over the course of a semester to determine which factors affected engagement and how engagement changed throughout the course with two qualitative approaches. One approach was to survey all students in a class and a second was an individual case study, detailing the experiences of one student (under a pseudonym). The results reflected findings from previous research studies about the importance of engagement. It was also noted that a lack of interaction with peers, faculty, and materials, could lead to students feeling disconnected and alienated from their studies (Farrell & Brunton, 2020). Moreover, Farrell and Brunton (2020) found that students had mixed opinions about the online discussion boards. Many students felt pressured and exposed and were not as accepting or feeling enthusiastic about discussions and literature, which suggested that discussion boards promote engagement and interaction (Buck, 2016).

Sugden et al. (2021) used a mixed method design to look at student engagement to see the various devices students used to log into their classrooms and the amount of their engagement in various activities. Survey data were collected from 63 students, nine interviews, and 16 students in a focus group. Students perceived classroom activities in a positive light and stated that authentic, problem-solving type activities were the most valuable in terms of learning and in terms of feeling supported. Overall, students believed that their online classroom activities contributed to engagement and deep learning. They found it easy to access their classrooms on a combination of devices and to fit their study time into the daily schedules (Sugden et al., 2021). Students' study habits were an important finding from this study and reaffirmed that students did indeed study anywhere, anytime, which supported the importance of ensuring that online activities in classrooms can be used on any device and at any time.

Redman and Perry's (2020) quantitative survey compared faculty group members from different years to examine their perceptions of online engagement, interaction, technology, and teaching online graduate students over time. They compared a more recent year of faculty ratings, 2016, with ratings dating as far back as 2002 and 2007 and found that the 2016 faculty ratings scored engagement and ratings for interaction much lower than the 2002 and 2007 groups, but the faculty had much higher ratings for use of technology in 2016 than they did in 2002 and 2007 (Redman & Perry, 2020). One observation was that detailed, personalized, feedback may promote student engagement and motivate students. However, the usefulness of feedback lessens over time, and its ability to foster self-directed learning diminishes as faculty workload increases and their responses and feedback messages are delayed (Redman & Perry, 2020). The level of importance attributed to interaction and engagement may have been due to the novelty of online education and technology back in 2002 and 2007 (Redman & Perry, 2020). It is possible that faculty members realized that changes in technology over time has had the potential to improve courses and teaching strategies.

Community Colleges and Online Learning

Program planners at community colleges have assumed a leading role in distance education and online instruction to attract and offer courses to students who are unable to attend traditional on-campus classes. Akroyd et al. (2013) addressed the problems of faculty resistance to online instruction and found there was a relationship between their resistance and lack of administrative support. They argued that faculty would be less resistant if the organizational environment and campus infrastructure fostered faculty training for online teaching and technological developments (Akroyd et al., 2013).

The subject of a study in a community college focused on student perceptions of instructor presence. The researchers examined the differences between online courses and courses that were not offered online. Cutsinger et al. (2018) used the CoI framework to examine teaching, social, and cognitive presences in both types of courses and found there were no measurable or statistical differences according to the student surveys. Student satisfaction and students' grades were slightly lower in the predominately online courses, which had averages of C grades and on-campus courses averaged B grades (Cutsinger et al., 2018). Research suggested online instructors could improve availability,

communication, and encouragement, and learn new ways to increase their presence, and accessibility in online courses, which may lead to better grades in online courses.

Online instructors and course designers should value student engagement and see it as the most important way for students to connect with their instructors, course material, and their peers (Mucundanyi, 2021). The first two weeks of a course are the most critical; therefore, online course design should be clear and consistent. One approach for design is a five-pronged strategy through the lenses of technological, pedagogical, and content knowledge (TPACK). The first strategy is content designed using technology, the second is a strong syllabus, the third is pedagogy aimed at engaging students, the fourth is instructor presence, and the fifth strategy is ensuring that free educational materials and resources are available (Mucundanyi, 2021). The TPACK strategies should be implemented from the very beginning of a course and could increase the opportunities for successful student engagement in online courses.

Many studies examine specific modalities of instruction to determine best practices for effective teaching and student engagement. A recent mixed methods study examined students' perceptions of best practices in online lectures delivery format. The results of the study were that students enjoyed both prerecorded online asynchronous lectures and live real time lectures. Although live lectures were helpful to encourage social interactions, students preferred the prerecorded sessions for flexibility and for a better opportunity to learn and study content in the recorded lectures. The asynchronous lectures also helped students with time management and scheduling daily activities and their studies. However, the live lectures gave students a stronger sense of connection and of perceiving their instructor's social presence (Harris et al., 2021). This study indicated that either method of delivery was well received if the lectures were engaging and interesting.

Online students need to feel a social presence in their classrooms and a connection with their peers and instructors. Online engagement consists of engagement with the instructor, peers, and course materials. In a more recent survey of online students, common themes emerged. Students were committed to their studies and finding work-life balance. Students were intent and invested in managing their course requirements, participating on discussion boards with their peers, and their efforts were affected by the teacher presence, relevance of work, and level of interaction (Muir et. al., 2019). Student engagement levels tended to change over the span of the course as students' workload increased, due dates approached, or if the instructors' social presence decreased. It seems natural that student engagement with peers would shift over the course of a term as demands or deadlines loom, or if the instructor becomes less present. However, this assumption does not mean students are not engaged; they may be engaged with course materials as they work on their final papers or major assessments (Muir et al., 2019).

Implications

Most of the previous research about student engagement has, historically, identified ways to improve student engagement by improving academic achievement and instilling a sense of belonging to the physical campus (Taylor & Parsons, 2011). As online programs continue to increase, and if they are going to survive, college program planners should learn about instructors' perceptions and experiences teaching online, and find ways for online learners to engage and connect with their virtual campus (Bambara et al., 2009). There may be a gap in practice due to differences between the college institution and its faculty members' understanding of and commitment to quality online education. There may be a further gap in faculty members' understanding of the distinction between teaching traditional online courses and instructional presence, and teaching strategies in online courses (Xu & Jaggars, 2014). Results from this project study could contribute to further understanding of how to respond to low student engagement and improve student learning. The findings from this research could lead to faculty development programs and revised teaching strategies that could improve student engagement and online retention rates.

Summary

Program planners at the community college research site are invested in the success of the eLearning program and have included online education in the mission statement of the college. Program planners are continually assessing student learning by conducting student surveys and examining course completion rates. They have been turning their attention to increasing student engagement and are committed to providing quality online courses to all students.

In this section, I outlined the local problem of low student engagement and low online course completion rates. Online students were 10% to 15% less likely to complete courses than students enrolled in on-campus classes (Xu & Smith Jaggars, 2011). I also discussed the rationale and significance of this study and included a review of the background literature that guided this research. I concluded this section with a discussion of the implications. In the upcoming sections, I will discuss methodology in Section 2, the project in Section 3, and in Section 4, I will discuss the strengths and limitations of the project before presenting the project in Appendix A. In section 2, I will discuss methodology, research design, the CoI framework that grounded this research study, as well as data analysis and results.

Section 2: The Methodology

Research Design and Approach

Section 2 includes a discussion of the research methodology, the reason why qualitative research was best suited to the local problem, and how my research design was derived from the research questions. Qualitative methodology was selected because I explored the problem of low student engagement at the local site and collected data from community college faculty who taught online classes. Qualitative research methods are ideal for investigating complex social phenomena and allow for a deep analysis of the data that were collected in online surveys (Jabareen, 2009). Quantitative research methods were not appropriate for this study because the methodology would not have aligned with the research questions, local problem, or purpose of this study. I was not attempting to test a hypothesis, examine trends in online learning, search for relationships, or collect measurable data with standardized instruments. It would not have been possible to gain insight or deeper understanding of the local problem with numerical data, and I did not intend to generalize findings from this study to a larger population. Qualitative research methods have the potential to add to the dialogue about elearning and to enrich the understanding of instructors' perceptions and experiences in the digital classroom (Charbonneau-Gowdy, 2017). This methodology provided the opportunity to gather detailed data about the instructors' perceptions to empower and give voice to the faculty members' experiences of low student engagement in online classrooms and discussions (Vayre & Vonthron, 2016).

There were several foundational studies and conceptual frameworks on instructor interventions and student engagement that could have grounded this study. I relied on the CoI framework to aid in understanding instructors' role in the classroom and their responses in facilitating online discussions. The CoI model enabled me to investigate the type and quality of interactions students have with their instructors and the interactions students have with one another in an online or blended classroom environment (Gunbatar & Guyer, 2017). The CoI framework is one of the leading research approaches for examining online learning and student engagement (Breivik, 2016). The research questions in the current study were framed around the CoI model to illuminate ways that an instructor's social, cognitive, and teaching presence could impact or facilitate higher student engagement.

The purpose of this research was to explore and examine in depth rather than to generalize findings (see Creswell & Poth, 2017). A qualitative case study approach was used to illuminate the depth and breadth of faculty members' responses to questions about low student engagement, classroom activities, and instructional strategies (see Creswell, 2012). This approach helped me to gain insight into the problem and learn about faculty perceptions and actions such as frequency of interactions and strategies they used to facilitate interaction, collaboration, and engagement.

I considered narrative methodology; however, that approach would have led to data that focused on the subject's identity, interpersonal experiences, or personal values, and would not have aligned with the problem statement of this research. A phenomenological study would have required a focus on a central phenomenon, a single concept or a shared lived experience. Data would have been more philosophical in nature and highly personal. A case study focused on the problem, statement, purpose, and research questions (see Bogdan & Biklen, 2007) and provided enough data to describe the participants' perceptions.

Participants

I had planned to do in-person interviews. I had received Institutional Review Board (IRB) approval from Walden University and the primary college study site for the procedures I described in my proposal. However, those data collection methods were revised two times, as I had difficulty recruiting participants. I was obliged to revise procedures, resubmit to IRB for approval to change data collection methods from phone calls to emails, and change again to an email survey attachment to a Google Docs online survey. The requested changes were approved by Walden's IRB and the primary study site's IRB. Both allowed me to email my survey using a link to Google Docs. However, I had not yet recruited an approved number of participants. I submitted to Walden IRB for approval to broaden recruitment and potential participants from other community colleges and the Walden University Research Participant Pool.

When the 2020 global pandemic hit my state, all colleges were closed in March 2020 (Washington State Board for Community and Technical Colleges, 2020), which delayed participant responses another full year. I continued to reach out to faculty members via email, and by the end of March 2021 I had an approved number of participants and had collected enough completed surveys to begin analyzing the data. The revised data collection, coding, analysis, and impressions are discussed in Section 3. In Section 2, I include my original data collection methods.

A qualitative case study approach was intended to sample 10 full-time college instructors with at least 2 years of experience teaching online courses at the college level. A case study was suited to the problem, statement, purpose, and research questions and could have provided sufficient data to examine the instructors' perceptions and experiences. Ten to 12 participants were appropriate for this study because it would have yielded a great deal of in-depth data, with sufficient data collected to "identify themes of the cases and to conduct cross-case theme analysis" (Creswell & Poth, 2017, p. 160). I had originally planned to meet with instructors in person to establish rapport with them. I wanted to limit power dynamics that might have led to resistance or inauthentic responses (see Creswell & Poth, 2017). I did not have the opportunity to meet with faculty members in person, and it proved to be difficult to establish a collaborative and trusting relationship with the participants via email. I did, however, make an effort to do so because I considered this a primary ethical concern that would have helped participants feel more at ease when they shared their perceptions and experiences.

After I received approval from the IRB at Walden University, I requested approval to conduct research from the elearning program director and IRB board at the local site. Once I had all appropriate permissions in place, I sent email invitations to all faculty members who were teaching online courses. The class schedule and faculty members' contact information were published on the website of the college and at the Office of Institutional Research. I had gathered faculty members' contact information, department, and course information from the 2019–2020 term catalogs. In my revised version of data collection, I sent out email invitations with a direct link to the Google Docs survey. The selection criteria established for this study were that faculty members were currently teaching and had at least 2 years of online teaching experience. I had originally established more stringent guidelines, such as more than 10 years of online teaching experience, but revised those guidelines due to the new IRB guidelines.

My aim was to recruit 10–12 full-time faculty members who were teaching in a variety of subject areas. Purposeful sampling and recruiting faculty from various subjects would have provided enough variation to help me understand the problem and would have provided detailed, descriptive answers to my research questions. The sampling strategy was selected in advance of data collection. Maximal variation sampling facilitated development and discovery of multiple perspectives of faculty members who taught online but differed in some characteristics such as the type of classes they taught. I was to follow up to replies with a brief online demographic survey; that email was to include an attached informed consent form to be filled out and returned. If I had received more interest in participating than required, I would have contacted faculty members who were not selected, thanked them for their time, and informed them that I had reached the maximum number of participants for the study.

When I was preparing for in-person interviews, I was planning to hold one initial meeting with individual participants to ensure they had copies of the research approval and informed consent documents. I would have briefly gone over these documents and set a tentative time and date for the in-person interview. I would have reiterated the

confidential nature of the study and informed participants that they would not receive any form of material or financial compensation for this study. The initial meeting had a threefold purpose: (a) to provide faculty members with printed information and releases, (b) to set appointments and gauge their commitment to interviews and completion of the study, and (c) to begin building rapport to establish a trusting and comfortable working relationship. These in-person meetings and interviews proved to be impossible to schedule. Although faculty members were interested in the study, they were overworked, overscheduled, and unwilling to make a commitment to meet in person due to the time constraints of their demanding schedules.

I had created an interview protocol to be followed during all in-person meetings, which would have been used and attached to the questions for the meetings. The interview protocol was clear and uniform for my own records and would have provided consistency for the participants. It included written consent documents ensuring prospective participants' confidentiality. I would have introduced and explained the process at the onset of the meeting, thanked participants at the conclusion of the meetings, and informed them of the next steps in the study. I wanted to create a professional yet relaxed environment, be open to questions from participants, and assure them of their privacy by explaining data collection and storage protocols. Each participant's identity would have been protected with a number-coded system, and under no circumstances would their names be released, available, or accessible to any person, agency, or institution. I was able to revise this protocol to an online format with all forms and documents available online so that participants could read, sign, and submit. This helped relieve the participants of the burden of extra steps and having to give up too much of their limited time. All coding documents, the original coding system, participant identities and the numbering system, and any college affiliations were stored in a secure location in my home office. The digital copies of interviews were secured and stored on my Google Docs main page, hard copies were printed and stored in a locked filing cabinet, and all other digital documents were stored in my computer and a secure online server in my private home office.

Data Collection

Data collection involved gathering participants' written responses to survey questions that were submitted and returned via Google Docs. All email replies, collected data, digital files, notes, data analysis, code books, and research logs were stored in a password-protected computer folder and a secure filing cabinet. There were to be inperson interviews, but this method of data collection was revised to be completed via an online survey. Questions for the surveys that were submitted online through Google Docs were adapted with permission from the Perceptions and Practices of E-Instructors Toward Online Instruction Questionnaire (PPEOIQ; see Chang et al., 2014). The PPEOIQ covers many aspects of online teaching: instructional design, facilitating learning, assessment, technology use, administrative management, and research development (Chang et al., 2014). This standardized instrument is a comprehensive questionnaire that covers several domains relevant to perceptions, practice, and experiences of online instructors. The revised and adapted questions from the PPEOIQ provided the framework for gathering participants' responses from several domains and included their perceptions of engagement, teaching practice, online discussion experiences, and responses to online students.

I submitted emails with invitations to participate in the study, a description of the study, and a link for prospective participants to access the survey and all forms through Google Docs. Emails were sent to faculty members at the college study site and a second local community college in my area. The study was also posted in the Walden University Research Participant Pool. I obtained responses, informed consent, and completed surveys from 10 community college instructors who were online faculty members. I had planned to conduct the semiformal, in-person interviews on the study site campus in private offices and follow an interview protocol that participants received in advance. I had an observation sheet to take notes during the interviews and would have taken an audio recording of the interview. Although I was unable to conduct the in-person interviews, I did preserve some of the plans I had in place to add rigor and reliability to my study.

I took notes throughout my time researching. Notes addressed the process of submitting drafts, seeking IRB approval, and connecting with principals at research sites including the primary study site. I saved all drafts of my work and all sources even if they were not directly used in my final work. In addition, I stored the PDF files of the peerreviewed journal articles and links to all referenced sources. I also kept research logs and maintained a reflective journal in which I took additional notes, posed questions, and made notes of personal bias or any difficulties I experienced. I also followed data storage and management protocols to ensure my data were securely stored. The data storage management system was in my home office, separate from my personal computers, and was not accessible to other people in my household. I developed a consistent naming and storage system for all files, searchable documents, tables, and spreadsheets so they could be easily found and referenced. I stored all original hard copies of documents in a secure fireproof locked file cabinet, and digital documents were saved on two computers and a network server in my home office. The network server was backed up weekly to prevent data loss.

Ethical Considerations and Limitations

I submitted an informal proposal about the intent, scope, and purpose of this study and obtained tentative permission to conduct research at the local site. I provided a copy of this proposal and all permissions to the Office of Institutional Research and the elearning program director at the local site. I also attached my National Institute of Health research certificate number, with an expiration date of July 20, 2018. I was going to seek renewal when the certificate expired; however, the National Institute of Health discontinued the testing program in the interim. I sought and obtained approval for this study through the Walden University IRB before I began any data collection at the local site. I had to revise my data collection methods on two occasions, and I received approval from Walden's IRB and the IRB at the local study site regarding each proposed change to my methods. I also applied for and received approval to post a call for applicants in the Walden University Research Participant Pool. I had not been employed by any of the colleges in which I recruited participants, I did not personally know any administrative personnel or faculty members at the colleges, and no conflicts of interest with the colleges or participants.

Potential biases I brought to this research were my long-standing interest in high quality distance education and my ardent support of web-based education. Twenty-five to 30 years prior to this study, online learning with technology, was in its infancy; however, distance education has a very long history of utilizing the most up-to date-technology to deliver college courses and continuing education workshops to distance learners (Sumner, 2010). With the development of web-based platforms, threaded online discussions were a breakthrough for distance learning. Through these opportunities, distance learning became one of the main ways to engage online students, ensure participation, and track attendance (Sumner, 2010). I have witnessed an overreliance on discussion threads as the major source for student engagement. These overreliances were negative experiences, which influenced my interest in this study of online student

If online education is to flourish, maintain high standards, and meet goals of increasing access to higher numbers of students, educators would do well to question their continued reliance on simple text, based formatting, and threaded discussions. Moreover, many courses are set up with online discussions that require a high level of engagement between students. In addition, this type of pedagogical approach does not always work well in large online classrooms (Lee & Martin, 2017). These courses require a high level of learner activities and participation, a far greater number than face-to-face courses. It may not be reasonable to assume that distance learners can benefit or achieve optimal learning from discussion activities at the level expected. Many distance learners are enrolled in online education because of constraints on their time and outside responsibilities. Distance learners and online learners may not have time in their daily schedules to be engaged in social or collaborative learning activities. Moreover, many distance learners reported that they found collaborative and social learning activities very time-consuming and much less effective than individual learning activities (Lee &Martin, 2017).

The focus of this qualitative case study was online teaching at community colleges and a Community College (WWCC *Pseudonym*) was the primary study site. The study was limited to the perceptions and experiences of 10 full-time faculty members. The intention was to understand deeply the participants' perceptions and experiences as well as to discover the terminology and language participants used to define student engagement and participants' teaching practices. Findings from this study may be useful at the primary site to address a gap in practice about faculty members' perceptions of engagement and their teaching practices. Results from this study could offer insight to policy makers, program directors, researchers, and online educators at other colleges who might want to propose a sample faculty development plan. While this study may benefit faculties in other colleges and researchers in education, this study is not intended to make generalized findings or to recommend a course of action that could be applied to online courses or online programs.

Data Analysis Results

After the original data were collected, organized, and securely stored, I began reading and reviewing the data for emergent ideas, making notes and memos to track impressions and development of ideas. Memos helped me to identify concepts within individual files to see if these concepts were found across other files. Creswell and Poth (2017) recommended using memos for discovering themes and making comparisons across questionnaires. I followed the procedure for memos with the written data, which consisted of narrative and longer essay answers to open-ended survey questions. I decided against qualitative content analysis for this study and instead, analyzed the data by making tables, coding, creating a codebook, and following the suggestions for coding in multiple stages, as recommended by Saldana (2021). In qualitative data analysis, researchers extract relevant information from original text to search for patterns that emerge from the data. This approach is suited for research questions firmly grounded in established theories (Gläser & Grit, 2013).

I completed manual coding and analyzed all data by hand. I decided against using a computer software program because the data were manageable. I had a small participant pool of 10 instructors, and I worked independently on the data analysis. Although there may have been some advantages for using qualitative software programs, such as providing organized file storage and easy retrieval, the coding process for qualitative research is the same, whether the data were coded by hand or by a computer program. I selected hand coding because I wanted to be close to the data, and to return to the data over-and-over as I coded in stages or cycles. I consider coding as a longer process that could help to uncover or discover participants' values, perceptions, insights, and experiences. The coding process can also provide researchers with time for considering their own reaction to the data, thoughtful reflection, and creative analysis (Creswell & Poth, 2017). I returned to the data numerous times to review and to take notes. I saved and stored all notes taken each time I reviewed the data. This method of reviewing ongoing data sources and the research questions imbued confidence and helped lend rigor and credibility to my data analysis.

Reviewing the research questions as I studied the data helped guide me as I identified codes. From those codes, I was able to build shorter two-to-four word themes. The research questions that guided this study were used to examine faculty members' perceptions of student engagement and instructional strategies they used to promote engagement. Survey questions were targeted to show how the faculty members viewed engagement and the types of discussion board prompts, classroom activities, and assignments they used to increase student engagement. The faculty members' survey responses were rich with data related to how engagement was critical to learning. Survey responses also included specific actions of the instructors that were intended to encourage their students to engage with one another, their instructor, and the course materials.

Once I reached saturation and identified all major and minor themes, I added rigor to my study by layering themes and looking for interconnectedness of major and minor themes. Themes and data analysis were written down and presented in narrative form for ongoing review and cross referencing. I created tables with a display of key words, phrases, codes, and themes, and used color coding to self-reference and cross-reference against my narrative for reviewing and rechecking. I also implemented member checking strategies to validate the accuracy of my data analysis and to add credibility to my research findings (Creswell, 2012). Each participant was provided with my email address and phone number, and they were advised that they could review, revise, or omit any survey responses at any time. I did request an external audit from the Office of Institutional Research at the primary local research site to ensure the research study findings were grounded in the data and that the report met with standards of the original proposal. The primary study site, however, waived that requirement.

I had planned several quality procedures in order to further assure accuracy and the credibility of this study. I maintained detailed notes, logs, and a reflective journal of my steps, procedures, methods, impressions, and insights. In addition, I shared these details in my analysis for validity and trustworthiness. Roberts et al. (2019) recommended qualitative researchers maintain a detailed reflexive account of procedures they followed so that readers are able to follow their methods and steps taken during inquiry that led to recommendations and conclusions. I was very open in discussing my biases and personal interpretations, and showing how my biases and interpretations could have affected my analysis. I added notes on how the analysis and findings of the data challenged my biases, assumptions, and preconceptions. I also considered online learning theories and the literature that most influenced me to undertake this study and examined how the literature supported or did not support my coding and thematic analysis of the data.

The faculty members' survey responses, all data, notes, journals, and logs, collected for this study were stored securely and backed up electronically. Data were stored on a password-protected computer and server and locked in a filing cabinet in my home office. I was able to send confidential emails to participants, with a link to Google Docs so that they could access the study information and survey. All email addresses and the links to the survey were confidential. Participants were not able to see one another's identity, email address, or responses to the survey. I included my email address and phone number in all correspondences and in documents on link to the survey. Once completed, this survey was anonymous, so member checking took the form of messages in emails and posting in the study, reminding subjects they had the right to change their mind, withdraw from the study, add, change, or request removal of any survey responses they had supplied at any time. Applicants were provided with notice of how to leave the study or to change their responses on the first page of the study, and they were required to accept or agree before they continued. I kept a research journal, research logs, notes, and memos and notes, and these private documents served as referral sources and were stored securely on my computer and server.

In analyzing the data, as a beginning researcher, I used descriptive coding and causation coding to summarize the data in words and short phrases for the codes identified within the data. I did a first cycle coding, made extensive notes, and returned to the data for a second coding cycle after stepping away and allowing myself distance from the data for a brief period (Saldana, 2011). During the first coding step, I used causation coding to identify beliefs, influences, causes, and conditions, while descriptive coding in

the second step provided a means to summarize and categorize (Saldana, 2021a). I identified six themes that arose from the research questions and emerged following data coding. The themes were repetitive words, phrases, or short descriptive expressions written in the faculty survey responses. Themes were also terms and expressions that arose from the research questions of this study. These themes were also related to the Community of Inquiry framework, and the themes indicated instructors were referencing teaching, social, and cognitive presences in their replies about student engagement and how they fostered engagement.

My initial impressions on the first step on coding were that most faculty members believed engagement was critical to effective course outcomes, such as critical thinking, deep learning, and higher grades. Although impressions reflect my opinion about student engagement, I do not believe my biases adversely affected my reviewing and coding of the data. Faculty responses overwhelmingly were consistent that engagement was critical, and this belief was borne out across all responses to the survey questions. These responses were in line with findings from multiple studies of online and distance education over 20 or more years.

Many studies have shown that increased interaction and engagement makes a difference; different types of engagement, such as engagement with peers, materials, and instructors have a positive effect on student learning and learning outcomes (Anderson & Garrison, 1998, Walters et al., 2017, Wingo et al., 2016). In Table 1 the themes, actions, and activities are identified within the Community of Inquiry framework, which includes teaching, social, and cognitive presences.

Table 1

Themes, Actions, and Activities Identified Within the Community of Inquiry Framework

Theme	Instructional Strategy	Faculty Description
1. (Teaching and Social Presence). Active and Involved Daily	Log in daily Assume active presence	Post often and encourage students. Posting and responses. Foster engagement.
2. (Teaching Presence) Create a Welcoming and Easy to Navigate Classroom	Link to Class, Campus, Library Resources. How to Contact Instructor	Introductions, Interact with student Office Hours and How to Contact Post Weekly Reminders
3. (Teaching and Cognitive Presence) Assign and Discuss Weekly Reading and Assignments	Align required reading with assignments. Present and discuss assignments, point out resources on class home page.	Students must engage with material Videos and assignments Present problems for easy Assignment. Written and verbal tasks
4. (Social and Teaching Presence) Engagement in The Class Discussion Boards.	Encouraging feedback in grading and on discussions. Foster to further discussion	Richly and highly engaged Active, fast-paced, quality over quantity. Require engagement
5. (Cognitive Teaching Presence) Pose Challenging Questions to Engage Students	Pose challenging questions for reading	Written and verbal tasks Students analyze, evaluate
6. (Teaching and Social Presence). Foster engagement With materials and connected	Praise engagement. Ensure active participation Ensure students are connected	Point out important points Encourage sincere reflections and responses

Note. (Castellanos-Reyes, 2020)

The Garrison, Anderson, and Archer diagram model of the CoI framework shows that the presences intersect with and complement one another (Figure 4). The themes identified in this study list actions that reflect more than one presence. Castellanos-Reyes (2020) noted that researchers described and confirmed the intersection of presences, relationships, and correlations among the presences and with other variables when using the CoI framework (Stenbom et al., 2012).

The purpose of this qualitative case study was to learn about online instructor's perceptions of student engagement. I wanted to learn about the instructional strategies and classroom activities faculty members used to promote and foster student engagement. There were two research questions guiding this research, and the selection of the survey instrument and questions submitted to faculty participants. I used faculty members' responses and data collected from the study to present a faculty development program based on the Community of Inquiry (CoI) and the Community of Practice (CoP) frameworks to the primary college study site. In analyzing the data, I identified six themes related to the research questions about engagement and activities. These themes helped form the basis of an online faculty development program as informed me in the selection of materials, resources, and recommendations for an online faculty development program.

Data, Themes, and Research Questions

When analyzing the data to see what themes emerged and my research questions to see if the themes, and research questions were aligned with the Community of Inquiry (CoI) framework. In the CoI model instructors exhibit and embrace three interdependent elements, which are teaching, social, and cognitive presences and these presences support learning in collaborative-constructivist online classroom environment (Garrison et al., 2000). The themes of teaching, social, and cognitive presences occurred and reoccurred frequently in the data, as the instructors gave responses to describe their teaching strategies and perceptions of student engagement. For example, instructors were asked about instructional strategies they used to encourage engagement and they described teaching and social presence activities such as logging into their classrooms daily, posting often, and providing encouraging feedback. When describing classroom activities, they used to foster engagement, instructors' discussed activities that were reflective of cognitive and teaching presences, such as posing challenging discussion questions, aligning discussions, readings, and assignments, praising engagement. Most of the faculty response to the research questions shared perceptions and described activities that embodied themes in the CoI as these more specific examples indicate.

In theme one, the instructors responded that they understood teaching presence as they described their actions of logging in daily. They also described a social presence when they discussed how they posted in the classroom. Theme two of creating a welcoming classroom described activities that were intended to assist students with course and campus resources, was also describing a teaching and social presence. The social presence of instructors was high, according to data collected, and the instructors noted their students were engaged with their instructor and the material. Although social presence was observed, the participants did not discuss how students interacted with one another. Yildirim and Seferoglu (2020) used the CoI to study social presence of students in an online class and found when social presence and student interactions were low there was a negative impact on student satisfaction and cognitive presences. A faculty development plan (FDP) could offer courses or hold discussions where instructors share teaching strategies that foster more student-to-student interactions and social presences to improve student learning.

Figure 4

Community of Inquiry Framework (Garrison et al., 2000)



Theme three differs from the first two themes as instructors discussed course readings, assignments, and other requirements indicative of actions and activities that were reflective of their cognitive presence. Nearly all faculty respondents stated that they believed engagement was critical to learning and that engaged students performed better. A lone exception was that faculty members did not have online discussions in their classes. Many faculty members reported that engagement was promoted through discussion and active participation. Nine of the 10 instructors had in-class discussions, and only two instructors mentioned that they used break-out groups in their discussions. To enhance engagement, most instructors stated they planned discussions to align with assignments and material. They encouraged and required interaction between students. One aspect of the CoI framework was the instructor's presence, and all faculty members, except one, mentioned that they made certain to be active and present in their classrooms. Almost every faculty member stated that they monitored, participated, and reviewed discussion often. Several instructors mentioned that they logged in every day. Daily monitoring is reported to increase students' perceptions of the instructor's presence, and this factor increases student engagement.

Most instructors reported that their students were engaged highly or deeply in discussions and that larger class sizes led to higher levels of engagement. This comment was reflected in responses of theme four. Many of the faculty participants stated they believed that their involvement in the class and high engagement of the students meant that students learned at a high level and received better grades. These assertions aligned with a 2017 study on student engagement. Frazer et al. (2017) found that high engagement and social presence of the instructor in collaborative activities, positive interactions, and timely feedback led to students finding meaning in the discussions. Finding meaning in discussions helped students to feel connected to their peers and their instructor. The faculty members in this study exhibited attitudes and discussed actions and behaviors indicative of social, cognitive, and teaching presences and the Community of Inquiry model (Garrison et al., 2000).

Every instructor, with one exception, had stated clearly and repeatedly that that their presence, visibility, and actions in the classroom deliberately were intended to foster students' engagement. Moreover, there was a high level of agreement among faculty members about how classroom discussions, activities, and assignments, led to student engagement and positive learning outcomes. The percentage in agreement would be 90% and, as general rule, adequate levels of agreement in a study should be 75%. Less than that amount would not be adequate to consider consistency and reliability in establishing codes for analysis.

In theme five, most instructors stated they posed challenging questions and encouraged students to analyze and evaluate the course readings and material. This theme embodies the cognitive and teaching presences of the instructor; however, the students' response reflects a social and cognitive response and presence. Park and Kim's (2020) use of the constructivist framework in their study of online students found that a higher number of interactions and engagement among students, led to better elearning experiences. Several instructors in my study stated they believed that students were engaged at a higher level when they were excited about a topic and that a higher level of interactions and engagements led to stimulating levels of discourse and a better chance of reaching additional students.

Faculty reported that they believed their course work, discussions, and assignments promoted critical thinking, and that reading material was aligned with all

types of activities or assignments. This response was identified as theme six and as indicating a teaching and social presence as instructors fostered and praised engagement

All but one faculty member used rubrics for assignments, and many also mentioned the importance of giving detailed feedback. One faculty member used rubrics for major assignments but did not use them for day-to-day work or discussions because they did not have class discussions. Every one of the respondents stated that they did not like or assign group work. Their reasons were that it was unfair and usually did not turn out well. I noted that I agreed with this assertion and that it was most likely my personal bias against group work for students who are learning, especially undergraduates who may not be accustomed to the intense levels of engagement required in group work. Projecting personal ideology into the data can be a problem and a serious limitation of thematic analysis (Roberts et al., 2019).

I was cautions to ensure I was not projecting my ideology into the procedures used as I interpreted the data or identified themes. All faculty members stated that their assignments promoted critical thinking, but they did not give specifics on the type of assignments they used to stimulate critical thinking or what type of assignments were required in their courses. They did not say whether they assigned essays, research papers, course projects, or student portfolios. I admit that I was disappointed that the data they provided were not more specific.

Discrepant Cases

I had mentioned that most instructors stated they worked to foster student engagement and activities in their online classrooms. A discrepant case was an instructor involved in teaching an online course that did not allow for any student-to-student contact and the class did not have an online discussion board. This discrepant case had responses that were different from most of the participant responses. Participants stated that their students did not interact in any way, so instructors did not foster engagement or interaction among students. The instructor said that although their course was asynchronous, instructors did not have online discussions or places in the online classroom for the students to post or interact with one another. The course shell, syllabus, and assignments were online and the instructor posted videos with lectures and discussions about the courses materials and assignments. Many of their responses about student engagement and activities were short answers such as "they don't, "we don't," "I don't." There were several N/A responses. Faculty members did not indicate their discipline or type of courses they were teaching. It was reasonable to find that there were online courses that did not include student-to-student interactions or online classroom discussions. However, the majority of online courses did include student engagement with one another, and the majority of the respondents in this study stated they believed engagement was important for learning and student success.

Classroom Rules, Course Planning, and Learning Communities

The faculty members in this study did not have issues with online protocol, poor behaviors, classroom misconduct, or problems with net literacy. Each respondent indicated that the rules and policies for their class and college were included in their course syllabus and posted to the main page of the classroom bulletin board. I took notice that there was not a single report of classroom or discussion board conflicts or instances in which students were inappropriate. I realized that I had some bias as I looked for such problems, based on my early experiences.

I am from an older generation of early internet users and online education borne out of the 1990s before internet classroom social and behavior conventions were established. When I was a student in the 1990s and early 2000s, many students were pushing boundaries with inappropriate posts in which faculty had to intervene. Perhaps those problems are no longer an issue that a digital society is the norm, socially networked with informal and formally established rules and socially acceptable behaviors on the internet.

On staying current with online teaching, faculty members reported that they enjoyed talking with and networking with colleagues, they engaged in self-learning, reading journals, and websites in order to stay as current as possible. A few faculty members indicated that they had monthly Zoom meetings and quarterly on-campus meetings. One instructor said their college provided training and that faculty were required to have one hour of study annually for each course they taught. Another said that their college had staff development initiatives associated with Apple products and required faculty to participate.

Finally, although faculty members said their college required staff training, they did not provide specific information on the type of training required. Not one faculty member used the terminology of faculty development, mentioned any on-going support program, or identified any formal system of networking and learning. I considered it an optimistic sign and was hopeful when I found that all faculty members valued engagement and considered it critical to their students' success. However, faculty members did not provide many specific examples of strategies or techniques they used to encourage engagement or to share insight into what worked in their classroom, and what support they needed to improve their teaching practice or help their students learning.

Most faculty respondents were not cognizant of making efforts to form learning communities, nor did they identify factors indicating they understood the value of learning communities. Faculty members stated that they thought classes went too fast for learning communities to be possible or to have an impact. One of the respondents' replies below is illustrative of themes related to social presence that emerged from the data. When asked, "Can you outline the steps you follow in order to encourage your students to form an online learning community; do you use language, descriptions, or refer to sources about online learning communities?" A faculty member stated,

My classes only last from five to eight weeks, forming a lasting community is a lot harder than it is for a longer course. I prefer to let the community form organically, as students find common ground among each other, and engage, although this generally does not happen in my shorter duration classes.

Another participant shared how instructors related to their students and encouraged them, but did not require students to form a learning community or engage in group work,

I ask my students about their long-term interests and goals and point out when others have similar interests. I explain to them how important creating long-term community can be to their success. I use language and descriptions about learning from one another as a community, but I do not point students to sources or require them to network or do group work.

Other comments and responses to questions about fostering engagement and the formation of learning communities were vague and noncommittal. Although faculty members thought learning communities were beneficial, they did not indicate that they thought learning communities were much more than a form of informal support or a social outlet.

Summary

In the analysis of the data, I expected to see a higher level of interest in forming learning communities and realized that my expectations could have derived from my own biased experience as a student and being influenced by scholarship associated with the CoI framework and the CoP models that grounded my study. I may have held unrealistic expectations about finding feedback that matched the findings I had found in the literature. Perhaps it is difficult to form learning communities in community colleges because other conflicting issues exist. For example, classes cycle too fast, general survey courses have high student enrollments, and students are not in a sequence of classes in which they will see one another in subsequent terms. It is just possible that undergraduates at the community college level do not have the time or opportunity to build relationships with their peers and are not yet prone to forming communities in an organized manner. However, students can take skills and experiences learned in one class and apply new skills to their next classes. The concept of a learning community does not
need to be limited to one specific course and time period of 12 weeks, and a learning community does not need to be limited to students.

A significant finding uncovered in the data was that none of the instructors reported that they were encouraging students to form or foster learning communities. Perhaps community college instructors are so overworked and rushed with deadlines that they are unable to make time to foster learning communities, and they may be unaware of the impact learning communities can have on their students. However, I noted that none of the instructors reported that they were participating in online faculty learning communities or that their colleges were offering faculty development programs. Faculty members stated they were required to attend monthly meetings, or take classes, but most of their ongoing training was self-directed. If educational leaders of a college do not offer their instructors faculty development programs or at least require peer participation in an online community, it may follow that the instructors may have little to no direct experience and understanding of the benefits of an FDP.

An online FDP that fosters a learning community would provide faculty members with direct experience of participation and engagement with social, teaching, and cognitive presences. Faculty members could become aware of how learning communities could benefit their students in courses, because of their own experiences in the college FDPs. Forming initiatives for FDPs that are imbedded in the mission of a college could support faculty members, provide them with opportunities to engage with and learn from one another, and gain skills and experience to engage their students. Imbedded FDPs may improve student engagement and learning outcomes (Elliott & Oliver, 2015). Elliott and Oliver (2015) found a connection between faculty development programs and student success in a study of community college students. The connection between FDPs and the problem of student engagement, my research, and data analysis led me to understanding the importance of faculty support programs and the development of the project. In Section 3, I will introduce the project and goals as well as present an extensive literature review covering best practices of online teaching, online training programs, and various models of faculty development programs.

Section 3: The Project

In this section, I discussed the purpose, goals, and rationale for this project. Following a review of the literature is a discussion of best practices. Also included are approaches to creating the building blocks for a model online FDP. The purpose of this qualitative case study was to explore faculty members' perceptions of online student engagement and to use insight gained from the results of the study to present my position about the benefits or a FDP based on the CoI and CoP frameworks. The FDP discussion in this section includes examples of model online FDP programs, the rationale for and benefits of FDP, model programs, as well as research studies and scholarship dedicated to advancing FDP. The contents of this section are presented in a concise position paper in the appendix. The position paper will be presented to key stakeholders, administrators, and educators in the elearning program at the primary study site.

The primary study site is a large community college in the Western United States; this college has an established elearning program that offers courses, certificates, and degree programs to a diverse student population. This FDP is intended to create an online CoP for online faculty in which the current LMS might be used more fully to implement ongoing education, support, networking, and engagement among faculty peers, administrators, and staff in the elearning program. The community college serves approximately 11,000 students, with over 76% of the students from the local population and a third of all enrolled students being first generation and students of color. About 53% of the students attend classes on campus as full-time students; the remaining students are part-time and online students; however, the college does not provide exact numbers for the percentages of students attending elearning programs. Over 79% of the students earn a 4-year transfer degree, and 21% of the students earn professional and technical certificates or degrees. The results of this study could provide college leaders and stakeholders with insights about faculty members' perceptions of student engagement and the types of instructional strategies that foster student engagement.

Data were collected from 10 faculty members who had at least 2 years of online teaching experience. The faculty members were emailed a confidential Google Docs link that directed them to information about the study, the informed consent document, the confidential nature of the survey, and how to contact me via phone and email. Following this information was the link that contained the study, which consisted of 15 open-ended interview questions. Participants could answer with as much or as little information as they wished to share. The 15 open-ended interview questions were adapted from the PPEOIQ survey, which was based on the CoI model that also served as the framework for the study. The author of the survey granted me permission to use the complete survey instrument in its original format, to use portions of the survey relevant to my research, or to adapt questions as needed for my study to answer the research questions posed.

Rationale

The primary study site offers many online programs and learning options, including full online courses and online degree programs, as well as hybrid courses that are offered in a mixed format of online and face-to-face, as well as traditional on-campus classes. The study site includes digital learning or elearning as part of the mission and long-term strategic planning, and program planners assess learning outcomes on a regular basis. College leaders should consider how their mission addresses the needs of students and the college while ensuring that there are long-range strategic plans to improve and support the ability of the college to offer high-quality elearning programs (Bailey et al., 2018). Any long-range planning should include not only courses and programs for students but also programs to support online instructors. College leaders and faculty development programmers must also consider the challenges, benefits, and goals when planning their online FDPs. Such challenges may be budgetary constraints, faculty resistance, and the problem of creating programs that are accessible to full-time, parttime, and adjunct faculty members (Scarpena et al., 2018).

Some of the challenges with a new FDP may be mediated by using the existing Canvas or Blackboard LMS with updates and the new content held in the existing faculty area. The program planners of the college could offer incentives and encourage participation as career advancement. Program planners could feature special topics or online presentations by the elearning director, campus librarians, or experienced online educators, or they could feature special published reports and articles as topics for discussion. The FDP could be more successful by limiting deadlines for discussion and instead facilitating remote, asynchronous participation and encouraging ongoing discussion and collaboration. There could be numerous benefits that come about from an FDP, not the least of which could be increased faculty experience and knowledge. A more engaged faculty may present an opportunity to increase student engagement and student success within their online programs as the college becomes a more supportive learning community for faculty and students (Scarpena et al., 2018).

Faculty development, community building, and learning communities have long been identified as areas of study that have an ongoing and long-term need for more research due to the potential to improve online and distance learning education programs. Eib and Miller (2006) argued that a faculty development approach can aid a college in supporting high-quality teaching and faculty engagement while fostering a culture of connectedness across all sectors of a college. Hew and Hara (2007) interviewed 20 online instructors using the CoP framework and found that the sharing of knowledge was one of the most compelling motivators and was a powerful catalyst to support literacy for online teachers. CoP was found to have positive long-term effects on an instructor's performance due to interventions targeted toward support, networking, and long-term experiential learning. The current project was based in part on data collected from faculty at the primary study site, which was a nearby community college, a second community college, and the Walden University Research Participant Pool. The current project was also based on an extensive review of the literature related to online teaching, adult learning theories, online engagement, faculty development, and CoP.

Review of the Literature

For this project literature review, I focused on books and peer-reviewed sources related to online faculty development, CoP, CoI, online discussions, and online student engagement. I originally searched for sources published after 2013, but because of the extensive time involved in the research for this study, I did further research and focused on articles published between 2017 and 2021. In my second deeper search for sources, I searched the Walden University Library education databases and used Google Scholar to

locate peer-reviewed journal articles, research studies, and recently published dissertations. I searched with keywords related to faculty development and then reviewed articles with subjects, keywords, and themes found in the data collected from faculty members. Most of the sources in the literature review section were published between 2017 and 2021; however, I included a few older studies due to the importance of a particular study in the evolving field of research related to online faculty development. Cook and Streindert (2013) argued that the evidence base for online faculty development was not extensive or substantial; however, in the interim, many studies on faculty development included promising results with asynchronous, web-based FDPs, which I also reviewed for this project.

Online Faculty Development Models

Lewis and Ewing (2016) used the robust learning model to examine an asynchronous online FDP at an online university in the United States. The 1988 robust learning model includes the premise that successful distance learning or student leaning outcomes are dependent on multiple factors and interrelated components. The online university programmers used the same online LMS that students used, and the instructors were familiar with the system. The asynchronous nature of the FDPs provided anytime access, which reduced faculty barriers to participation because of differing schedules or remote locations. Lewis and Ewing found that faculty members' engagement and online activity were similar to online student engagement and activity and faculty members shared teaching tips in their discussion area. This sharing fostered teaching skills for other instructors, and many faculty members reported improved student outcomes in their courses. Lewis and Ewing also noted that faculty members who were very engaged in the online program had higher student course enrollments and higher student learning outcomes.

Bunk et al. (2015) examined motivational factors of excitement versus fear among online faculty and proposed that these contrasting emotions could be used to mediate or moderate faculty attitudes toward the efficacy of online instruction and positive student outcomes. Bunk et al. found that when inexperienced instructors were pressured to teach online, they experienced fear and had negative attitudes about learning outcomes. In contrast, more experienced faculty felt excited about online teaching, even when they did not have experience teaching online. However, more experienced faculty had a more positive attitude about learning outcomes. Bunk et al. urged university administrators to implement policies and practices that fostered excitement about distance education to ameliorate negative attitudes about learning outcomes or resistance toward online teaching.

In another study, programmers used the existing LMS of the college to support and mentor online adjunct nursing faculty who had less clinical experience or formal online instruction (Slade et al., 2017). The adjunct faculty members were not as prepared to teach online as regular faculty, and they did not have access to campus services or opportunities to interact with full-time campus faculty. By using the LMS on campus, the nursing program was able to support new and returning adjunct online faculty. The program provided adjunct faculty with resources for practical support, collaboration, mentoring, and involvement in the teaching community. This connection facilitated a sense of belonging. This study highlighted the importance of faculty programs and learning communities for all faculty members who are teaching online. In the current study, the primary study site had full-time, part-time, and adjunct faculty; all instructors needed a system of support and a means to become engaged within a faculty learning community. It was not necessary to create a separate community for adjunct faculty; however, it was advantageous to consider adjunct faculty support as a critical component of a FDP.

Another faculty development training program used the TPACK model to train new online instructors in a mixed-methods study to measure their teaching effectiveness (Brinkely-Etzkorn, 2018). The basis of the TPACK model is that content-specific teaching knowledge and elementary pedagogical skills are not adequate or effective in technology-based classrooms. The original framework was revised in 2006 by Mishra and Koehler (2006) to include technological knowledge (see Figure 5). This is the model Brinkely-Etzkorn (2018) used in the model for a FDP that sought to integrate content, pedagogy, and technology. Brinkely-Etzkorn found the endeavor challenging, and the training program was unable to achieve full integration. There were several problematic areas of the program, and the integration of the domains proved to be more complex than originally thought. The issues were that faculty members had different content expertise and levels of teaching experience and fact that technology changes faster than pedagogy. Although I did not use the TPACK framework in the current study, it is an important model because it is one of the few that focuses on the relationships among content, pedagogy, and technology.

Figure 5

Conceptualization of TCAPK Framework (Brinkely-Etzkorn, 2018)



Cognitive coaching was found to be an effective model of mentoring when more experienced faculty were paired with less experienced faculty (Bair, 2017). The less experienced faculty had identified aspects of their teaching that they wanted to improve with critical reflection and self-analysis. Cognitive coaching posits that there are five states of mind in each person (consciousness, efficacy, flexibility, craftsmanship, and interdependence) and that structured conversations between mentor and mentee can facilitate change or conversions of these states of mind. Bair (2017) examined the outcomes of a 2-year cognitive coaching program, the mentor, and mentee relationships, as well as the success of the program, which helped mentees meet their goals. The mentors learned valuable listening skills and how to build trust with mentees while remaining nonjudgmental, and mentors learned the difference between serving as a coach and being an expert.

Bair's (2017) study was based on a face-to-face training program that was adapted to a content management system in an FDP. Experienced online teachers would mentor new online teachers would establish goals and then use reflection to identify how they were meeting their goals. The mentors and mentees would have private online discussions in which coaching and reflection could take place. Mentors would be awarded for their service, and mentees would also receive recognition for participating in the program. Similarly, the current study site could utilize their experienced faculty members to serve as mentors in the online FDP and reward them with incentives such as small grants, recognition, and credit toward future pay raises. This type of program would offer professional growth opportunities for all faculty members and could help keep the expenses of the program within budget.

O'Shea Lane (2018) examined a faculty development program in a community college setting to examine the response to a semester-long program that focused on learner-centered instruction. Finding that new college instructors needed to move well-beyond their content expertise so they could meet the needs and challenges that students face. Learner–centered instruction has changed over time, and Lerner-centered instruction is a broad term with varying definitions. However, most definitions include active learning, collaboration, cooperative learning, problem-based learning, and authentic learning. O'Shea Lane (2018) stated that instructors could share their content

expertise, but they should be moving from teacher-centered instruction or transmitting knowledge, to a learner-centered model.

In the learner-centered model, instructors help their students learn to construct knowledge and build skills of critical inquiry, critical thinking, communication, and problem solving (O'Shea Lane, 2018). In the proposed model, students complete additional work and have higher learning outcomes. Greater learning may become possible when students are involved actively in learning. As they maintain engagement, they share ideas with peers in their class and work on assignments that have application and meaning in the real world (O'Shea Lane, 2018).

Leslie (2018) discussed a pilot study, including eight university faculty members who completed an online faculty development course to learn how to engage their students. The online faculty development program occurred on the campus LMS and modeled on the Trifecta of Student Engagement framework in the courses offered to faculty members. The Trifecta framework results in improvement in student engagement, satisfaction, and grades. Student-centered teaching is an essential component of ensuring engagement and the efficacy of the Trifecta model (Figure 6).

In this model, students are engaged with the course content, their peers, and their instructors as illustrated by the diagram below. When the instructors applied their new skills and the Trifecta model to their own classes, instructors reported increased student engagement, and half of the instructors reported that their students' grades had increased from 8% to 11%. Leslie's (2018) study illustrated how participation in a program

provides support, skills, and experience. In Leslie's (2018) example, instructors received firsthand experience of engagement among online students.

Figure 6

Trifecta of Student Engagement Framework (Leslie, 2018)



In another example of an approach to faculty development, Zones of Agency were developed as a model of faculty development for instructors to determine their effectiveness in teaching and their degree of presence in their online courses. Five measurable domains represented aspects of presence, showing that instructors were able to exert control and influence over the success of these domains of presence. The Zones of Agency model is a tool instructor can use to improve their experiences with presence. The five determinants were (a) content, (b) format, (c) strategies, (d) technology, and (e) students (Samuel, 2020). Samuel's (2020) study included instructors as participants in their personal online classroom environments, impacted by presence or lack of presence, which contributes to isolation. The lack of physical interaction may further contribute to a sense of isolation, which may have a negative impact on an instructors' motivation to teach online. Samuel's (2020) study focused on instructors' experiences and how their experiences could be an important source for insight about instructor's presence and engagement as well as motivation to teaching online courses. Instructor perceptions of engagement tools used to examine their teaching presence and effectiveness as well as to improve their motivation to teach online could improve student engagement and student learning.

Learning Communities and Communities of Practice

Learning communities are considered one of the top-10 high impact practices that lead to greater student outcomes. These outcomes could benefit faculty by providing them with opportunities for professional growth (Steiner, 2016). An advantage to an online faculty development program and learning community is that the programs promote scholarly teaching.

Steiner (2016) discussed a pilot program at Kennesaw State University and noted that a main contributor to its success was in a design that met the needs of faculty members with busy and diverse schedules. The program was a faculty-driven model that employed different faculty members to provide essential and urgent training, which included the scholarship of teaching and learning model and campus and community engagement. The pilot program Steiner (2016) conducted offered a course that was months in duration; it was asynchronous and 100% online. The learning modules covered educational theory and integrative assignments, the format allowed faculty participants from many disciplines to network, exchange ideas, and then apply their new knowledge and learning to their own classroom learning communities (Steiner, 2016).

Fewer than one-quarter of the faculty signed up for the program, and because the participation was low. No formal study existed. Participants responded to an anonymous survey, stating that they felt like they had experienced professional growth, appreciated access to new information and articles, and were able to use some of what they learned in their classroom learning communities (Steiner, 2016). Ongoing interaction among faculty members is well-known to be an important form of professional development, professional learning. Sharing among peers is an effective method of professional growth (Lantz-Andersson et al., 2018).

A compressive review of 52 studies of faculty learning communities published since the mid-2000 included an examination of formal and informal communities for higher education among online educators (Lantz-Andersson et al., 2018). Regardless of the intentions or outcomes, participants thought that the learning communities were important sources of support for teaching techniques and equally important as a place for meeting the social and technological needs of instructor participants (Lantz-Anderson et al., 2018).

In summarizing the main commonalities of the studies, Lantz-Anderson et al. (2018) noted that the informal learning groups were social in nature, and the protocols and conventions of informal groups were established by a single moderator and key participants. These factors could be problematic if key participants become instrumental in creating the courses offered in the professional development program. These factors would not only put the planning and power of faculty development programs into the hands of a few instructors, but those few instructors might not make choices or plan courses that align with the mission statements and long term plans of the college. This review relates the importance of a formally planned and administered faculty development program that is designed for the good of the college, faculty members, and students.

Another model or approach to a CoP is a sustainable Virtual Community of Practice (VCP) for faculty development. A VCP utilizes best practices, the most current resources, and information to support online teaching in an asynchronous online environment. Pimmel et al. (2013) created a VCP model program based on best practices associated with face-to-face teaching, web-based social networking, content management, and web-based teaching. Faculty participation was high, which could have indicated the effectiveness of the virtual model (Pimmel et al., 2013). The researchers noted that researchers used CoP's in the virtual environment to change faculty members' instructional strategies. Instructional strategies should proceed in stages, beginning with formal activities to develop trust, exchange ideas, and share experiences. Instructional strategies should then move onto more complex experiential learning activities such as re-designing courses, while discussing issues and problems with their peers (Pimmel et al., 2013).

For online faculty development to be most effective, program designers should endeavor to create conditions that foster a learning community; however, the program should offer more than a community. The program could offer technological support and disseminate information about pedagogical methods, various college resources, and requirements, as well as resources, suggestions, and practical application of methods to foster student engagement and student success (Scarpena et al., 2018).

As adult learners and professional educators, online faculty should have some voice and freedom to make decisions about participation in a faculty development program. Faculty participation cannot be optional for it to yield benefits to educators and their students. Moreover, a more practical way to measure the success of a program might shift focus toward student engagement and learning outcomes than tracking the number of clock hours' educators spend participating in faculty development (Scarpena et al., 2018).

In a survey of 143 educators, Suh and Jenson (2020) noted that although educators had placed a high value on professional connections and collaborations, they did not have an awareness about a broader community of practice, a transdisciplinary model, or the importance of making connections with educators from varied institutions and diverse fields. This study examined the professional identities of developmental educators in the context of building a stronger sense of community, shared professional identities, and banding together across disciplines and institutions to advocate for their students and their profession.

In response to criticism about the quality of learning in online courses, researchers at Boise State argued that high-quality online courses are possible when faculty members are supported and trained with skills in the pedagogical, facilitative, instructional, social, management, assessment, and technical realms (Chen et al., 2017). The researchers noted that many online instructors had not experienced learning in an online environment. They created a faculty support program that was a series of online seminars for faculty to gain firsthand experience with online learning. The seminars were designed to be authentic experiences with discussions, quizzes, and deadlines, and they were designed so the faculty could gain insight into the many issues students faced. Although the seminars were designed to support faculty members with the training of skills in the many realms, the underlying purpose of the seminars was intended for faculty to have the authentic experience learning online (Chen et al., 2017).

CoP was found to have long-term effects on instructors' performance because of interventions targeted towards networking and long-term experiential learning (Lum, 2016). Golden's (2016) research into the effectiveness of CoP showed that collaborative faculty groups were an ideal platform for supporting online faculty and were a venue in which faculty could share ideas, co-create new knowledge, discuss challenges, and find solutions through meaning-making and productive dialogue.

Limitations of a CoP were differences in faculty members' confidence, technological skills, and persistence in participation, which could be resolved partially through activities to address the social needs of faculty members as well as instilling a sense of commitment and institutional pride that might lead to a stronger sense of purpose (Golden, 2016).

Members of the National Forum for the Enhancement of Teaching and Learning (NFETL) in Dublin created a professional development program based on a new CoP framework and social theory of learning. The Irish professional development framework includes five domains that support teaching staff throughout their career and enable teachers to take charge of their own professional development. The NFETL program provides guidance for institutions, stakeholders, and policymakers. The researchers conducted a pilot program with over 215 participants who were overseen by 10 mentors for four months (Donnelly & Maguire, 2018).

The feedback received from instructors in the NFETL program indicated that the program was embraced by most participants. The instructors reported that they liked learning with peers from other disciplines, and they valued the nonjudgmental nature of the learning community where they felt safe asking questions. Instructors also reported that they liked the work on reflection as a peer group. The faculty enjoyed work assignments, and the support they found in the group seemed to reduce stress they usually experienced at busy times of the academic year (Donnelly & Maguire, 2018).

Lum Kai (2016) examined 24 faculty development studies to identify gaps in knowledge about the use of CoP in faculty development. Most studies were mixed methods or qualitative studies that included in-depth, rich narrative data collected from members of the various communities. The research indicated that in all studies, except one, CoP made a difference to educators in the practical application of knowledge, skills, tools, and social relationships.

CoP had positive and long-term effects as a result of early interventions, and longterm programs facilitated learning, networking, and developing a community of teachers was considered an unintended benefit. Another factor that influenced the effectiveness of CoP's was time. Time was required for reading, studying, and meetings, as well as time for integration of the groups so members could to get to know one another, build relationships, collaborate, and find balance between the needs of individuals and the needs of the community.

In a 6-year qualitative study, Liu et al. (2016) examined teacher professional development programs (TDP) and the various interpretations of what TPD means. They also noted that one university-based program had used the same program for many years and only focused on competency. The researchers proposed that a TPD should focus on principles associated with lifelong transformative learning, and ongoing growth and development (Liu, et al., 2016).

Lui et al. (2016) suggested TPD programs use a virtual CoP framework, with a goal-centered model to focus on the democratic potential of participants and the social aspects of learning to reinforce goals and create a self-sustaining online community. The CoP model in this study was a hybrid. Each teacher identified their personal learning goals, yet each teacher remained opened and strengthened their capacity to engage in, participate with, and learn from others in the community (Lui et al., 2016). The dynamic mix of online and face-to-face workshops, as well as social media, helped the TPD teachers grow far more than they could have if they were to attend a face-to-face annual workshop (Lui et al., 2016).

Paskevicius and Bortolin (2016) mixed methods study used the community of inquiry framework to analyze data and shared insight from faculty members' feedback about participation in a month-long faculty development program. The program was

based on the CoI framework and included a combination of online activities and face-toface meetings. Faculty members engaged at a high level in online sessions, when they were offered in advance of the face-to-face sessions, and faculty members said that they appreciated emailed reminders about upcoming activities. Overall, most faculty members believed they had a sense of connection and exchanges but did not feel that they were part of an online learning community (Paskevicius & Bortolin, 2016).

Technology and Competency in Faculty Development

Technological advances, on-going changes in higher education, and the digital environment have meant that librarians have adapted, refined, and expanded the role and purpose of academic libraries. Librarians are focusing increasingly on users of the library and what they can do to advance teaching, learning, and research to stay relevant and align the library with the services and programs that may be needed at the college (Misa, 2015).

Many libraries have begun offering online programs that consist of communitybuilding courses or webinars where faculty and students can learn and engage with librarians and with one another in a CoP environment. A FDP that includes library staff can help promote relationships across campus, build identities, reduce isolation, while building a community of learners (Kimmel et al., 2019). The primary study site is not utilizing the potential of the library and library staff of the college or supporting library staff with ongoing training. The library at the primary study site has extensive online holdings, several master's degree level librarians, and the library is able to use the LMS system. With innovation, planning, and support, the WWCC library could become an integral component of the proposed faculty development program.

To gain insight into how much training and support were provided to online faculty, researchers in the Online Learning Consortium (OLC) surveyed 73 faculty members with extensive experience teaching in the classroom and online. The survey results indicated that a mere 24% could rely on formal training, over 50% were selftaught, 26% learned informally, and only 38% thought formal training was useful (Kessler, 2016). The low percentages for the survey may suggest that a closer examination of the training is necessary to see if there is a problem with online teacher training.

Kessler (2016) argued that the best part of an online classroom is the ability to drive engagement, and program planners in higher education should not be creating faculty training or faculty development programs based on an instructivist model. Kessler (2016) stated that online teacher training programs should be focused on meaningful interactions and collaboration, skill-building through experience, and practical application of new tools and knowledge. The most effective faculty programs should provide the instructors with experience as a student, as an instructor, and peer coaching from colleagues. Effective faculty programs should provide opportunities for instructors to work with classroom instructional designers, and the instructors should spend less time listening to lectures, reading, and completing written assignments (Kessler, 2016).

Scoppio and Luyt (2017) examined the range of skills and skill gap of online instructors and observed that many instructors lacked experience with course delivery and knowledge of online pedagogy and many online instructors did not have sufficient technological skills. The researchers in this study presented two models of faculty support at two different higher educational institutions, with two different learning management systems.

Despite the differences in size of these institutions, the types of support needed, and learning management systems, Scoppio and Luyt (2017) found there were unique similarities between the institutions. The smaller institution had less funding; yet, they were still able to offer course design and support services that was adaptable and flexible to meet the changing needs of faculty. The larger institution, on the other hand, had a substantial budget, but the support system in larger institutions had to be adapted to provide a higher number of individualized support and another system for on-going support. Program planners at each study site recognized the need for a nonlinear and flexible approaches to faculty development and the need for faculty members to network and collaborate with one another to form a learning community.

Campus initiatives for faculty development programs are not always a high priority, and funding for the programs are not secure. Therefore, many colleges have difficulties remaining current about opportunities or possibilities available to support a strong program (Condon et al., 2016). Emerging data support the connection between faculty learning and student learning. Evidence on campuses show the presence of a culture of teaching and learning and strong learning communities (Condon et al., 2016). A learning community or culture of learning leads to improvement in teaching in an ongoing cycle, and on a long-term basis, learning communities promote faculty growth and development that leads to improved student outcomes, higher engagement, and higherorder student learning (Condon et al., 2016).

Bolliger and Martin (2018) used the online engagement questionnaire to survey online instructors' and online students' perceptions of the value they attached to strategies that promoted student engagement in the online classroom. The researchers examined perceptions of engagement in learner-learner interaction, learner-instructor interaction, and learner-content interactions, and found that instructors considered all forms of engagement and interactions to be more significant than students' interactions.

Faculty listed instructor presence and personal contact, relevant course content, icebreakers, collaboration, and frequent communication with students as the most important strategies to support engagement. Faculty members reported too much textual content, in-class discussions, student lounges, and synchronous class meetings as the least helpful strategies (Bolliger & Martin, 2018). Students valued some of the same items as instructors; however, they did not score those strategies very high in comparison to the instructors. Students valued posting due dates and checklists very high. Students stated that the prominent posting of these items helped them stay organized, ensured that they met all course requirements, and that they submitted assignments on time. This study by Bolliger and Martin (2018) illustrates the importance of examining faculty and student perceptions about online engagement to see where strategies and expectations are aligned and when faculty could improve engagement strategies by providing the support that their students need most.

Martin et al. (2019) examined the multiple competencies required to be an effective online instructor and interviewed 15 instructors to learn their perspectives. Findings showed that online instructors had to assume five different roles, including facilitator, course designer, content manager, subject matter expert, and teacher, with responsibilities to serve as mentors and course designers. All instructors interviewed for the study stated that they were proactive in gaining competencies by utilizing professional development programs at their institution. A professional organization such as the Online Learning Consortium and Quality Matters was available, or they found sources and learned on their own. Martin et al. (2019) recommended that program planners in colleges can use the competencies model as components or as building blocks to create faculty development programs. The faculty members' high ratings of faculty development as an important tool in supporting quality online instruction further underscores the value of supporting online faculty development.

Portugal (2016) recommended program developers at colleges identify best practices for online faculty and then employ teachers who have those characteristics and abilities, instead of relying upon academic credentials during the hiring process. Portugal (2016) conducted this phenomenological study to examine best practices of online faculty and identify which factors caused stress and burnout. One factor that created burnout was that faculty members felt an emotional need to log into their classrooms multiple times a day and to work on their courses at all hours and in excess of traditional hours. Better institutional support, including time management support, could help reduce the burnout (Portugal, 2016). This study highlighted the importance of additional ways faculty development programs could benefit faculty by offering support for the rigors and challenges online instructors face with time management.

The National Center for Education Statistics (2019) reported that 6 million students were enrolled in online courses, and 19% of enrolled students reported having a disability. Guilbaud et al. (2021) recommended higher education institutions adopt policies and revise faculty training programs to meet the needs of all students, including students with disabilities. It was recommended that program planners in colleges examine faculty perceptions and knowledge of accessibly education, practice, and legal issues, and then incorporate further accessibility training in their online FDP. Guilbaud et al. (2021) included a comprehensive assessment survey on teaching students with disabilities and a detailed faculty demographic survey to gather data prior to implementing changes in a training program.

One study on CoP examined the effectiveness of using multimedia technologies, such as social media, games, portfolios, and applications as tools not only to reach students online, but also to include different media, and integrate selected media into faculty training initiatives. Ragupathi and Hubball's (2015) faculty development initiative involved 45 new faculty members who voluntarily participated in their program at the National University of Singapore. These authors found that new online faculty members were eager and enthusiastic to learn new technologies, pedagogies, and be able to engage in a learning community or CoP with peers. The faculty members also took their new skills and their enthusiasm to their classrooms where they fostered student engagement in

discussions, social media postings, and activities that supported critical self-reflection, and many learning activities (Ragupathi & Hubball, 2015).

Riverine and Stacey (2016) discussed the long standing problems associated with implementing successful face-to-face faculty development programs. They argued that barriers to successful faculty development program can be resolved with technology and online programs. The researchers conducted a 10-year longitudinal study of an online faculty development program in a Canadian university and paid particular attention to perceptions and responses of faculty member participants. The 12 participants agreed that the online environment helped them feel as a part of a community and provided them with support as well as tools and resources to use in their classrooms. Faculty members stated they felt supported by their institution, but it was also noted that the faculty development programs had to be required in order for there to be high levels of faculty participation (Riverine & Stacey, 2016).

Scholarship and Professional Growth in Faculty Development

In a 2021 Glocalisation study at University of British Columbia (UBC), researchers examined scholarly approaches to campus initiatives and faculty development programs that embraced cultural diversity. These authors found the approaches were inclusive and offered responsive programming for faculty members in higher education. The researchers from UBC outlined a scholarly approach for faculty development that was accessible to a broader range of colleges, disciplines, and programs. They argued for a scholarly approach to faculty development and stated that parent institutions should have an invested commitment and strategic partnership with agencies or departments in the college that support the scholarship of teaching and learning model (Webb et al., 2021).

In a 2020 qualitative study, Farrell and Brunton (2020) examined online student engagement, using a case study approach. These researchers noted that there were very few in-depth reports with discussions about students' perspectives. Although their study focused on instructors' perceptions of student engagement, understanding students' perspectives on engagement could illuminate and improve an understanding of faculty member's perceptions of how students felt about engagement. The findings from the study pointed to a number of factors that affected the way students felt about engagement. An involved instructor, a strong community of peers in the online classroom, course design, and the students' life-to-school work load balance, all contributed to a sense of positive engagement. This study provided insights into successful and positive learning experiences; however, a limitation to this study was the small number of participants (Farrell & Brunton, 2020).

A mixed methods study was published with the results of a 2-year faculty development program targeted toward faculty members, with a goal of earning certification. The study included quantitative analysis to score faculty member's manners of teaching and participation both before and after the program. Qualitative analysis was used to review post-session discussions and reflection papers. The researchers in this study found that the certificate program tended to show there were changes in attitudes and behaviors of faculty members. The most notable changes were that they shifted from the old teacher-and content-based methods to student-centered and learner-centered methods of teaching (Salter & Rushe, 2020). The faculty members' responses to the program were positive and over 90% of the participants stated that the sessions had helped them develop new teaching strategies.

Ranieri et al. (2018) also argued for self-paced, accessible online faculty development programs to limit the barriers to faculty professional growth. The researchers designed a self-paced program for professional development at the University of Florence for the 2016-2017 academic year and presented their analysis and findings. The results of the quantitative study revealed that the participants were very diverse in terms of their motivation and experience, factors that played a role in the type of content participants selected. Self-paced learning meant that instructors with years of experience could pass over sections according to their skill level and their interests, and they could access the program on their own time. There were no attempts to enforce rigid schedules, orderly requirements, or to control the learning paths in the self-paced programs (Ranieri et al., 2018). Another unexpected result of the study was that the researchers found less experienced users were highly motivated, indicating that motivation was a greater incentive than experience. This finding supports the notion that online faculty members should be rewarded with incentives, and that time spent on improving their teaching practice and professional development should be recognized and rewarded.

Program developers from an Australian university created a program that challenged educators to learn new ways of engaging their students and to consider dropping the fixed, rigid, and predictable online activities designed to monitor engagement and increase attendance. In their study, the program developers followed the progress of nine highly motivated and engaged students throughout a term and found that those students defined traditional online activities as "busy work" that was not essential to learning, and in some cases, impeded learning. One example they gave was that when major assignments were coming due, students needed time to work on those assessments. The students tended to shift away from their classroom online discussion boards, and instead, focused on their major assessments or term papers. The students were engaged with their assessments and became disengaged with the discussions, despite the fact that the course did not adjust students' discussion requirements for that period (Dymet et al., 2020). Not all engagements were social and this study illustrated why program planners should expand the definition to include engagement with the course materials, as well as engagement with peers or instructors, and that online discussions need not be assigned every single week of a term.

The Tools of Engagements Project (TOEP) is a model online professional development program for the faculty and support staff at the State University of New York. TOEP uses web-based technology and social media to deliver learning activities and peer-learning communities to support life-long learning among faculty and staff. Sullivan et al. (2018) examined the final summary reflective posts in the program to understand participants' experiences in the program. The summary posts reflected that faculty members gained new knowledge from their peers, and faculty members were integrating newer technology into their courses, with an expressed intent to continue to learn when the program ended. The TOEP community is considered to be a unique learning community that nurtures faculty in a safe and supportive environment. The program was in effect consecutively for five years and was considered to be successful. Faculty members became interactive in an online social learning community. They were able to adopt additional instructional technologies into their teaching practice (Sullivan et al., 2018).

Project Description

The need for faculty development programs is greater than ever. Program planners in colleges are offering online courses and programs as a way for students to earn their college credentials or degrees. Learning outcomes could improve, and online faculty might find satisfaction and become successful educators if they are supported with tools and resources to teach and improve engagement with their online students.

Some experts agree that institutional support and funding are essential for FDPs, and that program planners at colleges should have training mandates and requirements for their online faculty members (Frass et al., 2017). It is equally important that faculty development personnel and campus stakeholders have similar thoughts about training and requirements for online learning, and that there is long term strategic planning so that the mission and goals of the FDP are aligned with the vision and the mission statement of the college for online learning programs (Haras et al., 2017).

This present study and the FDP proposal are presented in a concise form in Appendix A as a position paper to stakeholders at WWCC. A position paper was considered as an effective way to convey the results of this study, especially because I was not employed at the study site, in a position as a change agent, or was on the leadership team. A position paper is an appropriate manner to present evidence and argue for recommendations to activate initiatives for change and adopt a faculty development program (Wilson, 2012).

I have studied the problem and resources extensively, can present a strong and persuasive argument on the benefits of an FDP program, and discuss disadvantages of other programs (SFU.AA, 2022). I can also defend the merits of the program in relation to the research problem and framework, defend the data analysis results, and demonstrate how the FDP program will enact positive social change for the WWCC Faculty community and students. The proposed FDP differs from many college faculty programs that are shorter in duration, such as on-campus meetings, in-person retreats, or as an in person attendance-required workshop, or conference. Those types of in-person typical programs are shorter in duration for scheduling and logistical reasons, so that all faculty can have time away from their classes to attend the training. Often community college trainings are geared toward a specific activity or pedagogical lessons and are intended to deliver educational resources that lead to rapid instructional change (Kandakatla & Palla, 2020). The purpose and goals of this project are to transform the FDP into a CoP in order to facilitate long-term faculty support that could lead to systemic change at the individual, program, and institutional levels. The program is not targeted toward a specific date or place in time, and the program topics or learning modules are broader and more openended to facilitate differing perspectives, various disciplines, and a range of teaching experiences.

This proposed faculty development program could be useful as an asynchronous online program consisting of courses, threaded discussion topics, resources, links, and news posted about scholarship, conferences, and new technology for online educators. The FDP could be hosted on the LMS of the college that faculty and staff members use to access their online classes, resources, campus news, and information. The courses could have a start and end date reflective of the terms of the term start dates and concluding a week or two of the college before the term ends so that faculty members can focus on their students and courses at terms end. The courses could feature topics ranging from practical tips, student engagement, assessments, online pedagogy, teaching skills, discussion prompts, videos, and interactive activities.

Each course in the program could be set up in advance, in sequence, for one year, or 2-years to create a program that award credit for participation or a certificate at the conclusion. The FDP could be mandatory; however, the program should be flexible and adaptable for the faculty and staff community so that participants are able to access it at any day or time because the program is online and asynchronous. Ibrahim (2020) presented an outline of a faculty training program that could be easily adapted to an online FDP at the primary study site. Table 2 describes an overview of comprehensive online teaching training.

Table 2

Overview of Comprehensive Online Teaching Training

Module Topic		Assessments	
1	Student Learning in the Online Space	Content quiz Posting welcome message	
2	Creating Alignment	Create an alignment table	
3	Preparing Your Syllabus	Create an online syllabus	
4	Setting Up Your Canvas Site	Develop course Canvas site	
5	Using Web-conference	Record a videoconference practice session	
6	Creating Videos	Record an asynchronous video lecture	
7	Asynchronous Activities	Content quiz Practice with discussion board and voice thread	
8	Designing and Delivering	Content quiz	
	Synchronous Sessions	Develop a synchronous session lesson plan	
9	Providing Feedback to Students	Content quiz on feedback to students	
10	Online Assessment	Content quiz Demonstrate feedback to online assignment	
11	Inclusion, Accommodations and Accessibility	Content quiz	

Professional Development and Scholarship

This project study presents a model faculty development plan with suggestions to address gaps in practice for online faculty training and support program at a Western United States community college or any community college that has online courses or programs. Although the primary college site offers an array of workshops in annual programs termed Faculty Educational Workshops (FEW), the program planners of the college do not have workshops or programs geared to online teaching and online faculty, and the program planners do not help facilitate a community of practice among online educators. Moreover, many of the workshops are offered on campus, or they may require real time, on-site attendance. This option is less than ideal for supporting online instructors who have differing scheduling needs and want to become part of a community of online educators and online learners.

Although online faculty development is a rather recent field of study, faculty development is not a new field, and it is accepted widely that faculty development leads to better student learning outcomes (Condon et al., 2016). Some FDP are operated inconsistently or are operated by part-time faculty members or temporary and rotating interim directors. Haras et al. (2017) recommended that faculty development programs or teacher training centers should be funded and staffed adequately by dedicated full-time program administrators who are committed to administering a program that advances teaching quality. Haras et al. (2017) also argued that the FDP programs should be an integral partner and have a voice as participants in college-wide decisions that impact

student learning such as accreditation, institutional research, and assessments. Moreover, the FDP or program planners at the teaching center can also promote teaching expertise across programs and departments and connect the quality of teaching with student learning, with a focus toward increasing motivation and engagement among underserved students (Haras et al., 2017).

Program planners at community colleges are committed to providing education for underserved students. Online programs may help bridge the gap and increase access for underserved students. Program planners are encouraged to provide online faculty teaching support to ensure the best educational opportunities possible for students. According to Rizzuto (2017), the first steps to designing faculty development initiatives or faculty development programs are to conduct a needs assessment and solicit feedback from elearning administrative personnel and faculty who teach online.

A faculty development program needs assessment could be distributed among all faculty members who teach online courses, as well as department heads, online programmers, and online support instructional staff or assistants. The faculty development needs assessment would cover several domains and areas of potential development, such as faculty demographics to include educational level, teaching experience, teaching subjects, or topics that are of interest. The needs assessment should be completed by full-time, part-time, adjunct faculty, and teaching assistants. Including all faculty members in the assessment promotes fairness among faculty and could contribute to motivation for participation. Elliot et al.' (2015) study on faculty development included a compressive needs assessment that I adapted for the Appendix.
This needs assessment could be completed by all online faculty members, and data collected could inform the teaching topics and resources in monthly learning modules.

Toward a CoP and Model Faculty Development Program

This study was grounded by the CoI framework and research questions about student engagement, and instructional strategies instructors use to promote engagement in online classrooms. The CoI framework and the CoP model for faculty development are effective, long-term approaches; they are sustainable and adaptable to each institution. The CoI and CoP are also adaptable to faculty members' needs so they can improve teaching skills, implement best practices, network, and learn with peers (Carvalho-Filhoer & Tio, 2019).

Program planners of the college need to define and develop requirements and institutional expectations that are specific to their own campus as well as responsive and supportive of faculty and staff members (Elliot et al., 2015). Carvalho-Filhoer and Tio (2019) discussed 12 strategies for launching a successful CoP model of faculty development. The 12 strategies suggested below are to be used as a guide, rather than to be enforced as strict rules. These strategies can encompass CoPs that are grounded by different sociocultural theories and can be adapted to meet the faculty, staff, and institutional needs. The revised list of strategies is in Table 3.

Table 3

Strategies for Implementing a CoP Faculty Development Program

Strategy

- 1- Gather a core group to create and launch the progress.
- 2- Articulate the goals and value of the CoP.
- 3- Start with a specific task or project make it problem-oriented.
- 4- Keep the CoP open.
- 5- Intentionally invite members with expertise and innovative ideas.
- 6- Choose a facilitator "primus inter pares."
- 7- Make it worthwhile for members and the institution.
- 8- Work to ensure institutional support.
- 9- Promote sustainability.
- 10- Communicate success
- 11- Go online
- 122 Evaluate the CoP

Note. (Carvalho-Filhoer, et al., 2019)

Program planners at each college can create their own faculty development program, which can be revised annually to meet the changing needs of the college, faculty members, and students as well as changes in technology. The template above could be used to create an online faculty development program that is based on the CoP model. This model includes domains, components, sections, characteristics, and subjects to be included in courses and the overall program (Richardson et al., 2020). Rizzuto (2016) also recommended a template that was a self-paced model FDP as a strategic approach that could meet the needs of the faculty and the college.

Online FDP courses should remain flexible and open-ended to be of the most benefit to instructors who adopt various teaching approaches or styles. For example, it would not be helpful to focus on how to turn a lecture-based in-person class into a lecture-based online course, when many instructors might not adopt a lecture-based style in their online classes. Online professional development might have positive results when the courses in the program are modeled after the types of courses offered in the college and those faculty members design and teach (Borup & Evmenova, 2019). These researchers added that it makes sense to model training that is flexible, accessible, asynchronous, and open-ended.

Program planners could also take advantage of any number of programs, courses workshops, conferences, and offerings from the Online Learning Consortium (OLC) and the OLC Institute for Professional Development. These programs could pave the way for planners to begin offering FDPs on their own. The OLC workshops and programs could be a starting point for program planners in a college in which planners want to begin a program immediately and may need time to develop their own campus infrastructure. The OLC has certificate programs, mastery series programs, OLC workshops, webinars, as well as two annual online conferences (OLC, 2021).

OLC (2021) workshops encompass the Community of Practice (COP) model and provide a flexible and supportive framework for faculty professional development. Another option would be for the college to have dedicated online programming and online staff members to enroll in a few OLC programs or workshops, with the intention of using their experiences and learning to benefit their home institutions. The staff members then use their new skills and resources, study the needs assessments of the college and then begin building their campuses own programs within a COP and OLC framework for faculty development.

Recommendations for Faculty Development Self-Paced Course Design

A need exists for additional faculty development programs that are not only remote and asynchronous, but that are self-paced due to the varied teaching schedules of faculty members involved in teaching online at a particular college. Faculty members carry heavy teaching workloads and this means there is less time for classes, seminars, and professional training. They need courses and programs that are flexible and accessible when they are available and have time to participate.

Online FDP's support instructors as they develop new pedagogies, skills, and experiences in the online environment. Instructors can also learn new ways to integrate technology in the classrooms. These competencies can lead to higher satisfaction rates and online instructors who have positive attitudes about online teaching and learning (Adnan, 2017). Saunders (2021), an instructor who experienced completing an online FDP, stated that the use of a good program does more than offer instructors' the opportunity to network, gain new skills, and use digital tools. Program planners could use a strong program to cultivate a keen interest in emerging technologies and pedagogical practices and foster an appreciation for online learning.

Rizzuto (2017) presented a model, self-paced online program of courses that was based on design recommendations derived from a needs assessment that aligned with the needs of the instructors and the needs of the college as an educational training institution. The self-paced model Rizzuto (2017) created for this project was recommended to WWCC to consider as an example online faculty development program. This project is a template-based model, with guidelines, suggestions, and domains that are flexible, openended, and address the needs of newer and more experienced online educators. This adaptation included a Community of Practice (CoP) model to create a sense of belonging and empowerment for the faculty participants in the courses and programs at WWCC, the primary study site.

Professional development should be available and accessible to all online teaching staff, from the beginning teacher engaged in the induction process to the experienced, online instructor, the full-time and part-time, tenured, as well as adjunct faculty (Caldwell et al., 2020). The opportunity to learn and grow as professionals, while networking, should be available to all professionals.

Richardson et al. (2020) observed that the CoP and development of faculty learning communities yielded positive results and relationships among faculty members. The forming of relationships and community building were unexpected benefits that came about when faculty members participated in professional development programs of longer durations. Faculty members also were able to network and offer support to their peers throughout the length of a particular program or course instead of the limited support that might be offered at a faculty meeting or during a week-long course (Richardson et al., 2020).

Subjects and Courses

Developers and programmers should ensure the program and courses are easy to access and navigate within the content management system or learning management system currently in use. The courses should feature topics and subjects that are relevant to the faculty member's experiences. Faculty members' needs assessments could guide the planning of courses and topics. Courses should be designed to include authentic learning and problem-solving experiences. Courses should include sections with up-todate reference materials, recent publications, emerging theories, conferences, and news about the wider community of faculty members teaching online in higher education (Elliot et al., 2015).

FDP designs should focus on what to learn and how to learn, and incorporate effective online instruction to avoid the pitfall of increasing skills, yet not improving faculty members teaching practice. Moreover, a multiple pronged strategy that focuses on the types of courses as well as teaching strategies ensures courses are more accessible to faculty members. I created a nine-month long program, with modules that delineate each month's objectives, resources, and activities (see Appendix). Additionally, course syllabus and overall objectives of the FDP, which follows the monthly program modules and schedule are included.

Framework for Faculty Professional Development

Colleges that include online learning courses and programs may have higher student satisfaction and success rates when the institution fully supports faculty development with training and technology (Garrison & Akyol, 2013). A nonexperimental quantitative study on the impact of faculty development and degree status revealed that FDP, training, and faculty degree types were not a guarantee of student satisfaction and rather showed faculty longevity was a significant contributor to student satisfaction (Kane et al., 2016). The study findings led to suggestions that faculty development programs could be used as a tool for faculty retention, rather than as an instrument to improve student satisfaction.

Kane et al. (2016) noted that their study was limited by a very small sampling of student survey answers per course that might not have been fair or accurate. Kane et al. recommended further qualitative research to examine faculty perspectives on professional development to gain a stronger sense of student satisfaction and to see if student satisfaction changed over time as faculty received additional training (Kane et al., 2016).

Mohr and Shelton (2017) and Kane et al. (2016) made suggestions and outlined a framework of learning goals, topics, and domains to cover in a faculty development programs. I have listed many of the topics and domains, which could be covered in FDP courses in an online LMS at the primary study site or any college program, including implementing online courses in their FDP. I selected topics and domains aligned with the research questions in this study that focused on instructors' perceptions of student engagement and instructional strategies that might be used to promote student engagement. Table 4 describes a sample CoI framework suggested by Fiock (2020), which is a model that influenced the topics I selected for the FDP.

Table 4

Community of Inquiry Framework for Course Design

Seven principles of Good practice for the Online environment	CoI Framework Presence	Instructional activities
Student-teacher contact	Social Presence	Develop initial course activities (e.g., ice breakers) to encourage the development of swift trust (Peacock & Cowan, 2016).
		l and encourage the use of verbal immediacy behaviors in interactions with students (Richardson et al., 2009).
		Incorporate audio and video within the course content (Lowenthal & Parscal, 2008).
		Share personal stories, professional experiences, and use emoticons (Lowenthal & Parscal, 2008).
		Make many human connections early in the course to ensure all feel comfortable communicating with each other (Dunlap & Lowenthal, 2018).
	Cognitive Presence	Use content and process scaffolds to support discourse behaviors (Richardson et al., 2009). Reflect on peer-peer interactions (Redmond, 2014)
	Teaching Presence	Provide frequent opportunities for both public and private interactions (Richardson et al., 2009).
		Design diverse, activities to be completed on a flexible schedule (Richardson et al., 2009).
		Explicitly introduce participants to the importance of interaction (Stewart, 2017).
		Show your character; personality is a good thing (Dunlap & Lowenthal, 2018). Have a sense of humor and share it if and when appropriate (Dunlap & Lowenthal,

Interactions

According to Yilmaz et al. (2020), interactions and engagement are critical aspects of an online FDP; virtual CoP's in faculty development can use the campus LMS and features of that program such as chats, videos, and discussion boards. The FDP can expand to include Apps and social networking groups such as WhatsApp and Facebook as long as those groups remain private for the campus faculty and staff (Yilmaz et al., 2020).

The FDP interface in the LMS should be established to foster interactions and identify faculty members' roles as learners in the environment. The roles of facilitators and moderators of the courses should be made very clear to all enrolled in the courses and create opportunities for faculty learners to interact, seek support from, or give feedback to peers. Scholars suggested offering an array of materials that instructors can access at any time and to create optional and additional areas extend learning and grow community (Mohr & Shelton, 2017a). Finally, a good FDP should allow faculty participants opportunities for feedback on content of the program or evaluation at the conclusion of the course or program.

Motivation and Rewards

Some faculty development programs offer certificates of completion, Rushe and Salter (2020) created one- and two-year certificate programs, with post-session activities, tasks, and reflections that indicated 94% of the participants were pleased with what they learned in the program and pleased to have earned the certificate. Another type of badge

system could be to auto-dispense badges to participants on the LMS as they reach certain stages of time or a certain number of posts.

Auto-fill systems can be prepared to launch at various intervals and can be revised (Carey & Stefanie, 2018). Although FDP should be required, faculty members must remain motivated and should be rewarded for participation. Modest financial compensation and recognition award should be available to faculty participants or those who complete any type of certification. Borup and Evmenova (2019) designed a badge system for the FDP at a mid-Atlantic university for their Online Teaching Initiative (OTC Program). Figure 7 is an example of a system of digital badges that were available for faculty in an FDP (Borup & Evmenova, 2019).

Figure 7



Professional Badge System for Online Training (Borup & Evmenova, 2019

After an introduction to the project and an extensive literature review about various models of faculty development programs, I focused on a Community of Practice

framework as a model for my FDP Project. The literature review included a discussion of the benefits and limitations, promising results and outcomes from model programs. The framework for CoP by Fiock (2020) outlined seven principles for course design to consider when establishing a CoP for online faculty. Fiock's (2020) framework is flexible and can facilitate established and innovative ways to present curriculum and activities for a FDP and create opportunities for faculty members to learn, contribute, and reflect while participating in the program.

Reflections

Reflective learning is an important component to a faculty development program. The FDP creators can find ways to combine discussions and self-reflections with topics and course content. The developers can create a variety of self-reflection type discussion prompts to include critical thinking, questioning, and reflecting on past experiences, role playing, or simulation, and have faculty members maintain a learning journal (Rizzuto, 2017). Faculty development programs that are planned to highlight reflection and application make it possible for faculty participants to engage deeply with the material in the online discussions as well as in later post-session study when they can reflect on their own (Salter & Rushe, 2020).

Salter and Rushe's (2020) 2-year certificate programs for faculty development consisted of about 30 hours of study. They designed three certificates and each certificate had four main components that included required and elective courses and reflections. Another example of the power of reflections was at a Tokyo University in which all faculty members were teaching online during the 2020 global emergency. The instructors maintained a 7-week journal of their experiences, the resources they found, and problems they encountered. Instructors with extensive online teaching experience had a larger battery of skills and material to draw upon, but all instructors referenced their journals and became self-reflective teacher-learners.

Another example of journaling and reflections as effective tools to help faculty members find ways to solve their problems and improve their skills was discussed following an auto-ethnographic study. This 2020 study chronicled the experiences and analyzed the reflective journals of instructors required to teach online during the global pandemic in early 2020. Besides learning that teaching online without adequate preparation was difficult, the journals revealed that reflection-in-action and reflection-onaction were effective in helping educators refine skills during a crisis (Jung et al., 2021).

If reflective journals and reflection on action helped online instructors during an emergency, reflection, and reflective practice are important for non-emergency teaching situations. This study also highlighted challenges unprepared online instructors must face, the need for institutional support during non-emergency times and reasons why online faculty development programs should be an ongoing feature of colleges (Jung et al., 2021).

Potential Problems

Attendance and ease of access are two main obstacles to successful faculty development programs. Faculty development programs are available at most colleges and often have taken the form of in-person seminars, monthly meetings on campus, weekend retreats, or multiple day-conferences. These in-person sessions make attendance challenging.

Moreover, an FDP should be offered in the online format as a mandatory program and not a program only to overcome attendance barriers of time and place. An FDP should be offered for the opportunity to create a community of faculty learners who gain direct experience of learning online (Elliot et al., 2015). My proposed plan helps eliminate the barriers to attendance as faculty can log in anywhere or any time and participate when they are available. To avoid the potential for the program to lack participants, the FDP must be mandatory. Online instructors must register, be engaged with, and participate in, the online FDP.

Budget cuts, reduced funding, and other financial concerns are also a potential barrier to creating and supporting a long-term FDP. It is outside the scope of my proposal to create and allocate a budget; however, it is reasonable for me to argue that college stakeholders should ensure funds are available for faculty development programs. According to Wynants and Dennis (2018), it is in the best interest of an online college to ensure members of the faculty are supported and equipped to teach online to meet the needs of their students. Supporting faculty with the programs can help to transform the campus community to be seen as a college that promotes diversity and fosters success for all students (Wynants & Dennis, 2018). Perhaps a portion of the tuition of each student's online course is set aside for faculty development, in addition to funding from the annual operating budget of the college.

Program Resources and Time Line Implementation

The success of the proposed FDP is dependent upon institutional support at the primary college study site or any program planners of the college who undertake a FDP. The college leaders and the Office of Institutional Support help launch FDP by creating a faculty development program initiative, which that include enough human and financial resources for creating and sustaining the program. For example, a revised wording of the primary college study site could include language stating that they are an innovative college, engaged with diverse and changing communities. In addition, the college has four main core themes that make up strategic planning, and these core values align with the FDP, including: (a) achieving success, (b) building community, (c) advancing equity, and (d) enhancing effectiveness. The program planners of the college strongly believe students come first and a strong FDP to enhance online education may support faculty and improve student learning.

I am not employed at the primary research site and will not be employed in the future in any capacity related to launching a faculty development program. The program planners of the primary college site granted me permission to collect data for my study. The program planners asked me to share the results of my study and to submit a copy of any final formal document. My study is also a proposal to create a faculty initiative that could lead to an online faculty development program. However, I am not slated to be involved in an FDP and am presenting a position paper about the results of this study, findings, and recommendations.

The program director or elearning department head would oversee the development and implementation of the FDP, which would be launched within a 6-month time frame, with the assistance of critical team members. The elearning director could oversee a team of personnel responsible for setting up and running the program. The college personnel staff would need to include a full-time facilitator, a faculty developer, and at least one course content creator. These two staff members would work in conjunction with a technology expert and staff members assigned to support the technological needs of the program.

The college already hosts an instructor's home page on the LMS of the college. The page regularly includes news and updates; therefore, the infrastructure to host the FDP is in place. Once the shell and structure of the course are set up, which may take up to two quarter terms in the spring and summer, the program could be launched in the fall of that year. The Faculty Developer and course content creator would be full-time positions, as these personnel would remain involved to facilitate the FDP after the program was created and launched. The college employs qualified personnel in the technology department, and the support staff would be available and on call, as needed.

The FDP Developer, course content creator, and Instructional Technology Person would work full-time so that the program would be developed over a 6-month period, from January to July, and be ready to launch by late August, in time for the start of the new academic year. These staff members would need to remain on full-time status to sustain the program and to do annual revisions of the core program. The LMS could be revised annually to host new topics, new discussions, and post the latest teaching techniques or emerging theories as well as post new social tools and technological innovations.

Project Evaluation Plan

When an institution uses online technology to develop an online faculty development program, feedback provided by variety of stakeholders would be essential in building and maintaining a quality program. Research has shown that faculty development can help instructors become effective educators and gain skills that are transferable to other courses or programs (Schmid et al., 2021). Faculty members' engagement is essential in the creation, participation, assessment, and evaluation of an online teaching professional development program. The program should allow for formative and summative evaluations. Instructors can provide open-ended responses in a compressive needs assessment prior to the program, and they can become engaged in the program by sharing self-reflective experiences throughout the duration of the program (Ibrahim, 2020).

A proposed tentative timeline for evaluation is recommended (Adnan et al., 2021) and I have included a schedule suggested by Ibrahim, (2020) in Appendix A of this project. For example, in the schedule, faculty members could offer shorter summative evaluations at the conclusion of each term and then complete an annual comprehensive program assessment at the conclusion of the academic year (Adnan et al., 2021).

In addition, faculty members who have had spent years teaching online courses could also share their first-hand knowledge, answer questions, or respond to prompts by sharing experiences. Saunders (2021) suggested the sharing of experiences as an excellent way to present courses and for faculty members to discuss and connect, but faculty members cannot become the instructors or facilitators. There must be professional staff, serving the needs of the college and faculty members participating in the FDP.

Online colleges can meet the needs of their diverse students by providing their faculty members ongoing professional development that addresses evidence-based teaching strategies in an easy to access online format that creates a community of learners (Wynants & Denis, 2018). Faculty members participating in the program should have the opportunity to provide feedback on the program and a survey is also included in Appendix A. Open-ended survey questions could be submitted to faculty members at the conclusion of the annual program. Data collected from the survey could provide insight into the effectiveness of a program and provide guidance on areas that could benefit from revision and the types of courses to develop in future terms.

Project Implications

The primary college study site already committed to long-term strategic planning of their online learning departments, course, and degree programs. Online learning is an integral component of the mission of the college to provide educational opportunities to a diverse student population, including underserved and remote students, as well as adult students with work and family caregiving responsibilities. Adopting an initiative for an online faculty development program and allocating financial and human resources to sustain the program is a natural step in the process of strategic planning.

The online FDP has the potential to provide greater levels of instructional and technological support to online instructors on a consistent basis, accessible anytime,

while serving as a flexible learning platform. Online faculty can work within the FDP on their schedules and can interact with and learn from one another as a cohesive faculty community of learners as a CoP in the faculty only learning management system.

Faculty members receiving this level of support could gain new instructional techniques and teaching skills and they could experience engagement. The instructors could be exposed to new resources, emerging theories and technologies, the latest scholarship, as well as suggestions and feedback from their colleagues, while gaining firsthand experience of learning online. Instructors' could transfer their new skills and direct experiences to their courses and teaching practice, and this transfer may result in improved levels of student engagement and better learning outcomes among their students.

Final grades and higher course completion rates are very desirable outcomes, and program planners in colleges want to see improved rates in these areas. However, it may be challenging to see improved grades and higher persistence rates if online faculty and students are focused solely on these external attributes. If online faculty can simulate their own experiences and strive to create a community of learners, their online students might feel internally motivated to become engaged students as they experience higher course satisfaction rates, and better learning outcomes (Hobson & Puruhito, 2018).

The stakeholders at the primary study site include, but are not limited to the Vice Provost for instruction, the elearning director, administrators, and staff at the Office for Intuitional Research. Stakeholders at the primary study site constantly strive to offer support services and programs to improve student learning and student persistence rates. A new faculty initiative and this proposed FDP, could become an important component of the mission of the college for their online educational programs, their faculty, and their students.

This local college, as a primary site launching a new FDP program, could contribute to social change by transforming isolated online educators into collaborative scholar practitioners participating in a community of practice. Better faculty support could lead to higher student engagement and improved student outcomes, such as better grades, higher course completion, and higher graduation rates. The elearning department and FDP directors could also publish or report the FDP evaluations to the stakeholders, in academic journals, and through professional affiliations. In addition, the elearning department and FDP directors could present their findings, results, and experiences at regional and national online conferences.

Faculty members who have participated in the program could share their experiences at online conferences or write and publish papers on how the FDP enhanced their teaching skills and benefitted their students. Finally, students who become engaged highly and have better learning outcomes may be more likely to compete their courses and programs. The experience of doing well and completing courses can build students' self-esteem and contribute to their personal growth. Students can share their newfound confidence and abilities and positively impact their peers, their families, and their communities.

Conclusion

In Section 3, I provided an introduction and a rationale for an online faculty development program, based on the CoI model to create and build an on online learning community faculty members. The CoI framework is a dependable model that includes social, cognitive, and teaching presences, which can improve engagement and help to fill any gaps between instructors and students (Fiock, 2020). I conducted an extensive literature review with older and newer sources to support the creation of an online FDP, using the CoI model. This study took place over a longer period, and I was immersed in literature from 2013 to 2022, at the conclusion of my research that I conduction for this study and project.

I discussed models of various faculty development programs and recommended a project evaluation plan that could be implemented prior to the creation of the courses for the program. During this phase, the programmers could solicit information from department heads and faculty members to learn more about the types of content to include and the support faculty members want. Using a needs assessment plan and survey to collect data will provide further direction about the type of subjects the FDP should cover.

This study has implications for the field of online FDP and online teaching as it calls for faculty to participate as a community of learners and experience the online course environment of their students as learners. Faculty members' reflection and direct experience with online learning as part of a community of learners may contribute to stronger social presences in their own classes. Stronger presences could improve student engagement and course learning outcomes.

In Section 4, I discussed the project's strength, limitations, and the importance of ongoing support and training for online educators. I also discussed the limitations of my study and the small sampling size, recommendations for future research, implications for social and leadership changes, and recommendations for future research. I also included a reflection on my experience as a researcher and the potential importance of my work. I concluded the section with an introduction to the position paper and project that is presented in Appendix A, which is a flexible and adaptable model online faculty development program.

Section 4: Reflections and Conclusions

Project Strengths and Limitations

The strengths of this FDP are that it is based on successful models and solid research by experienced scholar practitioners. The plan can be launched in a few months using existing campus technological infrastructure and can be created and facilitated by a relatively small staff. The program is flexible, adaptable, and asynchronous and can be revised annually or as new technologies become available and as new developments, trends, or online pedagogies become known and available to use in online programs. Online education has been around for over 25 years, and it is clear that not only is it here to stay but that it has the potential to meet the needs of many students including working students, students with family responsibilities, students with illness and different abilities, students residing in remote locations, and students with lower income. In addition, as witnessed in the 2020 pandemic, online education has the potential to meet the educational needs of the world's population. There is much to learn from the pioneers of online education and the experiences of current educators and administrators. Moreover, research that includes data from faculty members in the field is valuable and adds strength to projects that are informed by the voices of educators.

The current study was limited to a small sample of online faculty who teach at different community colleges and universities. Although the study offered recommendations to the primary research site, the findings may be transferable to other campuses or online programs. On the one hand, the study could have been strengthened by a dedicated focus on a single college. On the other hand, collecting data from more than one study site may enable findings to be transferable to more colleges. The two main research questions that guided this research also gave the study strength and significance as the problem of student engagement and how to improve engagement were extensively reviewed in the literature. Through exploration of faculty members' perceptions at different colleges, this study could have wider appeal and broader implications for understanding student engagement and the instructional strategies online faculty members use to foster student engagement.

Recommendations for Alternative Approaches

The CoI framework includes domains from the social, cognitive, and teaching presences, which intersect and overlap while also supporting discourse and learning (Garrison et al., 2000). The framework embraces a community of learners among faculty members who are learning new skills and technology while learning from one another and being supported by their home institutions. A variety of FDPs are offered at colleges and universities by scholars, administrators, professional associations, and teaching organizations that use differing approaches, models, and frameworks that include alternate terminology and are known by various names. Although these localized and national FDPs may have different titles, most are built on a similar framework or model, and many are grounded in research by some of the same scholars.

One example of this is the Division of Teaching Excellence and Innovation at the University of California, Irvine, which developed a long-term faculty development program called the Active Learning Institute. The Active Learning Institute offers a series of workshops that culminate in a certification program. The program is dedicated to encouraging faculty members to use active learning strategies and create active learning classrooms. This program is not only for online instructors, and each workshop is offered in a scheduled time slot in a physical classroom, requiring faculty members to participate in real time and in person (Aebersold, 2019). Program planners in colleges can offer short training programs such as on-campus weekend workshops; however, the logistics of arranging the sessions and scheduling to meet the needs of all active faculty members can be challenging. As noted by Kandakatla and Palla (2020), shorter programs do not allow time for CoPs to form and do not lead to campus-wide or large-scale changes in undergraduate instruction.

Picciano (2018) proposed a multimodal framework for online education and professional faculty training, with seven elements of an online learning community:

- Content (platform, media, and games)
- Social emotional (face-to-face teaching, tutoring, advisement)
 Self-paced independent study (adaptive software)
- Dialectal/questioning (discussion board)
- Evaluation/assessment (assignments, learning analytics)
- Collaboration/student-generated content/peer review (wiki, mobile tech)
- Reflection (blog, journal).

The seven elements were unique. They were found to be adaptable, interpretive, self-paced, and flexible enough to support faculty training programs for instructors. Instructors were teaching all types of online courses. Courses included synchronous, asynchronous, hybrid online courses, and hybrid courses (Eldridge et al., 2021). Another approach to FDP planning might be seen in types of subjects or courses that are included as discussed in Ibrahim's (2020) program based on Baran's professional development framework for online teaching. Baran's framework is built on three layers of development: teaching, community, and organization. The teaching level of this model requires solid pedagogy, content-specific knowledge, and technology to better engage with students. Baran's model is also an example of a faculty community of learners that supports networking and engagement between online instructors who are engaged in the FDP. Organization is the outermost layer of the framework that draws attention to the importance of the administration, the academy, or the institution to demonstrate and commit to ongoing support of continuous professional development (Baran & Correia, 2014). Although Baran's model includes different language and concepts, the framework is a three-tier layer of support similar to the CoI framework as well as practical and immediate ways to move framework to practice.

Ibrahim's model was interactive and self-paced and offered training that could be used immediately and developed in response to the 2020 COVID-19 crisis and the need for education to be offered online (Bolisani et al., 2020). The 2020 COVID-19 crisis meant that all teachers had to get up to speed with pedagogy and technology and be teaching courses online on very short emergency notice (Hebebci et al., 2020). My study was underway before the 2020 COVID-19 pandemic impacted educational institutions globally, and I did not directly examine programs that were created in response to the emergency. However, there are some lessons to be learned from programs and support services created during the 2020 pandemic, not the least of which underscores the importance of well-developed online FDPs and faculty members with the skills,

experience, and readiness to teach online.

Figure 8

Translation of Professional Development Framework Into Online Teaching Training



Note. Scholarship, Project Development and Evaluation, and Leadership and Change (Baran & Correia, 2014).

Scholarship, Project Development and Evaluation, and Leadership and Change Scholarship

During my time spent researching the background for this study, I learned that the concept of faculty development dated as far back as the 1950s and that many online colleges had been implementing faculty development programs since online education became available (see McQuiggan, 2012). I became aware of the importance of online faculty support and came to understand that colleges must provide continuous, organized institutional support to ensure the quality of their online programs; however, it was not clear to me that formal support was always offered to online instructors. During the

course of reviewing my survey answers, I got the impression that many faculty members who participated in my study were not fully supported by their colleges with formal programs. I also got the impression that they were overworked, that they were short on time, that their classes rolled by quickly, and that they were somewhat on their own teaching online. Perhaps I read between the lines or brought a bias into my impressions. At any rate, my impressions reminded me of when I served as a graduate teaching assistant to professors who were beginning to teach online in the mid-1990s. My supervising professors were on their own to design and teach their courses on early textbased platforms, and they did not have any form of informal or formal institutional support. Now most colleges offer some form of informal support, encourage networking and collaboration, and may require training. More colleges have formal FDPs, and there are many resources available to support colleges and individuals. There are many published studies and journals, training and conferences, as well as professional associations and national programs to support faculty development (National Center for Faculty Development and Diversity, 2022).

Eiselein et al. (2019) argued that FDPs are necessary for colleges to achieve their goals of optimal student learning and student success. There are challenges associated with establishing a first-year experience program and delivering it to college faculty members with diverse backgrounds and teaching experience. Eiselein et al. stated that the challenges can be overcome with concerted efforts toward improving conditions for students such as learning outcomes and better attrition and graduation rates. The firstyear experience program should also positively impact faculty members and result in a higher satisfaction rate, a stronger sense of engagement, and attainment of new teaching skills and refinement of teaching practices. Eiselein et al. reported that 24 of 30 faculty members completed their first-year experience course, and results were positive. A total of 96% of participants reported that they gained new skills, that the content of the program was relevant, and that their teaching efficacy had increased by 40%.

FDPs may be associated with the programs in the scholarship of teaching and learning (SoTL). SoTL is the study of student learning with the goal to improve learning and enhance teaching through publishing or presenting experiences, research, or the results of classroom practice (Felton, 2013). SoTL has a long history and is a compliment to FDP, but it differs from faculty development in that it involves examining how students are responding to the instructor's teaching (Felton, 2013) rather than teaching faculty members new skills in courses or programs among their peers. There has been a tendency to equate SoTL with other programs and activities or to say various approaches overlap; however, this is not the case with SoTL and FDP (Boshier, 2009). Faculty development will be different at each college and is dependent on the needs and culture of each institution, their faculty, and their student population (Potter, 2011). For this reason, I have recommended and included a model FDP needs assessment to be completed before project development and have provided a model for summative and formative evaluation. I have opted to present a position paper in the appendix to convince stakeholders at the study site of the value of this research on student engagement and the importance of my recommendations for a FDP.

Project Development and Evaluation

FDPs should have methods of internal evaluation by the faculty participants, administrative personnel, and external review (Hines, 2009). A program could be evaluated with different approaches and use various methods in each approach. One approach would be to evaluate participation by tracking attendance, and another approach would be to survey participant satisfaction. Participant satisfaction could be assessed with satisfaction surveys regarding the program's impact on teaching; these surveys could be faculty self-reporting or student surveys (Hines, 2009). In most models, courses are designed and evaluated afterward, and evaluation cannot always be related to proof of satisfaction or learning outcomes (Jaggars & Xu, 2016).

Martin et al. (2019) proposed a conceptual framework for effective online course design with overlapping domains that included recommendations for design, facilitation, and evaluation. Martin et al. proposed that forms of assessment and evaluation be part of a course design process from the beginning to the conclusion of the program. In my FDP, I suggested a schedule of formative and summative assessments and program of evaluation (see appendix).

A FDP has the potential to improve faculty support systems, and the impact of a program can increase over time if the faculty developer and college stay up to date on faculty development. The college could affiliate with Magna and subscribe to the associated peer reviewed publication *Journal of Faculty Development*. Magna is a professional organization founded over 50 years ago with a mission to provide faculty development and leadership support in higher education. In addition to the *Journal of*

Faculty Development, Magna offers many resources such as hosting conferences and offering online courses and programs, and they remain up to date with technology, pedagogy, and administration (Magna Publications, 2022).

Leadership and Change

Campus leadership and organization change is a complex process; organizational theory and organization identity are fields of study that could inform campus leaders as they move forward to enact change (Kezar, 2018). Kezar (2018) recommended that in lieu of undertaking complex research in a new field, leaders and change agents should assess their missions and goals, their organizational identity, and their strengths prior to enacting change or adopting new initiatives. The literature and research studies I read in preparation for this research, both in advance and throughout the duration of this study, have helped me realize that the strength of an institution's online program will be determined by the college's leadership, strategic planning, long-range goals, institutional support, funding, and initiatives that support FDPs. The learning outcomes for students are dependent on faculty members' online teaching skills and institutional support (Condon et al., 2016). Instructors must be equipped with pedagogical and technological skills to integrate and adapt to online teaching (Adnan, 2017). The success of a college's online program will be reflected in levels of student engagement, persistence, and success rates (Eiselein et al., 2019). College leadership, institutional stakeholders, and faculty development staff must remain committed and up-to-date with the types of resources, materials, and technological tools they deliver to faculty members. College leadership, institutional stakeholders, and faculty development staff should also be flexible and

adaptable to change with an understanding of the scholarship of change and that change in college policies or initiatives can be a complex process (Kezar, 2018).

Reflective Analysis

This research project required several years to complete, and I faced obstacles in collecting data as participants did not respond or commit to inquiries for in-person or telephone interviews. The potential participants did not have the time to commit to real-time scheduling or to respond to long survey emails in their inboxes. I was obliged to revise my data collection methods on two different occasions, which meant extra time was needed for new requests to IRB for approval. Later, when I had a data collection method that had IRB approval and was more flexible for faculty members, their participation was delayed by the global pandemic of 2020, which created extra work and stress for educational instructions and faculty members. Later in the year, faculty members were more eager to participate; the online Google Docs survey was a tool that faculty members could complete on their own terms and on their own schedule.

I experienced firsthand what it was like to expect or request extra work and effort from busy college instructors. I also realized that online faculty were stretched for time, had heavy workloads, and that they needed to be able to take on extra work or commitments on their own terms. The instructors were able to find time to participate in this research project after I adapted the delivery and data collection methods to an accessible and flexible format. Not only did I discover that adaptation and flexibility were essential for my study, but I also became convinced that faculty development courses and programs had to be offered in an accessible and flexible online format. The literature supported my realization (Rizzuto, 2017). I gained a keen respect for the pressures and heavy workloads that college instructors faced daily. My experiences and realizations influenced how I approached an FDP design and affirmed commitment to an asynchronous online flexible plan.

The longer duration of my study meant that I was immersed in researching and reading new articles and studies for several years longer than would be required for a typical doctoral study. The act of researching, finding studies, making connections between studies, tracking down sources and citations, and considering how different studies could apply to or be used in my own work was a very enjoyable aspect of this project. I also liked the stage of data collection and reviewing data, and I appreciated studying the responses to my survey questions.

Reflection on Importance of the Work

In this study, I wanted to learn about how online college instructors perceived student engagement and the types of strategies they used in their classrooms to foster engagement. I examined the research questions and the faculty survey responses through the lens of a Community of Inquiry framework to understand the social, cognitive, and teaching presences within an online classroom and created a faculty development program based on the CoI. Faculty development must broaden and expand programs and how programs are presented to support faculty members so they have tools and skills to improve student engagement and learning outcomes for online courses. Programs that are flexible, adaptable, and self-paced, will meet the needs of the fast paced environment that faculty members navigate daily as they have assumed ever increasing teaching workloads (Rizzuto, 2017). The findings of this study and proposed FDP will be presented to the primary study site, community college, elearning directors, and the lead contacts at the Office of Assessment and Intuitional Research (OAIR) at the college.

Personnel at the OAIR were supportive of my research proposal, readily provided approval for data collection procedures, and requests to learn about the results of my research. At the time I stated, I submitted a copy of my final study and all recommendations when my study was completed. If program planners at the college were to consider adopting my FDP in the online format and utilize existing infrastructure, program planners would be providing a resource that could have a positive impact on the faculty members and their students. Improving online courses and providing support for faculty members is part of the program planners' long range intuitional goals. If my program were adopted, it could contribute to social change by facilitating a scholarly community of learners among the campus faculty members. Social change would also occur if the program led to higher levels of faculty engagement, improved teaching resources and techniques, and offered up-to date technological tools in a cost-effective, flexible, and adaptable online program. Finally, the FDP could contribute to the most notable aspect of social change; higher student engagement and measurable levels of student success, such as better course completion rates, improved learning outcomes, and higher student satisfaction rates on the end-of-term course feedback surveys.

Implications, Applications, and Directions for Future Research

This study has implications for program developers who are implementing and improving faculty development programs by offering flexible, self-paced sessions, courses, and programs accessible at any time via the online learning management system of the college. By offering authentic courses with peer interactions, and discussions within a CoI and CoP framework, faculty members could be able to network, support, and learn from one another, while having a first-hand experience of online learning. Faculty members experience the learning centered environment similar to the classrooms they teach as their students engage with their peers, course instructors or facilitators, and with course materials and content.

Interested researchers could conduct a similar study, using the frameworks of adult learning theory (Merriam, 2017) and transformative learning theory (Mezirow, 1997), and this research could be helpful for educators who are transitioning from inclass to online-teaching and are resistant to change. Using transformative learning theory means that faculty members are viewed as adult learners, with the ability to adapt, learn new techniques, and change their beliefs. One point to note is that instructors could spend time reflecting on teaching and learning experiences in this model, and that this part of transformation should be incorporated in a FDP program for online teaching (McQuiggan, 2012).

McQuiggan (2012) noted that all faculty members are able or willing to reflect or challenge their assumptions and beliefs. Many faculty members also stated that there was not enough time for reflection on their teaching practice, professional growth, or to be engaged with their colleagues about the transformative learning processes. However, the time constraints could be reduced if activities and discussions about new beliefs or changes in perspectives were shared in the online program as part of the participation. I believe this study could be conducted to include a higher number of online faculty member participants. A larger pool of subjects could yield additional data that could provide increased insight into how faculty members view student engagement and determine actions and skills being used to encourage engagement. I could reframe several of my survey questions in order for instructors to offer specific examples of assignments or activities and explain the approaches used for teaching in more detail. The need to ask for clarification or probe for specific answers is an example of why I wanted to originally do in-person or scheduled phone call interviews.

Benefits to the Google Docs online survey forms were obvious, but a significant drawback to these forms was that the format did not allow an opportunity for me to gather specific faculty demographic information and ask questions that prompted participants to open up and share. A future study might include faculty demographic survey created for use to generate the first participant recruitment emails (Table 5), which was created for this study, but unused due to format changes. Years of teaching experience and a description of academic disciplines are important variables that might have a significant impact on the types of answers respondents provide and could affect the data collected from the survey.

Table 5

Faculty Demographics

Participant YTE Discipline T Course Online Teaching

Note. Table adapted from (Cavalier, 2014). YTE = Years of Teaching Experience; T Course =Traditional Course

Socialization and online networks are changing rapidly and are incorporating the latest technologies to meet the needs of people in social, workplace, lifestyle, and educational contexts. The importance of research and allocating resources to faculty development programs cannot be overstated and should be a key component of a long-term strategic planning in colleges. Program planners in colleges should consider employing both an elearning program director and a director of online faculty development. A successful online FDP can be achieved with key personnel, adequate budgeting, allocations, and use of existing resources and staff who are working on campus.
The proposed online FDP in this study has the potential to create a faculty community of practice that will provide faculty with more support and more instructional strategies to use in their online classrooms to better engage their students. A need for faculty members to engage in ongoing study, research, and networking to improve their own teaching practice, and this could result in higher quality online educational programs, students that are better engaged and more successful learners.

Conclusion

This study was an examination of online faculty members' perceptions of student engagement in their online classrooms and how instructors described their instructional strategies and online classroom teaching experiences. The Community of Inquiry (CoI) (Garrison, Anderson, & Archer, 2009) and Community of Practice (CoP) (Wenger, 2011) frameworks guided the research and recommendations presented in this study based on the premise that social, cognitive, and teaching presences are critical to student engagement and improved learning and outcomes.

This project study includes qualitative data that I collected from 10 full-time faculty members at three separate colleges. Faculty members responded to a comprehensive online survey questionnaire with 15 open-ended essay questions from a standardized instrument based on perceptions and practices of online instructors. All faculty members were teaching full-time, had heavy workloads, and also had least two years of online-teaching experience. Data analysis was completed by hand, and coding was performed in several stages to find emerging and developing themes. Findings from this study could have implications for social change through the adoption of campus initiatives and professional development programs to provide ongoing support to instructors who teach online.

This project study also includes examples and discussions of how to create a flexible, adaptable faculty development program offered online and using many current resources, including the LMS of the college. The proposed FDP could lead to highly engaged faculty members who have an opportunity to gain new skills and experiences in an online community of learners. The instructors could also gain enhanced teaching and technological skills; skills they could use in their classrooms to strive for higher levels of student engagement, better learning outcomes, and higher course completion rates. Perhaps the most important aspect of this study is that the research features a CoI model online faculty development plan as an approach to support online faculty.

The FDP could be launched in 6 to 9 months with the existing LMS technological infrastructure and key staff members working as a team. Once launched, this online program could continue with yearly revisions, additions and advancements, and this program could benefit the campus community of teacher-learners by providing up-to-date, adaptable, and flexible support. The FDP has the potential to transform an online campus faculty community, and consequently, the online student community. Higher levels of faculty and student engagement could lead to improved learning outcomes and better course completion rates. It could be further argued that increased faculty and student engagement and support for a campus community of learners could benefit instructors, students, the elearning department, and the program planners of the college that invest in faculty development.

References

Adedoyin, O. B., & Soykan, E. (2020): Covid-19 pandemic and online learning: The challenges and opportunities. *Interactive Learning Environments*, 1–11. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10494820.2020.1813180</u>

Aderibigbe, S. A. (2020). Online discussions as an intervention for strengthening students' engagement in general education. *Journal of Open Innovation: Technology, Market, and Complexity*, 6(4), 1–15.

https://doi.org/10.3390/joitmc6040098

- Adnan, M. (2017). Professional development in the transition to online teaching: The voice of entrant online instructors. *ReCALL*, 30(1), 88–111. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/S0958344017000106</u>
- Adnan, M., Kaleliouglu, F., & Gulbahar, Y. (2021). Assessment of a multinational online faculty development program on online teaching: Reflections of candidate etutors. *Turkish Journal of Distance Education*, 18(1), 22–38. https://doi.org/10.17718/tojde.285708
- Aebersold, A. (2019). The Active Learning Institute: Design and implementation of an intensive faculty development program. *Journal on Centers for Teaching & Learning*, 11(1), 24–38.

https://openjournal.lib.miamioh.edu/index.php/jctl/article/view/200/105

Akroyd, D., Patton, B., & Bracken, S. (2013). Factors that predict full-time community college faculty engagement in online instruction. *Community College Journal of*

Research and Practice, *37*(3), 185–195.

https://doi.org/10.1080/10668926.2013.739512

Allen, I., & Seaman J. (2011). Going the distance: Online education in the United States.Babson Survey Research Group.

http://www.onlinelearningsurvey.com/reports/goingthedistance.pdf

- Allen, I., & Seaman, J. (2013). Changing course: Ten years of tracking online education in the United States. Babson Survey Research Group and Quahog Research Group. https://www.bayviewanalytics.com/reports/changingcourse.pdf
- Allen, I. E., & Seaman, J. (2016). Online report card: Tracking online education in the United States. Babson Survey Research Group and Quahog Research Group, LLC. <u>http://onlinelearningsurvey.com/reports/onlinereportcard.pdf</u>
- Allen, I. E., & Seaman, J. (2017). *Digital learning compass: Distance Education Enrollment Report*.

https://onlinelearningsurvey.com/reports/digtiallearningcompassenrollment2017.p df

Anderson, T., & Garrison, D. R. (1998). Learning in a networked world: New roles and responsibilities. *Distance Learners in Higher Education: Institutional Responses for Quality Outcomes*.

https://auspace.athabascau.ca/bitstream/handle/2149/801/learning in a.pdf?sequ

Angelino, L. M., & Natvig, D. (2009). A conceptual model for engagement of the online learner. *The Journal of Educators Online*, 6 (1), 1–19. <u>https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ904059.pdf</u>

- Bailey, A., Vaduganathan, N., Henry, T., Laverdiere, R., & Pugliese, L. (2018). Making digital learning work: Success strategies from six leading universities and community colleges. The Boston Consulting Group and Arizona State University. https://edplus.asu.edu/sites/default/files/BCG-Making-Digital-Learning-Work-Apr-2018%20.pdf
- Bair, M. A. (2017). Faculty development through cognitive coaching. *The Journal of Faculty Development*, 31(3), 79–85.

https://scholarworks.gvsu.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1015&context=coe_art icles

Bala, M., Kaskuk, J., Moore, E. E., Catena, F., Leppaniemi, A., Coccolini, F., Pietzman,
A., Sartell, M., Surge, M., Fraga, D., Di Saverio, S., & Kluger, Y. (2018).
Establishing position papers by the WES. *World Journal of Emergency Surgery*, 13(1), 1–4.

https://wjes.biomedcentral.com/track/pdf/10.1186/s13017-018-0163-8.pdf

- Bambara, C. S., Harbour, C. P., Davies, T. G., & Athey, S. (2009). Delicate engagement: The lived experience of community college students enrolled in high-risk online courses. *Community College Review*, *36*(3), 219–238.
 <u>https://www.learntechlib.org/p/73669/</u>
- Baran, E.& Correia, A. P. (2014). A professional development framework for online teaching. *TechTrends: Linking Research and Practice to Improve Learning*, 58(5), 95–101. <u>https://www.learntechlib.org/p/154271/</u>

Bogdan, R. C., & Biklen, S. K. (2007). *Qualitative research for education: An Introduction to theories and methods* (5th ed.). Allyn & Bacon.

Bolisani, E., Fedeli, M., Bierema, L., & De Marchi, V. (2020). United we adapt:
Communities of practice face the Corona Virus crisis in higher education. *Knowledge, Management Research & Practice*, 1-6.
https://doi.org/10.1080/14778238.2020.1851615

Bolldén, K. (2016). Teachers' embodied presence in online teaching practices. *Studies in Continuing Education, 38*(1), 1-15.

https://doi.org/10.1080/0158037X.2014.988701

- Bollinger, D. U., & Martin, F. (2018). Instructor and student perceptions of online student engagement strategies. *Distance Education*, 39(4), 568-583. https://doi.org/10.1080/01587919.2018.1520041
- Borup, J., & Evmenova, A. S. (2019). The effectiveness of professional development in overcoming obstacles to effective online instruction in a college of education. *Online Learning*, 23(2), 1-20.

https://olj.onlinelearningconsortium.org/index.php/olj/article/view/1468

Boshier, R. (2009). Why is the scholarship of teaching and learning such a hard sell? *Higher Education Research & Development, 28*(1), 1–15.

http://matsusemi.saloon.jp/wp-content/uploads/2012/07/Boshier-Roger20091.pdf

Breivik, J. (2016). Critical thinking in online educational discussions measured as progress through inquiry phases: A discussion of the cognitive presence construct

in the Community of Inquiry Framework. *International Journal of E-Learning & Distance Education*, 32(1), 1-16. https://hdl.handle.net/10037/10768

Brinkely-Etzkorn, K. F. (2018). Learning to teach online: Measuring the influence of faculty development training on teaching effectiveness through a TPACK lens. *The Internet and Higher Education, 38*, 28-35.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.iheduc.2018.04.004

- Brokensha, S., & Greyling, W. (2015). Dispelling e-myths and pre-empting disappointment: Exploring incongruities between instructor's intentions and reality in asynchronous online discussions. *South African Journal of Higher Education, 29*(4), 50-76. <u>https://journals.co.za/doi/pdf/10.10520/EJC182456</u>
- Brown, L. (2014). Constructivist learning environments and defining the online learning community. *Journal on School Educational Technology*, 9(4), 1-6. <u>https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1097626.pdf</u>
- Buck, S. (2016). In their own voices: Study habits of distance education students. *Journal of Library & Information Services in Distance Learning*, 10(3–4), 137–173. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/1533290X.2016.1206781</u>
- Bunk, J., Li, R., Smidt, E., Bidetti, C., & Malize, B. (2015). Understanding faculty attitudes about distance education: The importance of excitement and fear. *Online Learning*, 19(4), 132-142. <u>https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1079611.pdf</u>
- Butz, N.T., & Stupnisky, R.H. (2017). Improving student relatedness through an online discussion intervention: The application of self-determination theory in synchronous hybrid programs. *Computers & Education*, 114(2017), 117–138.

https://commons.und.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=2752&context=theses

- Caldalora, R. (2014). The effectiveness of online discussion forums on course outcomes. *Global Education Journal, 2014* (1), 118-136.
- Caldwell, H., Whewell, E., Heaton, R. (2020). The impact of visual posts on creative thinking and knowledge building in an online community of educators. *Thinking Skills and Creativity*, 36. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tsc.2020.100647</u>
- Capra, T. (2014). Online education from the perspective of community college students within the Community of Inquiry paradigm. *Community College Journal of Research and Practice, 38*, 108-121.

https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/10668926.2014.851949

- Carey, K. L., & Stefaniak, J. E. (2018). An exploration of the utility of digital badging in higher education settings. *Educational Technology Research and Development*, 66(5), 1211–1229. <u>https://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ1190138</u>
- Carvalho-Filho, M. A. Tio, R. A., & Steinert, Y. (2020). Twelve tips for implementing a community of practice for faculty development. *Medical Teacher*, 42(2), 143-149. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/0142159X.2018.1552782</u>
- Castellanos-Reyes, D. (2020). 20 years of the community of inquiry framework.
 TechTrends: Linking Research and Practice to Improve Learning, (64), 4, 570-560. https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s11528-020-00491-7
- Cavalier, J. (2014). Increased enrollments in online courses in a community college and the impact on faculty attitudes (Doctoral dissertation).

Center for Community College Student Engagement (2017).

http://www.ccsse.org/center/about_cccse/overview.cfm

- Chang, C., Shen, H., & Liu, E. (2014). University faculty's perspectives on the roles of einstructors and their online instruction practice. *The International Review of Research in Open and Distance Learning*, 15(3), 72-92. https://doi.org/10.19173/irrodl.v15i3.1654
- Charbonneau-Gowdy, P. (2017). Moving Outside the box: Researching e-Learning in disruptive times. *The Electronic Journal of e-Learning*, 15 (1), 59-69. <u>https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1140099.pdf</u>
- Chen, K. Z., Lowenthal, P. R., Bauer, C., Heaps, A., & Nielson, C. (2017). Moving beyond smile sheets: A case study on the evaluation and improvement of an online faculty development program. *Online Learning*, 21(1), 87-111. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.24059/olj.v21i1.810</u>
- Cho, M. H., & Tobias, S. (2016). Should instructors require discussion in online courses? Effects of online discussion on community of inquiry, learner time, satisfaction, and achievement. *International Review of Research in Open and Distributed Learning*, 17(2), 123-140. <u>https://doi.org/10.19173/irrodl.v17i2.2342</u>
- Cohen, J., & Dolandson, K. (2021). The impact of learning design interventions on student satisfaction in an online higher education environment. *The International Journal or Technologies in Learning*, 28 (1), 2327-2686. https://doi.org/10.18848/2327-0144/CGP/v28i01/45-58

Community of Inquiry. (2016). COI interactive website. https://coi.athabascau.ca/

- Condon, W., Iverson, E. R., Manduca, C. A., Rutz, C., & Willett, G. (2016). *Faculty development and student learning: Assessing the connections*. Indiana University Press.
- Cook, D. A., & Streindert, Y. (2013). Online learning for faculty development: A review of the literature. *Medical Teacher*, 35, 930-937. https://doi.org/10.3109/0142159X.2013.827328
- Creswell, J. W., & Poth, C. N. (2017). *Qualitative inquiry and research design: Choosing among five approaches* (4th ed.). Sage Publications.
- Creswell, J. W. (2012). *Educational research: Planning, conducting, and evaluating quantitative and qualitative research* (Laureate custom ed.). Pearson.
- Cutsinger, M. M., Wall, T. J., & Tyler, T. (2018). Differences of instructor presence levels in predominately online versus predominately not online courses within the community College setting. *Online Journal of Distance Learning Administration*, 21 (2), 1-16. <u>https://www.learntechlib.org/p/188450/</u>
- Davidson, C. & Wilson, K. (2013 and 2014). Reassessing Tinto's model of social and academic integration in student retention. *Journal of College Student Retention: Research, Theory & Practice, 15* (3), 329-346 <u>https://doi.org/10.2190/CS.15.3.b</u>
- Della Noce, D. J., Scheffel, D. L., & Lowry, M. (2014). Questions that get answered: The construction of instructional conversations on online asynchronous discussion boards. *MERLOT Journal of Online Learning and Teaching*, 10(1), 80-86. https://jolt.merlot.org/vol10no1/dellanoce_0314.pdf

Dixon, C. S. (2014). The three E's of online discussion. *The Quarterly Review of Distance Education*, *15*(1), 1–8.

Donnelly, R., & Maguire, T. (2018). Supporting teaching and learning transformations through the national professional development framework: Establishing and recognizing an inclusive community of practice for all who teach in Irish higher education. *All Ireland Journal of Teaching and Learning in Higher Education*, 10(1), 3391-33917. <u>https://arrow.tudublin.ie/ltcart/61/</u>

- Dymet, J., Stone, C., & Milthorpe, N. (2020). Beyond busy work: Rethinking the measurement of online student engagement. *Higher Education Research & Development*, 39(7), 1440-1453. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/07294360.2020.1732879</u>
- Eib, B.J. & Miller, P. (2006. Faculty development as community building. *International Review of Research in Open and Distance Learning*, 7 (2), 1-15. <u>https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ806041.pdf</u>
- Eldridge, D., Watts, R., Guy, G. M., Ialongo, E., & Zoe, L. (2021). Collaborative faculty professional development: Bringing the classroom to the screen. *Journal of Higher Education Theory & Practice*, 21(11), 86–97.
- Eiselein, G., Saucier, D. A., & Marcaraschwili, C. E. (2019). Designing, implement, and sustaining faculty development: A model for large and diverse FYE programs. *New Forums Press*, 33 (2), 43-48. <u>https://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ1216765</u>
- Elliot, M., Rhoades, N., Jackson, C. M., & Mandernach, B. J. (2015). Professional development: Designing initiatives to meet the needs of online faculty. *Journal of Educators, 12*(1). <u>https://www.learntechlib.org/p/159266/</u>

- Elliott, R., & Oliver, D. E. (2016). Linking faculty development to community college student achievement: A mixed methods approach. *Community College Journal of Research and Practice*, 00, 85-99. <u>https://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ1084166</u>
- Faculty Survey of Student Engagement (FSSE). (2017). 2017 Survey Instrument. https://fsse.indiana.edu/html/survey_instruments.cfm
- Farrell, O., & Brunton, J. (2020). A balancing act: A window into online student engagement experiences. *Journal of Educational Technology in Higher Education, 17*(25), 1-19. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s41239-020-00199-x</u>
- Fear, W. J., & Erikson-Brown, A. (2014). Good quality discussion is necessary but not sufficient for asynchronous tuition: A brief review of the literature. *Journal of Asynchronous Learning Networks*, 2(18), 22-28.

https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1036265.pdf

Felton, P. (2013). Principles of good practice in SoTL. *Teaching and Learning Inquiry, The ISSOTL Journal* (1), 121-125. <u>https://doi.org/10.2979/teachlearninqu.1.1.121</u>

Fiock, H. (2020). Designing a Community of Inquiry in Online Courses. *The International Review of Research in Open and Distributed Learning*, 21(1), 135-153. https://doi.org/10.19173/irrodl.v20i5.3985

Frass, L. R., Rucker, R. D., & Washington, G. (2017). An overview of how four institutions prepare faculty to teach online. *Journal of Higher Education, 1*(1), 1-7.
https://sipa.sc.edu/about/offices and divisions/cte/instructional design/docs/over

view how four institutions prepare faculty teach online.pdf

- Frazer, C., Sullivan, D. H., Weatherspoon, D., & Hussey, L. (2017). Faculty perceptions of online teaching effectiveness and indicators of quality. *Nursing Research and Practice*, 9374189, 1-6. <u>https://doi.org/10.1155/2017/9374189</u>
- Garrison, D. R., Anderson, T., & Archer, W. (2000). COI Model. The Community of Inquiry. <u>https://coi.athabascau.ca/coi-model/</u>
- Garrison, D. R. & Vaughn, N.D. (2008). *Blended learning in higher education: Framework, principles, and guidelines.* John Wiley & Sons.
- Garrison, D. R., & Akyol, Z. (2013). The community of inquiry theoretical framework. In Moore, M. G. (Ed.). *Handbook of distance education* (3rd. ed., pp. 104-120).Routledge.
- Gillett-Swan, J. (2017). The challenges of online learning: Supporting and engaging the isolated learner. *Journal of Learning Design*, 10(20), 20-30. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.5204/jld.v9i3.293</u>
- Gläser, J., & Grit, L. (2013). Life with and without coding: Two methods for early-stage data analysis in qualitative research aiming at causal explanations. *Forum Qualitative Research*, 14(2), 1-37. https://doi.org/10.17169/fqs-14.2.1886
- Golden, J. E. (2016). Supporting online faculty through communities of practice: finding the faculty voice. *Innovations in Education & Teaching International*, 53 (1), 84-93. https://doi.org/10.1080/14703297.2014.910129
- Guilbaud, T. C., Martin, F., & Newton, X. (2021). Faculty Perceptions on Accessibility in Online Learning: Knowledge, Practice and Professional Development. *Online Learning*, 25(2), 6–35. <u>https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1301723.pdf</u>

Gunbatar, M. S., & Guyer, T. (2017). Effects of inquiry types on states related to community of inquiry in online learning environments: An explanatory case study. *Contemporary Educational Technology*, 8(2), 158-185.
 <u>https://doi.org/10.30935/cedtech/6193</u>

Haras, C., Taylor, S. C., Zakrajsek, T., Ginsberg, M., & Glover, J. (2017). Promising practices in assessment of faculty development outcomes. *Intuitional Commitment to Teaching Excellence: Assessing the Impacts and outcomes of faculty development. American Council on Education, 29*-45.
https://www.acenet.edu/Documents/Institutional-Commitment-to-Teaching-

- Harasim, L. E. (1990). Online education: Perspectives on a new environment.Greenwood Publishing Group, Inc.
- Harper, S. R., & Quaye, S. J. (2009). Student engagement in higher education: Theoretical perspectives and practical approaches for diverse populations. Routledge.
- Harrington, D. (1999). Teaching statistics: A comparison of traditional classroom and programmed instruction/distance learning approaches. *Journal of Social Work Education, 35*(3), 343-352. <u>https://www.jstor.org/stable/23043560</u>
- Harris, R., Blundell-Birtill, P., Sutherland, E., & Pownall, M. (2021). Students' perceptions of online lecture delivery: An empirical mixed-methods investigation Psychology Teaching Review, 27(1), 69-78. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1304623.pdf

- Hebebci, M. T., Bertiz, Y., & Alan, S. (2020). Investigation of views of students and teachers on distance education practices during the Coronavirus (COVID-19)
 Pandemic. *International Journal of Technology in Education and Science* (*IJTES*), 4(4), 267-282. <u>https://doi.org/10.46328/ijtes.v4i4.113</u>
- Heinrich, E., Henderson, M., & Dalgarno, B. (2016). From tinkering to systemic change: The potential of educational technologies. *Australasian Journal of Educational Technology*, 32(2), 1-3. <u>https://doi.org/10.14742/ajet.3219</u>
- Hew, K. F., & Hara, N. (2007). Empirical study of motivators and barriers of teacher online knowledge sharing. *Technology Research & Development*, 55 (6), 573-595.
- Hines, S. R. (2009). Investigating faculty development program assessment practices:
 What's being done and how can it be improved? *Journal of Faculty Development*,
 23(3), 5-19. <u>https://www.proquest.com/docview/868918040?pq-</u>
 origsite=gscholar&fromopenview=true
- Hobson, T. D., & Puruhito, K. K. (2019). Going the distance Online course performance and motivation of distance-learning students. *Online Learning*, 22(4), 129-140. <u>https://olj.onlinelearningconsortium.org/index.php/olj/article/view/1516</u>
- Hrastinski, S. (2008). Asynchronous and synchronous e-learning. *Educause*, 4. http://www.educause.edu/ir/library/pdf/eqm0848.pdf
- Hsiao, F., Burgstahler, S., Johnson, T., Nuss, D., & Doherty, M. (2019). Promoting an accessible learning environment for students with disabilities via faculty

development (Practice Brief). Journal of Postsecondary Education and Disability,

32(1), 91-99. <u>https://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ1217448</u>

Humber, J. F. (2021). In their own words: Student Engagement as defined by online

learners. Journal of Higher Education Theory and Practice, 21(2), 13-23.

https://doi.org/10.33423/jhetp.v21i2.4114

- Humphreys, D. (2012). What's wrong with the completion agenda—and what we can do about it. *Liberal Education*, *98*(1), 18-17.
- Hymel, S. & Katz, J. (2019) Designing classrooms for diversity: Fostering social inclusion. *Educational Psychologist*, 54:4, 331-339. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00461520.2019.1652098</u>
- Ibrahim, J. (2020). From survive to thrive: Using professional development to advance online teaching. *Journal of Literacy & Technology*, 21(3), 44–58. <u>http://www.literacyandtechnology.org/uploads/1/3/6/8/136889/jlt_vol_21_3__complete.pdf</u>
- Jabareen, Y. (2009). Building a conceptual framework: Philosophy, definitions, and procedure. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods 2009*, 8(4), 49-62. https://doi.org/10.1177/160940690900800406
- Jaggars, S. S. (2014). Choosing between online and face-to-face courses: Community college student voices. *American Journal of Distance Education*, 28(1), 27-38. <u>http://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/08923647.2014.867697</u>

- Jaggars S. S., & Xu, D. (2016). How do online course design features influence student performance? *Computers & Education*, 95, 270-284. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2016.01.014</u>
- Jensen, L. X., Bearman, M., & Boud, D. (2021). Understanding feedback in online learning: A critical review and metaphor analysis. Computers & Education, 173, 1-12. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2021.104271</u>
- Jonasson, C. (2012). Teachers and students' divergent perceptions of student engagement: recognition of school or workplace goals. *British Journal of Sociology of Education*, 33(5), 723-741. <u>https://www.jstor.org/stable/23256180</u>

Jung, I., Omori, S., Dawson, W. P., Yamaguchi, T., & Lee, S. J. (2021). Faculty as reflective practitioners in emergency online teaching: an autoethnography.
 International Journal of Education Technology in Higher Education, 18 (30), 2-17. https://doi.org/10.1186/s41239-021-00261-2

Kandakatla, R., & Palla, A. (2020). Role of community of practice (CoP) to facilitate change in STEM instructional practices through faculty development programs.
2020 IFEES World Engineering Education Forum - Global Engineering Deans Council (WEEF-GEDC), 2020, 1-5.

https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/9293660

Kane, R. T., Shaw, M., Pang, S., Salley, W., & Snider, J. B. (2016). Faculty professional development and student satisfaction in online higher education. *Online Journal* of Distance Learning Administration, 19(2), 105-115.

https://ojdla.com/archive/summer192/kane_shaw_pang_salley_snider192.pdf

- Kessler, G. (2016). What can we learn from our colleagues? A framework for virtual classroom training. *Online Learning Consortium, Research Center for Digital Learning and Leadership*. <u>https://onlinelearningconsortium.org/</u>
- Kezar, A. (2018). *How Colleges Change: Understanding, Leading, and Enacting Change* (2nd ed.). Routledge.
- Kimmel, S. C., Burns, E., & DiScala, J. (2019). Community at distance: Employing a community of practice framework in online learning for students. *Journal of Education for Library and Information Science*, 60 (4), 265-284.
 https://doi.org/10.3138/jelis.2018-0056
- Kuh, G. D. (2008). High-impact educational practices: What they are, who has access to them and why they matter. Association of American Colleges and Universities. <u>https://www.aacu.org/leap/hips</u>
- Lantz-Andersson, A., Lundin, M., & Selwyn, N. (2018). Twenty years of online teacher communities: A systematic review of formally-organized and informallydeveloped professional learning groups. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 75, 302–315. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.TATE.2018.07.008
- LaPointe Terosky, A., & Heasley, C. (2015). Supporting online faculty through a sense of community and collegiality. *Online Learning*, 19 (3), 147-161. <u>https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1067522.pdf</u>
- Lee, J., & Martin, L. (2017). Investigating students' perceptions of motivating factors of online class discussions. *International Review of Research in Open and Distributed Learning*, 18(5), 148–172. <u>https://doi.org/10.19173/irrodl.v18i5.2883</u>

- Leslie, H. J. (2018). Trifecta of student engagement: A framework for an online teaching professional development course for faculty in higher education. *Journal of Research in Innovative Teaching and Learning*, 13(2), 149-173. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/JRIT-10-2018-0024</u>
- Lewis, S. & Ewing, C. (2016). Assuring student outcomes achievement through faculty development: An online university example. *Online Journal of Distance Learning Administration, 19* (4), 1-9. <u>https://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ1124527</u>
- Liu, K., Miller, R., & Jahng, K. E. (2016). Participatory media for teacher professional development: Toward a self-sustainable and democratic community of practice. *Educational Technology Research & Development, 68* (4), 420-443. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00131911.2015.1121862</u>
- Lorenzetti, J. P. (2005). Secrets of online success: Lessons from the community colleges. *Distance Education Report, 9* (11), 3-6.
- Lowenthal, P., & Parscal, T. (2008). Teaching presence online facilitates meaningful learning. *The Learning Curve, 3* (4), 1-2,4.
- Lowenthal, P., & Dunlap, J. (2018). Investigating students' perceptions of instructional strategies to establish social presence. *Distance Education*, 39(3), 281-298. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/01587919.2018.1476844</u>

Lum Kai, A. (2016). Do communities of practice enhance faculty development? *Health Professions Education Direct, 2,* 61-74. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.hpe.2016.08.004

Magna Publications. (2022). Journal of Faculty Development.

https://www.magnapubs.com

- Martin, F. B., Budhrani, K., Kumar, S., & Ritzhaupt, A. (2019). Award-winning faculty online teaching practices: Roles and Competencies. *Online Learning Journal*, 23(1), 184-205. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.24059/olj.v23i4.2077</u>.
- McClenney, K., Mart, C. N., & Atkins, C. (2016). Student engagement and student outcomes: Key findings from CCSSE validation research. *Community College Survey of Student Engagement*. http://www.ccsse.org/
- McQuiggan, C. (2012). Faculty development for online teaching as catalyst for change. Journal of Asynchronous Learning Networks, 16 (2), 27-61.

https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ971044.pdf

- Meizrow, J. (1997). Transformative learning: Theory to practice. *New Directions for Adult and Continuing Education, 74*, 5-12. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/ace.7401</u>
- Merriam, S.B. (2017). Adult learning theory: Evolution and future directions. *PAACE Journal of Lifelong Learning*, *26*, 21-37.

https://www.iup.edu/pse/files/programs/graduate_programs_r/instructional_desig n_and_technology_ma/paace_journal_of_lifelong_learning/volume_26,_2017/me rriam.pdf

- Meyer, K. (2014). Techniques for student engagement online learning: What works and why. Special Issue. *The Association for the Study of Higher Education*, 40(6), 1-14. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/aehe.20018</u>
- Milman, N. B. (2020). Introduction to the special issue: Designing and teaching online courses during uncertain times: Applying the community of inquiry framework in online education. *Distance Learning*, 17(4), 1–3.

- Misa, M. (2015). Expanding librarian roles through a librarian initiated and facilitated faculty learning community. *Journal of Library Administration*, 55(1), 24-40. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/01930826.2014.978683</u>
- Mishra, P., & Koehler, M. J. (2006). Technological pedagogical content knowledge: A framework for teacher knowledge. *Teachers College Record*, *108*(6), 1017–1054.
- Mohr, S. C., & Shelton, K. (2017). Best practices for online faculty Professional development network. A Delphi study. *Online Learning Journal*, 21(4), 123-140. https://www.learntechlib.org/p/183780/.
- Mokoena, S. (2013). Engagement with and participation in online discussion forums. The Turkish Online Journal of Educational Technology, 2(12), 97-105. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1015527.pdf
- Moore, M. G., & Kearsley, G. (2011). *Distance education: A systems view of online learning (What's New in Education)*. Cengage Learning.
- Mucundanyi, G. (2021). Design strategies for developing an engaging online course in higher education. *International Journal of Education and Development using Information and Communication Technology*, 17(3), 198-208.

https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1334566.pdf

Muir, T., Milthorpe, N., Stone, C., Dyment, J., Freeman, E., & Hopwood, B. (2019).
 Chronicling engagement: students' experience of online learning over time.
 Distance Education, 40(2), 262-277.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/01587919.2019.1600367

Murphy, C. A., & Fortner, A. F. (2014). Impact of instructor intervention on the quality and frequency of student discussion posts in a blended classroom. *MERLOT Journal of Online Learning and Teaching, 10*(3), 337-350.

https://jolt.merlot.org/vol10no3/Murphy_0914.pdf

National Center for Education Statistcs (NCES) (2019). https://nces.ed.gov/

National Center for Faculty Development and Diversity (NCFDD). (2022).

https://www.facultydiversity.org/home

National Survey of Student Engagement (NSSE) (2017). http://nsse.indiana.edu/

- National Survey of Student Engagement, (2012). Increasing opportunities to engage in high-impact practices. *Moving from data to action: Lessons from the Field, 2.* <u>http://nsse.indiana.edu</u>
- Neumann, Y., & Neumann, E. (2010). The robust learning model (RBL): A comprehensive approach to a new online university. *Journal of College Teaching* and Learning, 7 (1), 27-36. <u>https://doi.org/10.19030/tlc.v7i1.76</u>
- Nguyen, S. P. (2011). Challenges of student engagement in community colleges. *The Vermont Connection*, 32, 58-66. <u>https://www.uvm.edu/~vtconn/v32/Nguyen.pdf</u>
- Online Learning Consortium. (2021). The OLC Institute for Professional Development. <u>https://onlinelearningconsortium.org/learn/olc-institute-professional-development/</u>
- O'Shea, Lane., J. (2018). Live experiences of new faculty: Nine stages of development toward learner-centered practice. *Journal of the Scholarship of Teaching and Learning, 18* (3), 1-25. <u>https://doi.org/10.14434/josotl.v18i3.23373</u>

Park, C., & Kim, D. (2020). Perception of instructor presence and its effects on learning

experience in online classes. *Journal of Information Technology Education: Research, 19,* 475-488. <u>https://doi.org/10.28945/4611</u>

- Parker, N., Mahler, B. P., & Edwards, M. (2021). Humanizing online learning experiences. *Journal of Educators Online*. Retrieved from <u>https://www.thejeo.com/archive/archive/2021_182/parker_mahler_edwardspdf#content-head</u>
- Paskevicius, M., & Bortolin, K. (2016). Blending our practice: using online and face-toface methods to sustain community among faculty in an extended length professional development program. *Innovations in Education and Teaching International, 53* (6), 605–615. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/14703297.2015.1095646</u>
- Peacock, S., & Cowan, J. (2016). From presences to linked influences within communities of inquiry. *International Review of Research in Open and Distributed Learning*, 17(5), 267-283.

https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1117447.pdf

- Picciano, A. G. (2018). Online Education: Foundations, Planning, and Pedagogy. Routledge, New York.
- Pimmel, R., McKenna, A. F., Fortenberry, N. M., & Yoder, B. (2013). Faculty development using virtual communities of practice. 120th ASEE Conference and Exposition. Conference proceedings, paper 6568. June 22-26, 2013, Atlanta, GA.
- Portugal, L. M. (2016). Work ethic, characteristics, attributes, and traits of successful online faculty. *Online Journal of Distance Learning Administration*, 18(1), 1-16. <u>https://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ1055035</u>

- Potter, M. (2011). Toward a scholarship of faculty development. 288-301. To Improve the Academy, A Journal of Educational Development, 29, 288-301. doi: <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.3998/tia.17063888.0029.025</u>
- Protopsaltis, S., & Baum, S. (2019). Does online education live up to its promise? A look at the evidence and implications for federal policy. [Paper Presentation] Laura and John Arnold Foundation Urban Institute, 1-50.

https://jesperbalslev.dk/wp-content/uploads/2020/09/OnlineEd.pdf

Purajomandlangrudi, A., Chen, D., & Nguyen, A. (2016). Investigating the drivers of student interaction and engagement in online courses: A study of state-of-the-art. *Informatics in Education*, 15(3), 269-286.

https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1117154.pdf

- Putnam, S.M., Ford, K., & Tancock, S. (2011). Redefining online discussions: Using participant stances to promote collaboration and cognitive engagement. *International Journal of Teaching and Learning in Higher Education, 24*(12), 151-167. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ996262.pdf
- Quaye, S. J., & Harper, S. R. (2014). Student engagement in higher education: Theoretical perspectives and practical approaches for diverse populations (2nd ed.). Routledge.

Quotemaster (2022). <u>www.quotemaster.org</u>

Ragupathi, K., & Hubball, H. (2015). Scholarly approaches to learning technology integration in a research-intensive university context: Impact of a new faculty

initiative. *Transformative Dialogues: Teaching & Learning Journal, 8* (1), 1-16. <u>https://www.kpu.ca/sites/default/files/Transformative%20Dialogues/TD.8.1.5_Ra</u> <u>gupathi%26Hubball Learning Technology Integration.pdf</u>

Ranieri, M., Raffaghelli, J. E., & Pezzat, F. (2018). Digital resources for faculty development in e-learning: a self-paced approach for professional learning. *Italian Journal or Educational Technology*, 26 (1), 104-118. <u>https://doi.org/10.17471/2499-4324/961</u>

- Redman, D., & Perry, D. (2020). Graduate-level online instruction: Changes in faculty perceptions from 2002, 2007, and 2016. *Journal of Educators Online*, 17(2). <u>https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1268675.pdf</u>
- Redmond, P. (2014). Reflection as an indicator of cognitive presence. *E-Learning and Digital Media*, *11(1)*, 46-58. <u>https://doi.org/10.2304/elea.2014.11.1.46</u>
- Reilly, J. R., Vandenhouten, C., & Gallagher-Lepak, S. (2012). Faculty development for e-learning: A multi-campus Community of Practice (COP) approach. *Journal of Asynchronous Learning Networks*, 16 (2), 99-110.

http://dx.doi.org/10.24059/olj.v16i2.249

- Riaz, Z., Batool, A., Naeem, R., Quayyum, A., & Ahmad, S. (2021). Online teaching effects classroom engagement of students in universities. *Elementary Education Online, 20* (5) 4074-4079. <u>http://ilkogretim-online.org/</u>
- Richardson, J. C., Ice, P., & Swan, K. (2009). *Tips and techniques for integrating social, teaching, & cognitive presence into your courses.* Poster session presented at the

Conference on Distance Teaching & Learning, Madison, WI.

https://doi.org/10.19173/irrodl.v20i5.3985

- Richardson, J. W., Lingat, J. E. M., Hollis, E., & Pritchard, M. (2020). Shifting teaching and learning in online learning spaces: An investigation of a faculty online teaching and learning initiative. *Online Learning Journal 24* (1), 67-91.
 https://olj.onlinelearningconsortium.org/index.php/olj/article/view/1629
- Riverine, S. & Stacey, E. (2018). Sustaining an online community of practice: A case study. *Journal of Distance Education*, 22 (2), 43-58. https://www.ijede.ca/index.php/jde/article/view/3
- Rizzuto, M. (2017). Design recommendations for self-paced online faculty development programs. *TechTrends 61*, 77-86. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11528-016-0130-8</u>
- Roberts, K., Dowell, A., & Nie, J. (2019). Attempting rigor and replicability in thematic analysis of qualitative research data; a case study of codebook development. *BMC Medical Research Methodology, 19* (66).

https://doi.org/10.1186/s12874-019-0707-y

- Saldana, J. (2010). The Coding Manual for Qualitative Researchers. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Saldana, J. (2021a, September). Methods of coding qualitative data. Workshop contents presented by TQR, online.
- Salter, D.J. & Rushe, S.E. (2020). Enhancing learning with oral assessment as a culminating activity for faculty development. *Collected Essays on Learning and*

Teaching (13). 112-119.

https://celt.uwindsor.ca/index.php/CELT/article/view/6007

- Samuel, A. (2020). Zones of Agency: Understanding online faculty experiences of presence. International Review of Research in Open and Distributed Learning, 21(4), 79-96. https://doi.org/10.19173/irrodl.v21i4.4905
- Sangra, A., Vlachopoulos, D., & Cabrera, N. (2012). Building an inclusive definition of e-Learning: An approach to the conceptual framework. *International Review of Research in Open and Distance Learning*, 13 (2), 145-159. https://www.learntechlib.org/p/49456/.
- Santosa, P. I. (2015). Student engagement with online tutorial: A perspective on flow theory. *International Journal of Emerging Technologies in Learning (iJET)*, 10(1), pp. 60–67. <u>https://doi.org/10.3991/ijet.v10i1.4348</u>
- Saunders, C. (2021). Best professional development for online faculty? Take an online course. Journal of College Science Teaching, 50 (5), 3-4.
 <u>https://www.nsta.org/journal-college-science-teaching/journal-college-scienc</u>
- Scarpena, K., Riley, M., & Keathley, M. (2018). Creating successful professional development activities for online faculty: A reorganized framework. Online Journal of Distance Learning Administration, 21 (1), 1-8. https://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ1173434

- Schmid, M. E., Bajcz, A. W., & Balster, N. J. (2021). Evaluating a novel faculty development program in teaching at a research-intensive university. *Teacher Development*, 25(3), 340–365. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13664530.2021.1905706</u>
- Scoppio, G. & Luyt, I. (2017). Mind the gap: Enabling online faculty and instructional designers in mapping new models for quality online courses. *Education and Information Technologies, 22,* 725-746.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s10639-015-9452-y

- Simon Fraser University (2022). Writing a position paper. http://www.sfu.ca/educ482/a_positionpaper.html
- Shreaves, D. L., Ching, Y., Uribe- Flores, L., & Trespalacios, J. (2020). Faculty perceptions of online teaching at a midsized liberal arts university. *Online Learning Journal*, 24(3), 106-127. <u>https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1271800.pdf</u>
- Slade, J. D., Robb, M., Sherrod, B., & Hunker, D. (2017). Online adjunct faculty support: An innovative use of a learning management system. *Nurse Educator*, 42(3), 143-146.
- Smidt, E., McDyre, B., Bunk, J., Li, R., & Gatenby, T. (2014). Faculty attitudes about distance education. *The IAFOR Journal of Education*, 2(2), 181-209. <u>https://digitalcommons.wcupa.edu/langcult_facpub/7</u>
- Smith College (2017). Consent to Participate in a Research Study. https://www.smith.edu/academics/five-colleges
- Smith, E. E. & Gordon, S. R. (2018). Promoting faculty engagement in assessment: Relatively simple ideas. Assessment Update, 30(5), 1-16.

https://doi.org/10.1002/au.30143

- Sotto- Santiago, S., Tuitt, F., Saelua, N. (2019). All faculty matter: The continued search for culturally relevant practices in faculty development. *The Journal of Faculty Development*, 33 (3), 83-94.
- Steiner, H. (2016). Learning community's faculty scholars: An online targeted faculty development course to promote scholarly teaching. *Learning Communities Research and Practice*, 4 (1), 1-10.

https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1112862.pdf

Stenbom, S. (2018). A systematic review of the Community of Inquiry survey. *Internet* and Higher Education, 39(June), 22–32.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.iheduc.2018.06.001

- Stenbom, S., Hrastinski, S., & Cleveland-Innes, M. (2012). Student-student online coaching as a relationship of inquiry: An exploratory study from the coach perspective. *Journal of Asynchronous Learning Network*, 16(5), 37–48. https://www.learntechlib.org/p/113587/.
- Stone, C., O'Shea, S., May, J., Delahunty, J., & Partington, Z. (2016). Opportunity through online learning: Experiences of first-in-family students in online openentry higher education. *Australian Journal of Adult Learning*, 56(2), 146-169. <u>https://ro.uow.edu.au/sspapers/2410/</u>
- Sugden, N., Brunton, B., MacDonald, J. B., Yeo, M., & Hicks, B. (2021). Evaluating Student engagement and deep learning in interactive online psychology learning

activities. *Australasian Journal of Educational Technology*, *37*(2), 45-65. https://doi.org/10.14742/ajet.6632

- Suh, E., & Jensen, D. (2020). Examining communities of practice: Transdisciplinary, resilience, and professional identity. *Journal of Basic Writing*, 39(2), 33-59. <u>https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1316938.pdf</u>
- Sullivan, R., Neu, V., & Yang, F. (2018). Faculty development to promote effective instructional technology integration: A qualitative examination of reflections in an online community. *Online Learning*, 22(4), 341-359.

https://olj.onlinelearningconsortium.org/index.php/olj/article/view/1373

- Sumner, J. (2010). Serving the system: A critical history of distance education. Open Learning: The Journal of Open, Distance and e-learning, 15, 267–285. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/713688409</u>
- Taylor, L., & Parsons, J. (2011). Psychological engagement of students in distance and online learning: Effects of self-efficacy and psychosocial processes. *Journal of Educational Computing Research*, 55 (2), 197-218.

https://doi.org/10.1177/0735633116656849

- Tinto, V. (2006). Research and practice of student retention: What Next? Journal of College Student Retention Research, Theory & Practice, 8(11), 1-19. <u>https://doi.org/10.2190/4YNU-4TMB-22DJ-AN4W</u>
- Tinto, V. (1998). Colleges as communities: Taking research on student persistence seriously. *Review of Higher Education*, 21(20), 167-177. https://www.muse.jhu.edu/article/30046.

- Tinto, V. (1975). Dropout from higher education: A theoretical synthesis of recent research. *Review of Educational Research*, 45(1), 89-125. https://doi.org/10.3102/00346543045001089
- Traver, A. E., Volchok, E., Bidjerano, T., & Shea, P. (2013). Correlating community college students' perceptions of community of inquiry presences with their completion of blended courses. *The Internet and Higher Education*, 20, 1-9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.iheduc.2013.09.001
- Travers, S. (2016). Supporting online student retention in community colleges: What data is most relevant? *The Quarterly Review of Distance Education*, *17*(4), 49.61.
- Tulsa Community College (2022). Faculty development framework: TCC faculty professional development program outcomes.

https://www.tulsacc.edu/programs-courses/academic-schools/engaged-

learning/faculty-professional-development-resources-0-0

- U.S. Aid. Gov. (2022). Faculty Development Program Syllabus and Schedule. https://pdf.usaid.gov/pdf_docs/PA00TGNR.pdf
- U.S. Department of Education (2014). Enrollment in distance education courses by state: Fall 2012. National Center for education Statistics: https://nces.ed.gov/pubs2014/2014023.pdf
- Varaki, B. S. (2007). Narrative inquiry in educational research. *Forum: Qualitative Social Research*, 8(1), 1-8.
- Vayre, E., & Vonthron, A. (2016). Psychological engagement of students in distance and online learning: Effects of self-efficacy and psychosocial processes. *Journal of*

Educational Computing Research, 55 (2), 197-218.

https://doi.org/10.1177/0735633116656849

Walters, S., Grover, K. S., Turner, R. C., & Alexander, J. (2017). Understanding faculty perceptions related to teaching online: A starting point for developing initiatives. *Turkish Online Journal of Distance Education*, 18(4), 4-19. https://doi.org/10.17718/tojde.340365

Wang, R., & BrckaLorenz, A. (2018). International student engagement: An exploration of student faculty perceptions. *Journal of International Students*, 8(2), 1002-1033. https://doi.org/10.32674/jis.v8i2.124

Washington State Board for Community and Technical Colleges (SBCTC). (2016). eLearning data highlights: 2015-2016 completion rates (CRs). <u>https://www.sbctc.edu/colleges-staff/research/data-tables/elearning-data.aspx</u>

Washington State Board for Community and Technical Colleges (SBCTC). (2020). Corona Virus COVID Information. https://www.sbctc.edu/coronavirus/

Webb, A. S., Hubball, H. T., & McKenzie, M. (2021). Strategic approaches to globalizing curriculum practice: Responding to faculty development needs and circumstances in diverse contexts. *International Journal or Curriculum and Instruction 13*(2), 1209-1225. <u>http://ijci.wcci-</u>

international.org/index.php/IJCI/article/view/271

Weems-Landingham, V., & Paternite, J. (2021). Help me help you! Using online discussions to improve student success. *Journal of Higher Education Theory & Practice*, 21(11), 220-231. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/87567555.2021.2008295</u>

- Wenger, E. (2011). Communities of practice a brief introduction. Retrieved on March 2022 from scholarsbank.uoregon.edu. <u>http://hdl.handle.net/1794/11736</u>
- Wenger, E. (2000). Communities of practice: Learning, meaning, and identity. A brief introduction. Cambridge University Press.

Williams, L., & Lahman, M. (2011). Online discussion, student engagement, and critical thinking. *Journal of Political Science Education*, 7(143) 143–162. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/15512169.2011.564919</u>

- Williams, T., Layne, M., & Ice, P. (2014). Online faculty perceptions on effective faculty mentoring: A qualitative study. *Online Journal of Distance Learning Administration, 17* (20), 86-102. <u>https://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ1036725</u>
- Wilson, M. (2012). Writing a position paper: Effective essays for history students. Lehman College CUNY.
- Wingo, N. P., Ivankova, N. V., & Moss, J. A. (2017). Faculty perceptions about teaching online: Exploring the literature using the technology acceptance model as an organizing framework. *Online Learning*, 21(10), 15-35.

https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1140242.pdf

- Wynants, S., & Dennis, J. (2018). Professional development in an online context:
 Opportunities and challenges from the voices of college faculty. *Journal of Educators Online*, 15(1), n1. <u>https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1168955.pdf</u>
- Xu, D. & Jaggars, S.S. (2014). Performance gaps between online and face to face courses: Differences across types of students and academic subject areas. *The*

Journal of Higher Education, 85(5), 634-659.

https://doi.org/10.1080/00221546.2014.11777343

- Xu, D. & Smith Jaggars, S. (2011). Online and hybrid course enrollment and performance in Washington State community and technical colleges. <u>https://ccrc.tc.columbia.edu/publications/online-hybrid-courses-washington.html</u>
- Yildirim, D., & Seferoglu, S. S. (2021). Evaluation of the effectiveness of online courses based on the community of inquiry model. *Turkish Online Journal of Distance Education*, 22(2), 147-163.
- Yilmaz, Y., Lal, S., Tong, X. C., Howard, M., Bell, S., Bayer, I., Monterio, S., & Chan, T.M. (2020). Technology-enhanced faculty development: Future trends and possibilities for health sciences education. *Medical Science Educator*, 30, 1787-1796. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40670-020-01100-1
- Yuan, J. & Kim, C. (2014). Guidelines for facilitating the development of learning communities in online courses. *Journal of Computer Assisted Learning*, 30 (3), 220-232. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jcal.12042</u>

Appendix: The Project

Western Washington Community College

Faculty Development Program for Online Faculty Members

Presented by Teri Cruzan Walden University Doctoral Candidate January 2022

Table of Contents

Executive Summary	169
Position Paper	171
Faculty Development Program for Online Instructors and Faculty Members	186
Sample Needs Assessment for WWCC Faculty Development Program	187
Recommendations for Topics in an Asynchronous Self-Paced Program	
Monthly Modules with Learning Activities and Timeline	190
Syllabus Faculty Development Program	195
Monthly Module Planning and Activity Sheets for Nine Months	
Evaluation Schedule Timeline and Faculty Development Program Surveys	
Conclusion	207
Executive Summary

Problem Statement

To examine the problem of low student engagement, lower course completion rates, and high attrition rates in online classes at Western Washington Community College and Washington state community colleges.

Goals of the Study

To learn more about online faculty members' perspectives of student engagement and instructional strategies instructors use to foster student engagement. To create a faculty development plan that will offer professional development opportunities and establish a Community of Practice (CoP) among online faculty members.

Toward a CoP and Model Faculty Development Program

This study was grounded by The Community of Inquiry (CoI) framework and the Community of Practice models for faculty development that are flexible, effective, and long-term approaches to the study of faculty development. The proposed Faculty Development Program (FDP) is sustainable and adaptable for each institution and individual faculty member's needs. The online asynchronous program is set up in monthly modules with resources, activities, and discussion prompts that can be accessed when each faculty members' schedule permits.

Qualitative Case Study

A qualitative case study grounded in the Community of Inquiry Model and a confidential online survey of ten community college faculty members. Faculty respondents reported the following:

High levels of student engagement were necessary for optimal learning in online courses. Faculty logged into classrooms often and fostered engagement in online discussions. Faculty members stated their discussions, readings, and assignments were aligned. Faculty members stated they did not attempt to establish a community of learners. Faculty members reported they were required to attend faculty meetings as training. Faculty members mentioned online learning communities or community of learners. Faculty members described activities or terminology related to faculty development.

Implementing Faculty Development

A faculty developer, faculty assistant, and IT Person would be responsible for program development and implementation.

Community of Practice

The Faculty Development Plan could lead to supported and trained faculty members who gained new skills and confidence, as well as growth as online educators engaging in a community of practice.

Benefits and Implications

The faculty development program could contribute to social change by facilitating a scholarly community of learners among the campus faculty members. Faculty members could foster higher student engagement and measurable levels of student success which could lead to higher course completion rates, improved learning outcomes, and higher student satisfaction.

This proposed Faculty Development Plan is aligned with the mission and goals of WWCC which affirm that the college will be innovative and place students first with a focus on retention and completion. Moreover, the FDP could be a significant academic investment of time and resources that would support teaching, learning, campus leadership, and provide the best educational opportunities for its students.

Position Paper

Goals of the Project Study

The purpose of the position paper is to share the results of this research study on faculty perceptions of student engagement and to provide recommendations to Western Washington Community College (WWCC) about the value of online faculty development program. Research undertaken for this study supports better student engagement and learning outcomes are possible when faculty participate in a faculty community of learners or community of practice programs.

WWCC leaders and change agents are encouraged to support initiatives to launch ongoing faculty development programs. These programs will offer WWCC faculty professional development opportunities and establish a Community of Practice (CoP) among online faculty members

The goals of the study were to learn more about online faculty members' perspectives of student engagement and instructional strategies instructors used to foster student engagement.

The WWCC community and leadership understand the connection between student engagement and student learning and are committed to improving student success in retention, completion, transfers. The college evaluates their online programs with professional survey instruments, annual reports, and assessment services from the National Survey of Student Engagement (NSSE). (WWCC, 2017-2019), The college gains information from student and faculty surveys and uses data driven results to improve student learning and faculty development.

Core themes of WWCC's strategic mission and planning include a commitment to support faculty and staff, and foster a safe and sustainable environment for teaching and learning. The college is also invested in creating teaching and learning communities and providing opportunities for faculty and staff professional growth (WWCC, 2020).

Over the past ten years, WWCC has offered a number of faculty educational workshops on various topics such as writing course outcomes, using, rubrics, and engaging students. Faculty participation is not required, but it is encouraged. Most topics are just repeated with a couple of exceptions, and workshops are facilitated by regular online faculty members (WWCC, 2022).

There are on average about four on campus workshops per year, although since the pandemic some workshops have been scheduled as video conferences with Zoom. However, all workshops have been on a synchronous schedule of specific dates which may prove difficult for full faculty participation. WWCC's longstanding support of the program reflects a commitment to the campus mission to support faculty members' professional growth with an understanding that faculty support will lead to improved teaching and better student learning (WWCC, 2020).

The goals of this position paper are to recommend that WWCC leaders extend their commitment to faculty support and student learning and adopt initiatives that encourage and facilitate faculty participation in a dynamic and flexible program. I encourage WWCC to support the development of a continuous asynchronous online faculty development program offered to all faculty members year round.

Faculty development can offer instructors the opportunity to acquire new skills and to improve their teaching practice, and as teaching improves, so does student learning (Condon, et al., 2016). Furthermore, by offering the Faculty Development Program (FDP) as an asynchronous online program this may motivate faculty members and reduce barriers to participation as each faculty member participates at the times that work best for their own optimal learning and on their own schedule (Eliot et al., 2015).

The FDP program should be mandatory and year round, with monthly modules of different topics to teach and support online program participants (Haras et al., 2017). It may not be necessary to require faculty contribute specific numbers of posts or lengths of discussions.

The extent of an individual faculty members' participation will vary on each monthly module as some topics may be more relevant to an individual. The courses should be flexible and selfpaced throughout the monthly modules and they may have varying levels of engagement (Ranieri, (2017). Participation levels may correspond with faculty members' questions about a topic or a faculty member's willingness to share their experiences.

Target Audience

This proposed faculty development plan is presented to the following stakeholders responsible for guiding the mission and goals of WWCC: The Vice President of Instruction, Dean of Instruction, Director of Assessment & Institutional Research, Library Director, Executive Director for Institutional Advancement, Elearning Department, Campus Diversity Committee, Technical Support, and the WWCC Foundation.

The Problem

The problems investigated in this study were low student engagement, lower course completion rates, and high attrition rates in online classes at Western Washington Community College and Washington state community colleges.

Low student engagement is a problem at WWCC and Washington state community colleges as evidenced from the results of student satisfaction and end of course surveys (WWCC, 2016). Online instructors report low student engagement in their courses and that low numbers of students' complete courses (Xu & Smith Jaggars, 2011). The 2015-2016 course completion rates for online math courses were only 75%, and only 60% of those students earned passing grades (SBCTC, 2016).

There is a lack of understanding about how online instructors respond to low student engagement and the type of teaching strategies they implement to support student engagement and better learning outcomes.

Research Questions

Two overarching qualitative research questions guided this study. 1. What are the instructional strategies that faculty members use to promote engagement in online discussions? 2. How do faculty members identify or describe classroom activities and strategies they use to foster student engagement in online courses?

Participants

Data were collected from ten community college faculty members currently teaching online with at least two years online teaching experience. The faculty member participants were from three different Washington state community colleges.

Research Design

A qualitative case study with open ended research questions that focused on the problem, statement, purpose, and research questions was implemented to examine student engagement. The purpose of this research was to explore and examine faculty members' perceptions of student engagement indepth and learn as much as possible about faculty perceptions and approaches to foster student engagement.

Theoretical Framework

This qualitative case study was grounded by The Community of Inquiry (CoI) framework and the Community of Practice models for faculty development that are flexible, effective, and long-term approaches to the study of faculty development (Castellanos-Reyes, 2020). The COI framework is a model that shows how the students educational experience benefits from three instructional presences that are identified beyond a physical presence in a physical classroom (Garrison et al., 2000).

In online classrooms, instructors can exhibit a teaching presence a social presence, and a cognitive presence.



Garrison et al., 2000

The proposed Faculty Development Program (FDP) is sustainable and adaptable for each institution and individual faculty member's needs. The online asynchronous program is set up in monthly modules with resources, activities, and discussion prompts that can be accessed when each faculty members' schedule permits.

Data Collection and Analysis

Data collection involved gathering participants' written responses to survey questions that were submitted and returned via Google Docs. Questions for the surveys that were submitted online through Google Docs were adapted with permission from the Perceptions and Practices of E-Instructors Toward Online Instruction Questionnaire (PPEOIQ) were adapted for this study (Appendix H).

The PPEOIQ is a standardized instrument that contains open ended questions addressing many aspects of online teaching. Some of the topics in the instrument are; instructional design, facilitating learning, fostering engagement, assessment, technology uses, administrative management, and research development (Chang, et al., 2014). This standardized instrument is a comprehensive questionnaire that covers several domains relevant to the perceptions, practice, and experiences of online instructors.

Data Analysis Results

Data was analyzed by hand in several settings to identify codes and themes that would be associated with the Community of Inquiry framework. I noted many responses to questions about engagement and teaching strategies indicated faculty members were sharing their experiences with teaching, social, and cognitive presences. I identified five related and interconnected themes from the data.

Theme 1 Teaching and Social Presence

Teaching and social presence were strong, and instructors understood the value of teaching presence as they described their actions of logging in daily; they also described a social presence when they discussed how they posted in the classroom

Theme 2

Teaching Presence

Teaching presence was evident as faculty members stated they created a creating a welcoming classroom and included activities to help students use course and campus resources.

Theme 3

Teaching and Cognitive Presence Teaching and cognitive presences as instructors discussed course readings, assignments, and other requirements indicative of actions and activities that were reflective of their cognitive presence.

Theme 4 Social and Teaching Presence

All but one faculty members stated clearly and repeatedly that that their presence, visibility, and actions in their classroom were deliberately were intended to foster students' engagement. They also believed that classroom discussions, activities, and assignments, led to student engagement and positive learning outcomes. These conclusions are supported by recent research studies (Martin, 2019, Richardson et al., 2020).

Theme 5 Cognitive and Teaching Presence

Instructors said they posed challenging questions and encouraged students to analyze and evaluate the course readings and material.

Faculty reported that they believed their course work, discussions, and assignments promoted critical thinking, and that reading material was aligned with all types of activities or assignments.

Summary of Findings

Faculty respondents reported the following:

High levels of student engagement were necessary for optimal learning in online courses.

Faculty logged into classrooms often and fostered engagement in online discussions.

Faculty members stated their discussions, readings, and assignments were aligned.

Faculty members stated they did not attempt to establish a community of learners.

Faculty members reported they were required to attend faculty meetings as training.

Faculty members mentioned online learning communities or community of learners.

Faculty members described activities or terminology related to faculty development.

Proposed Recommendations

The goals of this position paper from the results of research are to recommend WWCC adopt an imitative to establish and create an online Faculty development program. An asynchronous online faculty development program offered online with any time, any place accessibility is set up to motivate faculty and reduce barriers to their participation (Rizzuto, 2017). The program should be mandatory, active, and available year round, with monthly modules of different topics to teach and support online program participants (Fiock, 2020).

The CoI framework and the CoP model for faculty development are effective, long-term approaches; they are sustainable and adaptable to each institution (Fiock, 2020). The CoI and CoP models can serve faculty members with diverse skill sets and wide range of teaching experience and are adaptable to faculty member's needs. The diversity of faculty members and their experiences may increase opportunities for participants' to improve teaching skills, network, and learn with peers (Carvalho-Filhoer & Tio, 2019).

Implementation

A faculty developer, faculty assistant, and IT Person would be responsible for program development and implementation of the program. The faculty developer position would be a new full time executive position created to oversee the successful creation, launch, and maintenance of the FDP. The faculty developer would also ensure there were regular evaluations of the programs' impact on faculty growth and teaching skills, as well as improved outcomes for faculty growth, student engagement, retention, and learning.

12 Strategies for Implementing a Community of Practice for Faculty Development

1 – Gather a core group to launch the process

2 -Articulate the goals and value of the CoP

3 – Start with a specific task or project – make it problem-oriented

4 – Keep the CoP open

5 – Intentionally invite members with expertise (memory) and fresh ideas (innovation)

6 – Choose a facilitator – "primus inter pares"

7 – Make it worthwhile for members and the institution

8- Work to ensure institutional support

9 – Promote sustainability

10 - Communicate success

11 - Go online

12– Evaluate the CoP (Carvalho-Filhoer & Tio, 2019)

A Model Cop Program

An asynchronous online faculty development program is recommended as the model of program that is flexible, adaptable, and reduces barriers to participation because of differing schedules of the various participants (McQuiggan, 2012). There is no need for faculty members to meet on campus, set aside evenings, give up weekends, or travel to engage in faculty development. The FDP courses and content will be accessible to all participants at all times and they will log in to the program and classroom as their schedule permits and work at their own pace within the framework of the monthly scheduled module.

The monthly topics, resources, and discussions would center on a particular subject that would be explored, studied, and discussed in the faculty development program. There will also be a common discussion area open and accessible to all faculty members and the area where the monthly discussion module prompts, and questions are posted. Yilmaz et al. (2020) recommended specific start and end dates for the monthly modules or monthly topics to ensure active participation.

Instructional strategies, teaching tools, and trends that improve engagement and learning outcomes for students, can also be applied to create strong faculty development programs (Yilmaz, et al., 2020). The following subjects are salient topics to cover in an online faculty development program which should include topics and sub-topics to feature in each monthly module Mohr & Shelton, 2017).

Professional Development Framework

Below is a framework for a successful faculty development program that shows an organizational approach and community of learning to better support faculty. The framework also shows examples of how different activities support each level within the framework. Faculty development is most successful when faculty members feel supported, engaged, and are provided resources online. Programs should be flexible and adaptable to the individual needs of faculty members, their personal schedules as well as their learning styles and professional goals (Scarpena, et al., 2018).



(Baran & Correia, 2014)

Sample Course Introduction

Western Washington Community College Faculty Development Program (FDP) is proposed to be a stand-alone training course; delivered online through Canvas the college's learning management system. The program is offered online over a nine-month period of time, with 9 monthly leaning modules beginning in August and concluding in May.

Participation in the program is required, however because the program is online and the topics are broad, faculty members have great flexibility in terms of when and how they will participate. Moreover, the program should be available to all online faculty and support teaching staff, full and parttime, remote or off-campus, temporary, and adjunct faculty should have access and participate in the FDP (Caldwell et al., 2020)

The goal of this faculty development program is to support our online faculty members' professional growth while offering a supportive community of learning environment.

Online Learning Community

The online FDP is a place for faculty to learn and engage with their peers and it is a place for faculty members to ask questions, share their experiences, find resources, collaborate, and network. The FDP can serve as a place for faculty members to learn new strategies and techniques to become more effective online instructors (Borup & Evmenova, 2019).

Faculty members are already familiar with Canvas, the campus wide learning management system for faculty news and training resources and the online classroom format for our students. The monthly modules will remain posted throughout the year of the program for easy reference to past discussion topics, resources, and retrieval of shared teaching techniques or strategies (U.S. Aid.Gov., 2022).

OLC Ethics and Goals

WWCC can establish ethics and goals of the FDP that are aligned with the

mission and long term goals of the college, some examples of ethics and goals follow.

Promote a learning atmosphere that respects, understands, and values differences. Challenge faculty members to determine and question their assumptions and consider how their viewpoints affect their perspectives. The curriculum for this program will include sources authored by historically underrepresented groups (Sotto-Santiago et al., 2019).

The FDP program advocates for cultural competence in the classroom and address accessibility issues in course delivery for learners of differing abilities.

Engage in a learning community with faculty peers throughout the academic year.

Faculty members will contribute to the college, their department or discipline and remain current in their academic field and with online technology related to teaching.

Collaborate with peers both in and outside of their own discipline or academic field. Discover problems, solutions, and insight through reflective thinking, writing, and discussions among peers. Engage in a learning community in expanding institutional and personal connections to the community (Tulsa Community College, 2022).



(Quote master, 2022)

Suggested Topics

Faculty Roles

*Creating a faculty presence in the online classroom.

*Developing a teaching presence.

*Managing an online classroom. *Understanding the role of the faculty member in the online classroom.

Classroom Design

*Planning, structuring, and organizing an online classroom

*Utilizing course objectives as the foundation for developing an online course

Managing the online classroom
 *Upholding quality standards online

Learning Processes

*Writing measurable course objectives.

- * Applying active learning strategies.
- * Adapting teaching pedagogy

Legal Issues and Inclusion

*Copyright compliance and fair use

- *ADA compliance guidelines
- * Academic integrity (Hsiao et al., 2019)
- *Reducing racial and gender bias

*Reduce social exclusion anxiety *Promote academic and social inclusion

Diagram below is a segment of a theoretical model of faculty training that was based on social inclusion research. The goals of the model and practices are very much in line with the Community of practice model. This inclusion model encourages faculty members to implement caring classrooms and foster many types of engagement for meaningful interaction and learning with peers.

Inclusive Instructional Practice

- Integrated Curriculum Cross-Curricular Connections
- Student Choice and Autonomy
- Flexible Groupings/Cooperative Learning
- Differentiated Instruction and Assessment
- Self-Regulated Learning
- Assessment for Learning/Class Profiles
- Technology
- Discipline-Based Inquiry
- Meta-Cognition
- Understanding by Design
- Problem-Based Learning
- Inquiry
- Social & Academic Inclusion as Guiding Principle for Tier 2/3 supports

Inclusive instructional practice (Hymel & Katz, 2019)

Evaluation

FDP should be aligned with a college's mission statement and vision of the program that would include assessments and evaluations as goals built in at the foundation of the program (Haras, et al., 2017). Goals would include built in methods of assessing and evaluating a program's effectiveness its effectiveness.

I have recommended formative and summative evaluations by faculty participants and program developers. Martin et al, (2019) recommend continuous evaluations throughout every stage of course or project development and proposed of conceptual framework as shown below. Continuous evaluation of the program ensures developers are striving for best practices and the highest standards in the FDP.



(Martin et al., 2019)

Learning Outcomes

The learning outcomes for this faculty development program are to establish an active and engaged online teaching faculty as a community of learners with direct experience teaching, learning, and constructing knowledge in online classrooms. Teaching faculty at WWCC will be exposed to new sources, technologies, and trends, as they have opportunities to learn from materials and one another. Program participants may share experiences from their practice and their perceptions and impressions from research. In addition, participants may collaborate, ask questions, seek and provide support to their peers and colleagues.

Significance

This project study was unique to community college online research as it examined faculty members' perceptions about online student engagement. The study also gave a voice to the faculty members where they described their experiences, and teaching strategies to foster student engagement and improve student learning.

The faculty development program could contribute to social change by facilitating a scholarly community of learners among the campus faculty members (McQuiggan, 2012). Faculty members could foster higher student engagement and measurable levels of student success which could lead to higher course completion rates, improved learning outcomes, and higher student satisfaction.

This proposed Faculty Development Plan is aligned with the mission and goals of WWCC which affirm that the college will be innovative, place students first with a focus on retention and completion. Moreover, the FDP could be a significant academic investment of time and resources that would support teaching, learning, campus leadership, and provide the best educational opportunities for its students.

Socialization and online networks are changing rapidly while incorporating the latest technologies to the meets the needs of people in social, workplace, lifestyle, and educational contexts. The importance of research and allocating resources to faculty development programs cannot be overstated and should be a key component of a college's long term strategic planning.

WWCC and community colleges should consider employing both an elearning program director and a director of online faculty development. These two positions would work closely with campus services and offices, such as department, the library, Institutional Research, and include academic and social support programs for all online faculty members and students.

Conclusion

A successful online FDP can be achieved with key personnel, adequate budgeting, allocation, use of existing resources and, creating a Faculty Developer position. Caldwell et al. (2020) argued that all administrators be aligned with program developers in supporting the creation of community of practice. The community is an essential component of an effective online program and faculty development as the CoP provides faculty support and exchange of information. The sharing of experiences and skills could lead to lead to a transformative practice for faculty members (Scarpena, 2018) and this could improve student engagement and learning.

The proposed online FDP in this study has the potential to create a faculty community of practice, provide faculty with more support and more instructional strategies they can use in their online classrooms to better engage their students. There is a need for faculty members to engage in ongoing study, research, and networking to improve their own teaching practice; this will result in quality online educational programs, students that are better engaged and more successful learners (Ibrahim, 2020).

This position paper was presented to inform WWCC stakeholders about the results of my research about online student engagement, the importance of online learning communities, or communities or practice.

This study examined online faculty members' perceptions of student engagement in their online classrooms and how instructors described their instructional strategies and online classroom teaching experiences. The Community of Inquiry (CoI) (Garrison, Anderson, & Archer, 2009) and Community of Practice (CoP) (Wenger, 2011) frameworks guided the research and recommendations presented in this study based on the premise that social, cognitive, and teaching presences are critical to student engagement and improved learning and outcomes.

This case study collected qualitative data from ten full time faculty members at three separate colleges who responded to a comprehensive online survey questionnaire with 15 open ended essay questions from a standardized instrument based on perceptions and practices of online instructors. All faculty members were teaching full time, had heavy workloads, and also had least two years of online teaching experience. Data analysis was completed by hand and coding performed in several stages to find emerging and developing themes. Findings from this study could have implications for social change through the adoption of campus initiatives and professional development programs to provide ongoing support to instructors who teach online. References

- Adnan, M. (2017). Professional development in the transition to online teaching: The voice of entrant online instructors. ReCALL, 30(1), 88–111.
- Baran, E., & Correia, A. P. (2014). A professional development framework for online teaching. *TechTrends*, 58(5), 95-101.
- Borup, J. & Evmenova, A. S. (2019). The effectiveness of professional development in overcoming obstacles to effective online instruction in a college of education. *Online Learning*, 23(2), 1-20. doi:10.24059/olj.v23i2.1468
- Caldwell, D., Sortino, M., Winnington, J., & Cresswell-Yeager, T. (2021). Comprehensive faculty development: An innovative approach in online education. DOI: 10.4018/978-1-7998-0115-3.ch003
- Carvalho-Filho, A. A., & Tio, R. E., & Steinert, Y. (2019): Twelve tips for implementing a community of practice for faculty development. *Medical Teacher* (2), 42, 143-149. DOI: 10.1080/0142159X.2018.155278 2
- Castellanos-Reyes, D. (2020). 20 Years of the Community of Inquiry Framework. *TechTrends: Linking*

Research & Practice to Improve Learning, 64 (4), 557-560.

- Chang, C., Shen, H., & Liu, E. (2014). University faculty's perspectives on the roles of e-instructors and their online instruction practice. *The International Review of Research in Open and Distance Learning, 15*(3), 72-92.
- Co Condon, W., Iverson, E. R., Manduca, C. A., Rutz, C., & Willett, G. (2016). Faculty development and student learning: Assessing the connections. Bloomington: Indiana University Press.
 - Elliot, M., Rhoades, N., Jackson, C. M., Mandernach, B. J. (2015). Professional development: Designing initiatives to meet the needs of online faculty. *Journal of Educators, 12*(1). Retrieved on January 18, 2022 from https://www.learntechlib.org/p/1 59266/
 - Fiock, H. (2020). Designing a Community of Inquiry in Online Courses. *The International Review of Research in Open and Distributed Learning*, 21(1), 135-153. https://doi.org/10.19173/irrodl.v2 0i5.3985
 - Garrison, D. R., Anderson, T., & Archer, W. (2000). COI Model. The Community of Inquiry. Retrieved from https://coi.athabascau.ca/coimodel

Garrison, D. R., & Akyol, Z., (2013). The community of inquiry theoretical framework. In Moore, M. G. (Ed.). *Handbook of distance education* (3rd. ed., pp. 104-120). New York, NY: Routledge.

Haras, C., Taylor, S. C., Zakrajsek, T., Ginsberg, M., & Glover, J. (2017). Promising practices in assessment of faculty development outcomes. *Intuitional Commitment to Teaching Excellence: Assessing the Impacts*, 29-45. https://www.acenet.edu/Docume nts/Institutional-Commitment-to-Teaching-Excellence.pdf#page=41

Hsiao, F., Burgstahler, S., Johnson, T., Nuss, D., & Doherty, M. (2019).
Promoting an accessible learning environment for students with disabilities via faculty development (Practice Brief). *Journal of Postsecondary Education and Disability, 32*(1), 91-99. Retrieved on April 2022, from https://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ121744 8

Hymel, S. & Katz, J. (2019) Designing classrooms for diversity: Fostering social inclusion. *Educational Psychologist, 54*:4, 331-339, doi: 10.1080/00461520.2019.165209 8 Ibrahim, J. (2020). From Survive to Thrive: Using Professional Development to Advance Online Teaching. *Journal of Literacy & Technology*, 21(3), 44–58.

Jensen, L. X., Bearman, M., & Boud, D. (2021). Understanding feedback in online learning: A critical review and metaphor analysis. *Computers & Education, 173.* 1-12. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.comped u.2021.104271

Jung, I., Omori, S., Dawson, W. P., Yamaguchi, T., & Lee, S.J. (2021). Faculty as reflective practitioners in emergency online teaching: an autoethnography. *International Journal of Education Technology in Higher Education, 18* (30), 2-17. https://doi.org/10.1186/s41239-021-00261-2

Kane, R. T., Shaw, M., Pang, S., Salley, W., & Snider, J. B. (2016).
Faculty professional development and student satisfaction in online higher education. *Online Journal of Distance Learning Administration, 19* (2), 1-16.

Martin, F. B., Budhrani, K., Kumar, S., & Ritzhaupt, A. (2019). Awardwinning faculty online teaching practices: Roles and Competencies. *Online Learning Journal*, 23 (1), 184-205.

Martin, J. (2019). Building relationships and increasing engagement in the virtual classroom: Practical tools for the online instructor. *Journal of Educators Online*, *16*(1). https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/E J1204379.pdf

McQuiggan, C. (2012). Faculty development for online teaching as catalyst for change. *Journal of Asynchronous Learning Networks, 16* (2), 27-61.

Mohr, S. C. & Shelton, K. (2017). Online faculty Professional development network.

Online Learning Consortium. https://olc-wordpressassets.s3.amazonaws.com/upload s/2017/10/OLC-Faculty Professional-Development-Framework.pdf

NSSE (2022). Retrieved from https://nsse.indiana.edu/

Online Learning Consortium (2021). The OLC Institute for Professional Development. Oct. 22, 2021.

https://onlinelearningconsortium. org/learn/olc-instituteprofessional-development/

Protopsaltis, S., & Baum, S. (2019).
Does online education live up to its promise? A look at the evidence and implications for federal policy. *Center for Educational Policy Evaluation*.
1-50. Laura and John Arnold Foundation (LJAF).
https://jesperbalslev.dk/wp-

content/uploads/2020/09/Onli neEd.pdf

Quotemaster (2022). www.quotemaster.org

Ranieri, M., Raffaghelli, J.E., & Pezzati,
F. (2017). Digital resources for faculty development in elearning: a self-paced approach for professional learning. *Italian Journal of Educational Technology*, 26(1),104-118. Doi: 10.17471/2499-4324/961

Richardson, J. W., Lingat, J. E. M., Hollis, E., & Pritchard, M. (2020). Shifting teaching and learning in online learning spaces: An investigation of a faculty online teaching and learning initiative. *Online Learning Journal 24* (1), 67-91.

Rizzuto, M. (2017). Design recommendations for self-paced online faculty development programs. *TechTrends 61*, 77-86. DOI 10.1007/s11528-016-0130-8

Salter, D.J. & Rushe, S.E. (2020). Enhancing learning with oral assessment as a culminating activity for faculty development. *Collected Essays on Learning and Teaching (13)*. 112-119. <u>https://celt.uwindsor.ca/index.ph</u> <u>p/CELT/article/view/6007</u>

Scarpena, K., Riley, M., & Keathley, M. (2018). Creating successful professional development activities for online faculty: A

184

reorganized framework. *Online* Journal of Distance Learning Administration, 21 (1), 1-8.

Sotto- Santiago, S., Tuitt, F., Saelua, N. (2019). All faculty matter: The continued search for culturally relevant practices in faculty development. The Journal of Faculty Development, 33 (3), 83-94.

Tulsa Community College (2022). Faculty development framework: TCC faculty professional development program outcomes. Retrieved on Jan. 17, 2022 from https://www.tulsacc.edu/program s-courses/academicschools/engagedlearning/faculty-professionaldevelopment-resources-0-0

U.S. Aid. Gov. (2022). Faculty Development Program Syllabus and Schedule. Retrieved on Jan. 15, 2022 from https://pdf.usaid.gov/pdf_docs/P A00TGNR.pdf

Wenger, E. (2011). Communities of practice a brief introduction. Retrieved on March 2022 from scholarsbank.uoregon.edu

Yilmaz, Y., Lal, S., Tong, X. C., Howard, M., Bell, S., Bayer, I., Monterio, S., & Chan, T.M. (2020) Technology-enhanced faculty development: Future trends and possibilities for health sciences education. *Medical Science Educator, 30*, 178.

Western Washington Community College

Faculty Development Program for Online Instructors and Faculty Members

Sample Needs Assessment for WWCC Faculty Development Program

Recommendations for Topics in an Asynchronous Self-Paced Program

Monthly Modules with Learning Activities and Timeline

Syllabus Faculty Development Program

Monthly Module Planning and Activity Sheets for Nine Months

Evaluation Schedule and Timeline and Faculty Development Program Surveys

Conclusion

Sample Needs Assessment for NWCC Faculty Development Program

Dear Faculty,

The following survey is intended for all faculty members, teaching assistants, and support staff that teach online or hybrid courses. Your survey answers will assist faculty developers as they prepare the program of courses, resources, and activities that will comprise WWCC's online faculty development program (FDP). Your answers and replies for the FDP are confidential and will not be shared or used for any other purpose.

Please check the appropriate boxes	
Bachelors	
Masters	
Specialist	
Doctorate	
Other Certifications	

Highest Degree	Attained
----------------	----------

Academic Position or Rank

Please check the appropriate boxes		
Programming		
Staff		
Adjunct Faculty		
Assistant Professor		
Associate Professor		
Other (Visiting, Part Time, Emeritus)		

Teaching Experience

Please fill out relevant boxes		
How many years teaching at WWCC		
Total years' experience teaching online		
Total previous years teaching experience at other colleges		
Do you teach online and in traditional classroom		
Do you have any preference for online or in class teaching		

Teaching Topics

Please check boxes to indicate interest		No
Best practices for online educators		
Online Syllabus and Course Requirements		
Fostering student engagement		
Teaching multiple learning styles		

Classroom assessment and efficient grading	
Emergent education theories and technologies	
Enhancing critical thinking for online learners	

Professional Development Topics

Please check boxes to indicate interest	Yes	No
Using the content management system		
Orientation to college policies		
Presenting and publishing research		
Career advancement and self-basement		
Prevent burnout		
Mentoring		
Strategies to improve efficiency		

Motivation or Barriers to Faculty Development

Please check the appropriate boxes	Yes	No
Interest in improving teaching		
Professional growth and career advancement		
Promotion or salary increase		
Experience and publication		
Strategies to improve efficiency		
Scheduling		
Repetitive or irrelevant topics		
No Time or work load already too heavy		
Lack of promotional or financial incentive		
Poor experience in prior programs		
Requires too much time and investment		

Recommendations for Topics in Asynchronous Self-Paced Program

An asynchronous online faculty development program is recommended as the model of program that is flexible, adaptable, and reduces barriers to participation because of differing schedules of the various participants (McQuiggan, 2012). There is no need for faculty members to meet on campus, set aside evenings, give up weekends, or travel in order to engage in faculty development. The FDP courses and content will be accessible to all participants at all times and they will log in to the program and classroom as their schedule permits and work at their own pace within the framework of the monthly scheduled module. The monthly topics, resources, and discussions would center on a particular subject that would be explored, studied, and discussed in the faculty development program. There will also be a common discussion area open and accessible to all faculty members and the area where the monthly discussion module prompts and questions are posted. Yilmaz et al. (2020) recommended specific start and end dates for the monthly modules or monthly topics to ensure active participation. Instructional strategies, teaching tools, and trends that improve engagement and learning outcomes for students, can also be applied to create strong faculty development programs (Yilmaz, et al., 2020). The following are suggested topics to cover in an online faculty development program which should include topics and sub-topics to feature in each monthly module (Mohr & Shelton, 2017).

Faculty Roles

- · Creating a faculty presence in the online classroom
- Developing a teaching presence
- Managing an online classroom
- •Understanding the role of the faculty member in the online classroom

Classroom Design

- Planning, structuring, and organizing an online classroom
- •Utilizing course objectives as the foundation for developing an online course
- Managing the online classroom
- •Upholding quality standards online

Learning Processes

- Writing measurable course objectives
- Applying active learning strategies
- Adapting teaching pedagogy for the online classroom

Understanding Legal Issues in the Online Classroom

- Copyright compliance and fair use
- ADA compliance guidelines
- Academic integrity

Month	Topic of Discussion and Resources	Faculty
		Assessments &
		Activities
August	Student Learning in the Online Space	Posting welcome
Month		message for new
One		course.
	Martin, F., Stamper, B., & Flowers, C. (2020). Examining	
	student perception of their readiness for online learning:	Post sample goals,
	Importance and confidence Online Learning Journal 24	activities, and
Desources	(2) 38-58 https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/FI1260328.pdf	assessments
and	(2), 50 50. https://inco.orie.ed.go//funce.di/1200520.pdf	
Reading	Establishing Learning Objectives	
	Comphell A Wick D Marous A Dell I & Yunuba	
	Hammack A (2021) "I falt like I was not just a student."	
	<u>Hammack, A.</u> (2021), I felt like I was not just a student.	
	examining graduate student learning at academic and	
	Professional conferences, <u>Studies in Graduate ana</u>	Post sample goals,
	<u>Postaoctoral Eaucation</u> , vol. 12 No. 3, pp. 321-337.	activities, and
	https://doi.org/10.1108/SGPE-08-2020-0061	assessments
<u> </u>		D :
September	Preparing Your Syllabus & Using Canvas	Discussion about
Month		creating an online
Тwo	Striker, R., Pearson, M., Swartz, E., L., & Vazquez, A.	syllabus and using
	(2019). 21st century syllabus: Aggregating electronic	Canvas.
	resources for innovation-based learning. IEEE Learning	
Resources	with MOOCS (LWMOOCS), 75-78. doi:	
and	10.1109/LWMOOCS47620.2019.8939640.	
Reading		
8	UC Davis (2022). Organizing Syllabi for an online class.	
	Retrieved on January 2022 from	
	https://canvas.ucdavis.edu/courses/34528/pages/organizing-	
	svllabi-for-online-courses?module_item_id=4985	
October	Instructor Presence	
Month		
Three	Martin F. Wang C. & Sadaf A. (2018). Student	
	nercention of helpfulness of facilitation strategies that	Discussion
	enhance instructor presence connectedness engagement	Discussion about
Dosouroos	and learning in online courses The Internet and Higher	online instructor and
nesources	and rearning in online courses. The Internet und Higher	leacning presence

Proposed Faculty Development Program: Monthly Modules TimeLine

and Reading	<i>Education, 37,</i> 52-65. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.iheduc.2018.01.003. Martin, J. (2019). Building relationships and increasing	
	engagement in the virtual classroom: Practical tools for the online instructor. Journal of Educators Online, 16(1). https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1204379.pdf	
November Month Four Resources and Reading	 Online Discussion & Student Engagement Kwon, K., Park, S. J., Shin, S., & Chang, C. Y. (2019). Effects of different types of instructor comments in online discussions. <i>Distance Education</i>, 40(2), 226-242. https://doi.org/10.1080/01587919.2019.1602469 Various Models of Engagement 	Each Instructor poses a question and then share example of responses.
	 Barth, D. (2020). Seven ways to engage the online learner to develop self-regulated learning skills. <i>Journal of Teaching and Learning with Technology</i>, 9, Special Issue. 19-29. doi: 10.14434/jotlt.v9i1.2916 Kwon, K., Park, S. J., Shin, S., & Chang, C. Y. (2019). Effects of different types of instructor comments in online discussions. Distance Education, 40(2), 226-242. https://doi.org/10.1080/01587919.2019.1602469 	Discuss ways to elicit, monitor, foster, and support student engagement, with the instructor, peers, and course materials.
January Month Five Resources and Reading	 Inclusion, Accommodations and Accessibility Protopsaltis, S., & Baum, S. (2019). Does online education live up to its promise? A look at the evidence and implications for federal policy. Center for Educational Policy Evaluation. 1-50. Laura and John Arnold Foundation (LJAF). https://jesperbalslev.dk/wp-content/uploads/2020/09/OnlineEd.pdf Hsiao, F., Burgstahler, S., Johnson, T., Nuss, D., & Doherty, M. (2019). Promoting an accessible learning environment for students with disabilities via faculty development (Practice Brief). Journal of Postsecondary Education and Disability, 32(1), 91-99. University of the Pacific and University of Washington. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1217448.pdf 	Share resources, and experiences with access, also legal issues for inclusion.

February Month Six Resources	 Asynchronous Classroom Sessions *** Instructor can choose which type of online sessions they wish to participate in Month Six Moorhouse, B.L., & Wong, K.M. (2021). Blending asynchronous and synchronous digital technologies and instructional approaches to facilitate remote learning. Journal of Computers in Education. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40692-021-00195-8 	Discussion boards, each instructor can either share an example or pose a question if less experienced.
and	Sunchronous Sassions or Hybrid Classes	
Reading	 <i>Synchronous Sessions of Hyoria Classes</i> *** Instructor can choose to participate in Month Five or Month Six Lin, X. & Gao, L. (2020). Student's sense f community and perspectives of taking synchronous and asynchronous online courses. 	Discussion or share feedback about synchronous sessions and lesson plans or discuss hybrid courses.
	Asian Journal of Distance Education, 15 (1), 169-179. https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.3881614	
March Month Seven Resources and Reading April	Assessments and Rubrics Alverson, J., Schwartz, J., & Shultz, S. (2019). Authentic assessment of student learning in an online class: Implications for embedded practice. <i>College & Research</i> <i>Libraries (C&RL) 80</i> (1), 32-43. https://eduq.info/xmlui/handle/11515/36558 McKinney, B.K. (2018). The impact of program-wide discussion board grading rubrics on students and faculty satisfaction. <i>Online Learning, 22</i> (2), 289-299. doi:10.24059/olj.v22i2.1386	Discuss various assessments, rubrics, and share resources and experience, ask questions.
April Month Eight Resources and Reading	 Providing Feedback to Students Jensen, L. X., Bearman, M., & Boud, D. (2021). Understanding feedback in online learning – A critical review and metaphor analysis. <i>Computers & Education, 173.</i> 1-12. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2021.104271 	Discussion about student feedback and benefits of early feedback, intervention, and educative feedback.

	Jurs, P., & Špehte, E. The Role of Feedback I the Dista Learning Process. Journal of Teacher Education for Sustainability, 23(2), 91-105.	ince	
May	Resources, Opportunities, Further Training	Faculty developer and	
Month	Online Learning Consortium (OLC)	elearning staff post here.	
Nine	https://onlinelearningconsortium.org/	End of academic year and	
		faculty workload is high	
Resources	OLC Innovate Conference	therefore, they are not	
and	https://onlinelearningconsortium.org/attend-	required to post, but are	
Reading	2022/innovate/	encouraged to stay	
8		engaged, to ask questions,	
	Community College Center for Student Engagement	share news and respond to	

posts.

Community College Center for Student Engagement (CCCSE). https://cccse.org/

Syllabus Faculty Development Program

Western Washing Community College Faculty Development Program (FDP) is a standalone training course; delivered online through Canvas the college's learning management system. The program is offered online over a nine-month period of time, with 9 monthly leaning modules beginning in August and concluding in May; there is no module for December. Participation in the program is required, however because the program is online and the topics are broad, faculty members have great flexibility in terms of when and how they will participate.

The goal of this faculty development program is to support our online faculty members' professional growth while offering a supportive community of learning environment. This online FDP is a place to learn and engage with their faulty peers and it is a place for faculty members to ask questions, share their experiences, find resources, collaborate, and network.

Faculty members are already familiar with Canvas, the campus wide learning management system for faculty news and training resources and the online classroom format for our students. The monthly modules will remain posted throughout the year of the program for easy reference to past discussion topics, resources, and retrieval of shared teaching techniques or strategies (U.S. Aid. Gov., 2022).

Promote a learning atmosphere that respects, understands, and values differences. Challenge faculty members to determine and question their assumptions and consider how their viewpoints affect their perspectives. The curriculum for this program will include sources authored by historically underrepresented groups. Program advocates for cultural competence in the classroom and address accessibility issues in course delivery for learners of differing abilities.

Engage in a learning community with faculty peers through the academic year. Contribute to the college, to department or discipline and to remain current in their academic field and with online technology related to teaching. Collaborate with peers both in and outside of their own discipline or academic field. Discover problems, solutions, and insight through reflective thinking, writing, and discussions among peers. Engage in a learning community in expanding institutional and personal connections to the community (Tulsa Community College, 2022).

August Month One: Student learning in the Online Space

Welcome to WWCC Faculty Development Program and our first monthly topic about student learning online. The goal is to examine student's perceptions of learning online and gain a broader understanding of student readiness and learning experiences. We will read two articles for this monthly module and discuss the readings. The discussion prompt for this month is:

Please share your direct experience or scholarly research about how student's perception and readiness learning online. You may also ask questions if you are new to online teaching and do not have experiences to share.

Your discussion replies should be thoughtful and grounded in your practice or the literature and faculty members are encouraged to cite and share resources to support their experiences. We encourage an active discussion on this topic for the month's duration. Faculty members should post at least one original response to the prompt, answer replies to your post as well as at least one reply or question posted to another faculty members' original post. Academic resources and citations are encouraged, but please refrain from posting personally identifying names of courses, faculty members, or students of WWCC.

References

Campbell, A., Wick, D., Marcus, A., Doll, J. & Yunuba Hammack, A. (2021), "I felt like

I was not just a student:" examining graduate student learning at academic and

professional conferences", Studies in Graduate and Postdoctoral Education,

12(3), 321-337. https://doi.org/10.1108/SGPE-08-2020-0061

Martin, F., Stamper, B., & Flowers, C. (2020). Examining student perception of their readiness for online learning: Importance and confidence. *Online Learning*

Journal, 24(2), 38-58. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1260328.pdf

September Month Two: Preparing Your Syllabus & Using Canvas

Welcome to month two of WWCC Faculty Development Program and an opportunity to share in a discussion about preparing and or revising your online syllabus for your courses. Please review the article about using electronic resources and share your experience creating your course syllabus. Did your syllabus change when you moved your course from on-campus to online or do you have a hybrid course? Please share any extra resources or suggestions that might be helpful. You are welcome to post your course syllabus and discuss it, please remove course's identifying numbers.

An additional and optional topic for this month is using Canvas the campus learning management system. In this module the College computer network staff is here to answer any specific questions about using Canvas and they will describe extra features

Your discussion replies should be thoughtful and grounded in your practice or the literature and faculty members are encouraged to cite and share resources to support their experiences. We encourage an active discussion on this topic for the month's duration. Faculty members should post at least one original response to the prompt, answer replies to your post as well as at least one reply or question posted to another faculty members' original post. Academic resources and citations are encouraged, but please refrain from posting personally identifying names of courses, faculty members, or students of WWCC.

References

Davis, U. C. (2022). Organizing Syllabi for an online class.

https://canvas.ucdavis.edu/courses/34528/pages/organizing-syllabi-for-online-

courses?module_item_id=4985

Striker, R., Pearson, M., Swartz, E., L., & Vazquez, A. (2019). 21st century syllabus:

Aggregating electronic resources for innovation-based learning. IEEE Learning

with MOOCS (LWMOOCS), 75-78. doi:

10.1109/LWMOOCS47620.2019.8939640.

October Month Three: *Instructor Presence*

In month three we will explore online teaching presences and its relationship to student engagement and learning. Online instructors must be intentional about their presence to ensure their students are not feeling isolated and disconnected. Please describe various measures you take or could take to increase your teaching presence.

Your discussion replies should be thoughtful and grounded in your practice or the literature and faculty members are encouraged to cite and share resources to support their experiences. We encourage an active discussion on this topic for the month's duration. Faculty members should post at least one original response to the prompt, answer replies to your post as well as at least one reply or question posted to another faculty members' original post. Academic resources and citations are encouraged, but please refrain from posting personally identifying names of courses, faculty members, or students of WWCC.

At the end of month three there will be a confidential evaluation survey for this faculty development program.

References

Martin, F., Wang, C., & Sadaf, A. (2018). Student perception of helpfulness of

facilitation strategies that enhance instructor presence, connectedness,

engagement and learning in online courses. The Internet and Higher Education,

37, 52-65. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.iheduc.2018.01.003

Martin, J. (2019). Building relationships and increasing engagement in the virtual

classroom: Practical tools for the online instructor. Journal of Educators Online,

16(1). https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1204379.pdf

November Month Four: Online discussion & Student Engagement

Welcome to month four and our topics of online discussions and student engagement. After reviewing the following resources please share your perception of online student engagement and the online classroom discussions. Some points to consider covering: do you find the classroom discussions to be useful learning experiences? Are students truly engaged in the classroom discussions, constructing knowledge, developing critical thinking skills? Do you ever find students ignoring discussions or merely doing the work for attendance purposes? Please share any strategies you use to foster engagement and promote intellectually stimulating and meaningful discourse in the classroom.

Your discussion replies should be thoughtful and grounded in your practice or the literature and faculty members are encouraged to cite and share resources to support their experiences. We encourage an active discussion on this topic for the month's duration. Faculty members should post at least one original response to the prompt, answer replies to your post as well as at least one reply or question posted to another faculty members' original post. Academic resources and citations are encouraged, but please refrain from posting personally identifying names of courses, faculty members, or students of WWCC.

References

Barth, D. (2020). Seven ways to engage the online learner to develop self-regulated

learning skills. Journal of Teaching and Learning with Technology, 9, Special

Issue. 19-29. doi: 10.14434/jotlt.v9i1.29165

Kwon, K., Park, S. J., Shin, S., & Chang, C. Y. (2019). Effects of different types of

instructor comments in online discussions. Distance Education, 40(2), 226-242.

https://doi.org/10.1080/01587919.2019.1602469

January Month Five: Inclusion, Accommodations, and Accessibility

Welcome back after winter break and our monthly learning module's topics about inclusion, accommodations, and accessibility. After reviewing the resources for this month please discuss ways we can better serve online students with disabilities, be sure to share any experiences you have had that were successful. You may also consider posting information about campus resources and programs for faculty and students with different abilities. Be sure to ask questions about programs, topics, and legal issues relevant to programs and services. Does online education have the potential to better serve students with disabilities or other challenges to obtaining an education such as family or work obligations?

Your discussion replies should be thoughtful and grounded in your practice or the literature and faculty members are encouraged to cite and share resources to support their experiences. We encourage an active discussion on this topic for the month's duration. Faculty members should post at least one original response to the prompt, answer replies to your post as well as at least one reply or question posted to another faculty members' original post. Academic resources and citations are encouraged, but please refrain from posting personally identifying names of courses, faculty members, or students of WWCC.

References

Hsiao, F., Burgstahler, S., Johnson, T., Nuss, D., & Doherty, M. (2019). Promoting an

accessible learning environment for students with disabilities via faculty

development (Practice Brief). Journal of Postsecondary Education and Disability,

32(1), 91-99. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1217448.pdf

Protopsaltis, S., & Baum, S. (2019). Does online education live up to its promise? A look at the evidence and implications for federal policy. *Center for Educational Policy*

Evaluation. 1-50. Laura and John Arnold Foundation (LJAF).

https://jesperbalslev.dk/wp-content/uploads/2020/09/OnlineEd.p

February Month Six: Asynchronous Classroom Sessions or Synchronous Sessions or Hybrid Classes Please select at least one of the topics for discussions

Asynchronous Discussion Prompt: Discuss some of the benefits to weekly discussion topics and assessments that are presented in an asynchronous online course. Can you describe or share strategies you use or have discovered that facilitate engagement between students and student learning? Any tips or suggestions that get students excited about learning and opening up to discuss the topics and engage with material?

Synchronous Sessions or Hybrid Discussion Prompt: Please describe some of the challenges faced when teaching synchronous or hybrid courses? Can you share one strategy you found effective to ensuring your students are engaged? For example, do you sue Zoom, or present recorded lectures, facilitate in class and online discussions?

Your discussion replies should be thoughtful and grounded in your practice or the literature and faculty members are encouraged to cite and share resources to support their experiences. We encourage an active discussion on this topic for the month's duration. Faculty members should post at least one original response to the prompt, answer replies to your post as well as at least one reply or question posted to another faculty members' original post. Academic resources and citations are encouraged, but please refrain from posting personally identifying names of courses, faculty members, or students of WWCC.

References

Lin, X., & Gao, L. (2020). Student's sense of community and perspectives of taking

synchronous and asynchronous online courses. Asian Journal of Distance

Education, 15 (1), 169-179. https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.3881614 Moorhouse,

B. L., & Wong, K. M. (2021). Blending asynchronous and synchronous digital

technologies and instructional approaches to facilitate remote learning. Journal of

Computers in Education. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40692-021-00195-

March Month Seven: Assessments and Rubrics

Please address any of the following comments or questions for this month's discussion topic. Discuss your use of assessments and rubrics in your online course and if you do not use rubrics please explain how you set grading criteria? Can you describe assessment criteria that you use in the creation of rubrics for grading? Do you believe posting and following rubrics helps your online learners understand course expectations and standards for grading?

Your discussion replies should be thoughtful and grounded in your practice or the literature and faculty members are encouraged to cite and share resources to support their experiences. We encourage an active discussion on this topic for the month's duration. Faculty members should post at least one original response to the prompt, answer replies to your post as well as at least one reply or question posted to another faculty members' original post. Academic resources and citations are encouraged, but please refrain from posting personally identifying names of courses, faculty members, or students of WWCC.

References

Alverson, J., Schwartz, J., & Shultz, S. (2019). Authentic assessment of student learning

in an online class: Implications for embedded practice. College & Research

Libraries (C&RL), 80 (1), 32-43. https://eduq.info/xmlui/handle/11515/36558

McKinney, B.K. (2018). The impact of program-wide discussion board grading rubrics

on students and faculty satisfaction. Online Learning, 22(2), 289-299.

doi:10.24059/olj.v22i2.1386

April Month Eight: Providing Feedback to Students

Welcome to month eight of the WWCC faculty development program in which we will be discussing the importance of providing meaningful feedback to our students. Please share your professional experience or informed opinions about any aspect of the following prompt. What are the characteristics of effective feedback? How important is timing in giving feedback or being sensitive to the needs of students? Please also feel free to share an example of educative feedback that you have given (no names or identities).

Your replies should be thoughtful and grounded in your practice or the literature and faculty members are encouraged to cite and share resources to support their experiences. We encourage an active discussion on this topic for the duration of the month. Faculty members should post at least one original response to the prompt, answer replies to your post as well as at least one reply or question posted to another faculty members' original post. Academic resources and citations are encouraged, but please refrain from posting personally, identifying names of courses, faculty members, or students of WWCC.

References

Jensen, L. X., Bearman, M., Boud, D. (2021). Understanding feedback in online learning

- A critical review and metaphor analysis. Computers & Education, 173. 1-12.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2021.104271

Jurs, P., & Špehte, E. The Role of Feedback in the Distance Learning Process. Journal of

Teacher Education for Sustainability, 23(2), 91-105.

May Month Nine: Resources, Opportunities, Further Training

This is our final module for the WWCC faculty development program for this academic year. We understand that end of term is a busy time, and therefore, do not require extensive reading or responses to a detailed discussion prompt. We encourage faculty members to share their experiences and goals for future faculty development and further professional growth.

During month, nine participants will have an opportunity to discuss openly and provide feedback on the faculty development program.

Faculty members, faculty developer, and assistants, as well as IT will have an opportunity to evaluate the overall year-long program and will receive a link to a confidential survey.

References

Community College Center for Student Engagement (CCCSE). https://cccse.org/

Online Learning Consortium (OLC). https://onlinelearningconsortium.org/

OLC Innovate Conference. https://onlinelearningconsortium.org/attend-2022/innovate/
Evaluation Schedule and Timeline And Faculty Development Program Surveys

Timeline	Responsible Evaluators	Type of Evaluation
At the end of the 1st month	Faculty Developer and IT	Formative update
At the end of the 3rd month	Faculty Members	Formative Survey Month 3
At the end of the 6th month	Faculty members	Discussion posts
At the end of the 9th month	Faculty members	Discussion posts
At the end of the 9th month	Faculty Members, Faculty	Summative Confidential
		Survey

Faculty Development Program Survey Month Three

1. Were the objectives of the Faculty Development program clearly defined? Please give one example.2. Have the topics covered to date been helpful or relevant? Please give one example.

3. Has the content been well-organized? Please give one example

4. Do you spend more or less time on monthly modules than you expected? Explain.

5. Are you gaining new skills or information that will support your teaching practice? Please give one example6. Do you have a regular time for logging in to engage with the material and colleagues? Please give one example

7. Are peers and colleagues sharing experiences or sources that are helpful to you? Please give one example

8. Has participation and engagement been a positive experience? Please give one example

Faculty Development Program Survey 9th Month

1. Has the WWCC Faculty Development Program met your expectations? How?

2. Can you list the main benefits or important aspects of the program for you?

3. What is your opinion of the quality, accessibility, and intensity of the content?

4. Did you like the evaluations, such as interactive assignments, discussions, or networking? Explain.

5. Did you like the format techniques, and teaching methods used to deliver the material online? Explain.

6. Do you find the Content Management System (CMS) Canvas user friendly? How?

7. Did you benefit from program reading materials? How?

8. When adapting materials for your own teaching practice, can you describe any topic you would revise or leave out, and anything you would add?

9. Did you have a positive experience with the Program in the CMS?

10. Did you feel there was a high level of interaction and engagement between faculty peers?

Conclusion

The FDP plan is the culmination of my research into the problem of poor online student engagement and high dropout rates of online students at WWCC and Washington state community colleges. I used the qualitative research tradition and my research was grounded by the Community of Inquiry framework. I collected data from online instructors to learn about their perceptions of student engagement and what they did to foster student engagement. The data reveled that instructors believed engagement was critical to online learning; however, their strategies to foster engagement were not specific or consistent. It was clear that faculty members did not receive ongoing training and support from their department or college, and the survey data collected help inform the creation of the proposed development program.

This proposed Faculty Development Plan is aligned with the mission and goals of WWCC, which affirm that the program planners of the college will be innovative, while placing students first with a focus on retention and completion. Moreover, the FDP could be a critical academic investment and a significant investment of time and resources that would support teaching, learning, and campus leadership, to provide the best educational opportunities for WWCC and its students.